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Introduction

Trading Corporations, Cross-Cultural Alliances in Global Settings, and the Meanings of English Freedom


On 19 May 1604, after nineteen years of war, formal peace negotiations started between the English and Spanish crowns. Hoping that the peace would release the nation’s pent up commercial energies so long restrained by the war, the English parliament proposed legislation to further stimulate England’s damaged economy on 18 April. On 21 May 1604, after five afternoons of deliberations in the Star Chamber within the Palace of Westminster, as delegates negotiated the terms of what would become the Anglo-Spanish Treaty, a parliamentary committee presented their ‘instructions’ about how England should manage her overseas trade. Chaired by the politician and investor, Sir Edwin Sandys, this committee convened ‘[C]itizens of all cities, and burgesses of Port Towns [and] clothiers and merchants, from all parts of the realm’.1 The Instructions promoted the view that free English individuals ought to enjoy unrestricted access to the economy. ‘All free subjects are born inheritable’, so The Instructions suggested, ‘to the free exercise of their industry’. But this freedom was restrained by the ‘Governors’ of the ‘several Companies of Merchants’.

The Committee included representatives of these bodies including the governor of the East India Company, Sir Thomas Smith, who would have disputed The Instructions’ claim that these organisations were an assault on English liberties. Although The Instructions wished to promote a broad argument for commercial freedom, the influence of men like Smith limited the scope of the proposed legislation to protecting free access to domestic and European trade. The most powerful and profitable extra-European trading companies, like the East India and Levant and Muscovy Companies, were to be exempt from the Bill’s provisions. The Instructions justified this exemption by highlighting that these companies ‘defrayed’ the charges of state diplomacy in the places where they traded. These charges included presents to foreign rulers, English ambassadors’ costs, and the need for ‘merchants to keep port amongst the infidels’. Porting in this context meant the costs the merchants incurred in sustaining a dignified presence or comportment on behalf of the English nation. Part of the excuse offered by The Instructions for allowing trading companies with extra-European reach to compromise English commercial freedoms was the explicit need for these companies to demonstrate their status to ‘infidel’ states.

Sandys’ bill failed and the arguments Sandys’ instructions so boldly advanced in favour of commercial freedom as a natural liberty were quickly marginalised.2 The elite merchants who ran the large corporations trading beyond Europe had prevailed, helped by the knowledge that King James needed the Muscovy Company to sustain diplomatic relations with Russia.3 The East India, Levant, and Muscovy Companies expanded their trades and state backing. More companies to manage England’s trade beyond Europe appeared. A Virginia Company appeared in 1607. Companies even appeared to siphon English trade within Europe. A company to manage trade with France appeared in 1609. More trading companies appeared after the Restoration of the monarchy in 1660 with still further constitutional supports and more assured public justifications for their monopolies. These justifications shifted from the need to ‘port’ the ‘infidels’ to the need to ‘bridle and awe’ them. Although these trading companies remained controversial throughout the seventeenth century, the argument in favour of free access to trade lacked influence in court rooms, in parliament, or in print, until the eighteenth century. Corporations’ means to limit free access to trade became a mainstay of English commercial policy.

Behind these corporations’ public justifications for their monopolistic charters lay a countervailing reality. The corporations could only establish durable trades overseas by allying with the non-European merchants and polities they were supposed to intimidate. These foreigners refused to allow the companies the monopolistic control they purported to deploy. Working with self-interested employees of the companies or interloping merchants, these foreign interlocutors compelled English companies and merchants into revisiting and refashioning English trading practices. Arguments for English freedom derived from opposition to these monopolistic corporations, and that opposition was often propelled by foreign actors. Across the seventeenth century this involved actualising Sandys’ commercial freedom into new economic concepts and into protected constitutional positions. These core ingredients of English freedom therefore emanated from the contexts English policymakers outlined as being inherently unsuitable for English commercial freedom—those marketplaces beyond Christendom.

This book explores the domestic results of these trading corporations’ global careers across the seventeenth century. It contrasts the ideal way that trading companies proposed to interact with the rest of the world with the contrasting reality. It highlights the hubris of the corporate model’s attempt to impose itself beyond Europe. On-the-ground interactions around the world dictated the terms of trade and alliance, in ways that would have profound effects on English legal and political culture. This book shows how, contrary to the basis of the companies’ exemption from the proposed free trade legislation, the abstract notions of freedom expressed in Sandys’ instructions were given their opportunity to occupy the centre ground in English political economy and in English constitutional debate by the ‘infidels’ whose sustained presence in the English commercial field of view was used to deny and restrict the scope of these freedoms. The book charts how, over the course of the seventeenth century, non-European power shifted from being the rhetorical justification for severe restrictions on commercial freedom to the practical means for lifting those restrictions. It argues that the global trading networks established by the trading companies in the seventeenth century played an important part in defining and operationalising arguments championing English freedom. The book traces the legal, intellectual, and on-the-ground apparatus that prompted and shaped deliberations about the meaning and extent of English freedom, many of which were either grounded in interactions in foreign places or emanated from the demands of foreign peoples and polities. Although English policymakers could not attribute this foreign influence because of the potency of nationalist rhetoric and the related need to depict the English as having the upper hand in international affairs, the book demonstrates why and how foreign participants in England’s growing participation in global trade shaped the contours of English freedom.

Freedom was (and is) a deliberately elastic concept. Across the seventeenth century it served a crucial rhetorical purpose in enabling advocates of various commercial and legal positions to excuse their special pleading with reference to nationalist tendencies. Free access to trade was the liberty of each English subject and it became a route to a more equitable English society. Debates about the purpose of overseas trading corporations touched on freedom in various ways. Opponents of the companies argued that they were socially exclusive and detrimental to individual economic opportunity. Their legal means to prevent independent merchants encroaching on their monopolies were, to free traders, unjust and threatening to inherently English constitutional liberties. Those oppositional to the companies also argued that in siphoning trade through elite fraternities of merchants, the trading companies prevented the aggregated entrepreneurial energy of the English merchant class from generating national economic growth. Each of these incarnations of English freedom received crucial support from the non-European rulers and merchants who are the protagonists in this book. The trading corporation was the most important institutional bridge between English and non-European states, cultures, markets, and peoples. More than any other institution of the period, it operated by structuring cross-cultural alliances between English and non-European peoples. These alliances allowed the power and preference of Ottoman, Bantenese, Huedan, Siamese, Mughal (and other) people to prompt and shape debate about what English freedom was in practice.

This book focusses on the global workings of these cross-cultural alliances and their significance for seventeenth-century English history. At times these alliances could be inadvertent and between opposing interests. But at other times and in different places, these alliances could be intimate, and carefully orchestrated. Sometimes they reflected equilibrium between interests; sometimes they were strongly balanced in favour of one side. This book assesses the formation of these alliances between non-European and English political agency in multiple international contexts: from Western Anatolia to Sumatra; Java to Ouidah, and across Ayutthaya, Mergui, and Surat. The book makes the case for a distinctively corporate mechanism for cross-cultural bridging and argues that this bridging allowed non-European interests to shape the regulatory mentalities and apparatus that they are typically viewed as being on the receiving end of. In doing so, the book offers a profoundly altered reading of the practices of these corporations, a new perspective on the foreign forces that shaped English commercial and legal ideas and practices in the seventeenth century, as well as the Ottoman, Bantenese, Huedan, Siamese, and Mughal contributions to the institutional and procedural underpinnings that would develop, slowly but surely, into the British Empire.

Recasting our understanding of the operation of the chartered trading companies by showing their responsiveness to foreign preference and to private, individual agency is central to the book’s purpose.4 Interests typically regarded as oppositional to the companies: interlopers, and foreigners, played a central role in the company’s success. These unappreciated actors within the corporate sphere play leading roles in this book as the shapers of domestic debate about the futures of the trades they participated in overseas. The book explores and analyses the different interactions between the English state, chartered companies, interloper merchants, and the extra-European polities and merchants at its centre across a global field of view and over the course of seventeenth century. It reads how English groups initially interpreted overseas events in the seventeenth century through the prism of their domestic preoccupations, and how the resultant global entanglements entered and shaped the domestic political fray. It argues that chartered companies were conduits and causeways for interactions between cultures. In the process, the book seeks to reveal a set of relationships between non-European agents and English politics about which we have hitherto been ignorant or which we have ignored.

*

Following the Iberian powers and then the Dutch, the English were especially active in expanding their commercial concerns beyond Europe in the seventeenth century.5 Their default means of doing so was via trading corporations. The corporation had been, since the Middle Ages, a primary tool for local government in England and throughout Europe. It was the legal entity used to govern towns, guilds, fraternal organisations, and colleges.6 Corporations had a historic connection to the royal prerogative. Elizabeth I described the trading monopolies typically gifted to these bodies as ‘the chiefest Flower in her Garden, and the principal and head Pearly in her Crown and Diadem’.7 During the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, these entities transformed themselves into global organisations and spearheaded international alliances. They spread risk, created communities of investment, and nurtured and transferred commercial expertise. They provided what seventeenth-century actors regarded as essential government for international trade. Trade without corporations was chaotic, uncertain, and, therefore, unlikely to produce benefit for either nation or state.

The first decades of the seventeenth century were especially fertile ones for the formation of corporations with overseas remits (with the establishment of Virginia, Spanish, French, and East India Companies). The Hudson’s Bay and Royal African Companies followed in the second half of the seventeenth century. These bodies were initially treated as analogous institutions and they shared many of the same features: separate legal personality, deliberative decision-making, and a culture of fellowship derived from their livery and borough corporation forbears. Corporations’ perceived exclusivity and distinctive constitutional features made them politically contentious. The constitutional and political instability that defines England in the seventeenth century made corporations frequent focal points for debate and, as such, connected that debate to the corporations’ international careers.

Domestic corporations developed practices and cultures that facilitated a strong sense of collective identity within their membership. Trading corporations sustained this culture. It undergirded exhortations to uphold corporate ends and inoculated corporate officials against the great temptations to enrich themselves overseas. Protecting the corporate interest was seen as the best way to ensure that corporations operated in ways that advanced state, rather than private interests. Upholding the national interest was meant to provide the company with the surest means to sustain state support. Corporations required this political support to retain the charter privileges that enabled them to gather and protect investment. Sustaining this support and privilege depended upon the establishment and maintenance of overseas trade.

Durable trading relationships overseas depended upon the countenance of the foreigners who supplied, brokered, and hosted the corporation’s officials overseas. Corporations therefore relied upon the agency and initiative of their non-European customers and suppliers. These interests sought and valued trade with European companies and merchants because it assisted their domestic prestige and granted them access to commodities they desperately needed: especially silver and shipping materiel. But the companies also relied on the English individuals who led their operations overseas. Working for an international trading company provided these individuals with unheard of opportunities for private gain. Knowing that the company’s business depended upon them brokering cross-cultural alliances with merchants and officials in Jambi, Offra, Mergui, and Surat, the characters in this book either initiated such relationships or brokered them at the instigation of their foreign partners. As they did so, they placed company interests to one side, privileging the relationships they formed over the collective good of the corporation. As these cross-cultural alliances undermined the companies, they helped initiate and energise arguments in favour of commercial and constitutional freedom at home.

Out in the world, dealing with other peoples, these merchants pursued their own interests. These interests often proved a better basis for cross-cultural alliances than the unwieldy, often threatening, and monopolistic character of the corporations themselves. Individual interests proved a more secure driver of cross-cultural alliances than the pseudo-state diplomacy of the trading corporation. The companies remained a crucial backdrop to these alliances. They depended upon the companies who had shifted these individuals to port towns in Asia and West Africa. The corporations provided the entrée into international dialogue; they also provided the capital for the trade which their malfeasant employees conducted with non-European merchants and officials. But crucially for the purposes of this book, as entities grounded in English law and politics, the corporations placed the alliances their officials formed back into domestic political debate about the meaning of English freedom. These debates shaped the future operations of the companies and the institutional and cultural basis of English overseas trade.

*

This book’s work in tracing the English development of these cross-cultural alliances formed around the world places it within several longstanding historiographical debates about the origins of English freedom, the history of European empires, and how historians have understood European trading corporations. Historians have long sought to examine how the establishment of international trade and European empires allowed foreign influences to shape national politics. With the breakup of these empires, historians of the European presence in Asia began to fix their attention on the cross-cultural alliances that facilitated the success of European trade beyond Europe. A so-called ‘Age of Partnership’ prior to the middle of the eighteenth century highlighted European dependence on Asian expertise and initiative.8 Other scholars traced the effects of these partnerships through ideas back to the domestic agenda. This formed part of a larger effort to reverse the direction of influence in European empires from what one scholar called ‘diffusionist’ to ‘infusionist’ accounts. These accounts typically concentrated on the power of non-European peoples and contexts to bend European global agendas to fit into foreign settings. These European agendas have sometimes been characterised as cultural and intellectual, as in the work of J. H. Elliott and J. G. A. Pocock.9

By the 1990s, however, scholars reintroduced violence into the cross-cultural relationships in international trade. Led by Sanjay Subrahmanyam, these scholars provided a new analytical framework of ‘contained conflict’ to characterise early modern European attempts to deploy violence to control trade, and the Asian state’s ability to resist those attempts.10 At the same time, scholars revisited the cross-cultural dynamics of global commercial interactions. They concluded that these dynamics were characterised by the difficulties of cultural translation. They therefore focussed on how these difficulties generated innovative, hybrid forms that captured subaltern influence on imperial action and therefore offer the opportunity to restore non-European agency into narratives of European expansion beyond Europe.11

By the early years of the twenty-first century, historians of colonial British America continued this focus on the functional benefits and collateral of cross-cultural balance. Rebranding the British colonies as Atlantic communities whose status could be negotiated with a mother country that enjoyed only a limited capacity to enforce its regulatory mechanisms, and who learnt to co-exist in a mutually beneficial commercial relationship through reciprocity not subjection, continued this tendency to drain the metropole of its monopoly over force.12 Historians sustained this interest in European weakness in seventeenth-century international encounters to explain European success at interpolating themselves into foreign settings. An acknowledgement of the weakness of the English position in places like Cape Coast and in Surat showed clearly how the English (and their European rivals) sometimes realised the need to operate in a cosmopolitan and culturally sensitive fashion to further their commercial ends.13 They may have stereotyped their non-European hosts, but in the seventeenth century, they appreciated the importance of tolerating cultural differences in ways that became less common in the eighteenth century.14

Highlighting European weakness has also helped historians to identify the mechanisms that allowed the formation of cross-cultural alliances beyond the traditional focus on state power. While corporations became the default means to structure cross-cultural trading relationships, their membership, officials, and those who hosted them, brokered for them, challenged, and promoted their causes were all—first and foremost—merchants who often sustained a cosmopolitan outlook and preferred to operate without state intercession. Important global networks of merchants often operated beyond national affiliations and without state backing, as work on the history of commercial diasporas has made clear.15

This more granular view of the centrifugal dynamics within European empires has worked alongside historians’ success at viewing Asian Empires as more decentred. Traditional depictions of Asian states as centralised structures engorged by military conquest have been severely challenged.16 Historians of the Mughal Empire have pursued a regional analysis to explain the adaptability and success of the Mughal model.17 Such work has revealed that the Ottoman, Safavid, and Mughal Empires were not centripetal constructs, but instead operated via networks of clients, allies, and agents who actualised state power throughout Asia.18 These changes of emphasis in the depiction of European and non-European power structures at the points of cross-cultural engagement have also allowed a new conception of global history that views seventeenth-century European expansion overseas in terms of a series of exchanges: epidemiological, botanical, commercial, cultural.19

Over the past twenty years, legal historians have been most active and influential in seeking to characterise the terms on which European and non-European peoples interacted and exchanged. This has enabled them to refine and flesh out earlier studies of the effects on national self-definition of deeper engagement with the rest of the world. Following Pocock, they have also focussed on the legal apparatus that Europeans used to structure their operations overseas. This has led to a consideration of the concurrent development of English liberty and the development of English colonies overseas. These works often sought to challenge the seventeenth-century view (most strongly associated with the chief justice, Edward Coke) that English legal liberties were ahistorical, nativist, therefore, in Daniel Hulsebosch’s phrase, ‘jurisdictional, not jurisprudential’, and could not easily be transplanted overseas.20

Legal scholars have also compared colonial laws to appreciate the relationships it implied and actualised between imposed and indigenous law.21 These studies placed indigenous legal actors within this framework. Some preferred to focus on the intra-European repertoires for the shaping of practices of sovereignty.22 Others made sure that indigenous claims remained ‘at the heart of the debate over colonial property’ and that ‘cross cultural contacts’ played a central part in opposing colonisation.23 Most recently, Hannah Weiss Muller has traced how subjects of Empire raised ‘pressing legal and administrative questions’ that ‘triggered wide-ranging debates over the contours of British subjecthood’ in ways that emphasised how ‘the parameters of subjecthood’ were ‘defined and negotiated…in the colonies rather than emanating from London’.24

This book sustains these historians’ emphases on the collaborative and reciprocal features of cross-cultural, commercial interaction prior to the eighteenth century. It also highlights the effects that the cross-cultural alliances at its core had on the development of colonial policy. Although it focusses on corporations, my book notes the centrality of individual actors, operating beyond state oversight, to the development and durability of these alliances. The book follows long-established attempts to know how the experience of intensifying English interactions with the rest of the world shaped the development of England as well as its approach to structuring those interactions as their character mutated from commercial to imperial. It sustains and develops work by those who have wished to understand the ways in which the development of the British Empire (at its very earliest phase) interacted with the domestic formulation of English liberty and offers a clear challenge to the domestic, seventeenth-century view, that English legal liberty was home-grown. In this sense, the book offers an ‘infusionist’ account of England’s relationship with the rest of the world. Trading corporations acted as the mechanism for these infusions. As such, the book’s principal historiographical terrain is that concerning the history of these organisations.

Historians have long gravitated towards the archives of the English trading corporations. Scholars have often preferred to depict these organisations according to the public justifications they made in England. In doing so, they have most often associated corporations with that most colligatory of early modern historians’ devices, mercantilism: broadly speaking the expectation that international trade can be managed to advance state interests.25 Corporations articulated and upheld pillars of mercantilist doctrine as part of their special pleading in defence of their corporate privileges, especially monopoly. The core pillar of mercantilist doctrine upheld by companies was the belief that international trade ought to be conducted by corporations to prevent the inherently fraudulent tendencies of individuals working without regulatory oversight. A secondary consideration was to limit the possibilities of heathen peoples overseas from profiting from the trades the companies established.

According to these justifications, the non-European hosts who allied themselves and traded with corporations in the seventeenth century were almost always regarded as alien forces to be first ported and then bridled and awed. According to the mercantilist outlook, corporate officials were meant to surrender their personal interests to the corporate whole and their latitude for private trading was tightly constrained. Similarly, investors saw monopolistic charters as the surest means for the companies to uphold national and state interests overseas as well as ensuring the possibility of a return on their investment. Interlopers were usually regarded as the great enemies of corporate profit and a unified, national approach to trade. Historians have often maintained these assumptions in their accounts of how the companies operated. In these depictions, corporations were seen as critical to the establishment of empires, tying economic monopoly to nationalist prejudice.26

A new generation of scholars has challenged these depictions by decentring the operations of the trading corporations from metropolitan prejudice. They have done so by absorbing the insights of scholars’ work on the operation of domestic corporations and on the nature of English state formation and the role that local forces played in helping central government actualise state power. This work has assumed two related directions: the first (led by Paul Halliday) has depicted corporations as local institutions who willingly subordinated themselves to prerogative power by appealing to the crown to uphold their local agendas at the centre.27 The second, led by Phil Withington, has stressed the internal civic traditions within the corporation and has viewed these traditions as formative of national state political repertoires.28 Building on this work and projecting from the local to the global, Philip Stern has altered understanding of the English East India Company by noting its impersonation of state qualities, locating its early history in fraught domestic debates about sovereignty, and by showing how the Company’s overseas career shaped these debates.

This book seeks to build on this work by considering the corporation’s responsiveness to the fusion of foreign and private interests in overseas settings. It emphasises the centrality of non-European initiative and preference to the ways in which corporate trade and practice developed in this foundational century of global trade. Although the various trading corporations at the centre of this book were similar by design, the very different careers they had in different global settings confirms the significance of the different peoples they worked with in each place. Rather than focussing on the ways the corporations projected their authority overseas, this book follows the ways in which non-European peoples initiated, argued for, and forced English corporations (and their state backers) to change the ways they operated. This often involved foreign support for and protection of English individuals. It shows how corporate officials challenged the states who granted their privileges, how successful interlopers piled their profits into the companies they robbed, and how both independent merchants and companies learned to respond to the requirements of their non-European hosts. In compelling these changes, foreigners prompted fresh and lasting determinants of English freedom.

This book therefore shows how global contexts eroded the trading corporation’s defining culture of corporate belonging. This erosion created the platform for malfeasant employees and interlopers to ally themselves with non-European interests to challenge the companies at home and alter their policies. The book therefore often focusses on individual agents, both within and beyond the company’s formal membership, who used the companies as launchpads for their own commercial careers and undermined corporate objectives in the process. These merchants were able to do this because they sought and established alliances with strangers: those hosts in global settings who stood to benefit from the companies and their merchant operatives. These interlopers and wayward officials were able to secure trading concessions with foreign states and merchants. They used these connections as evidence of the commercial and diplomatic potential of deregulated trade and cited them as legally binding arrangements that protected them against the enforcement powers of the companies. These concessions and alliances with non-European merchants and officials enabled individual English merchants to enrich themselves on a grand scale.

At the centre of this book’s recharacterisation of global encounters is a new approach to considering the role of early modern trading corporations as brokers between cultures and as organisations that structured commercial and political networks beyond their own formal membership. The companies were not monolithic entities pursuing narrow nationalist interests overseas. Nor were they inefficient monopolies doomed to commercial failure. In the seventeenth century, they were driven and transformed by the immediate and local interests of Company agents and their foreign networks. In the short term, the corporations succeeded according to their ability to structure commercial gains for Europeans and non-Europeans. This structuring depended upon co-opting and responding to their avowed enemies: infidels and interlopers. Corporations were protagonists in cross-cultural alliances. But they also structured zones of interaction between different cultures that involved and promoted interlopers and non-Christians as much as the Company’s formal membership and officials. Rather than showing how cultural affinity strengthened these non-state networks, this book emphasises the explicitly cross-cultural character of these alliances.

This book therefore privileges the processual and intermediating qualities of corporations over their delineating, monolithic pretensions. These companies were sometimes declaratory, quasi-state like bodies. But they were also decentred cross-cultural networks that often transgressed the distinctions between loyal insiders and pernicious outsiders that their metropolitan incarnations so often railed against. This book therefore allows interloping merchants to be central characters in corporate history rather than their ideological nemeses and the harbingers of their demise. The skill with which interlopers established and managed their cross-cultural relationships in global settings need not undermine the significance of corporations in these contexts. The corporations provided the navigational, diplomatic, and financial means to forge these relationships. The domestic presence, political power, and constitutional controversy of the corporations ensured that cross-cultural alliances forged by independent corporate actors with their hosts in the Eastern Mediterranean, Southeast Asia, and West Africa would influence English events, ideas, and policies.

*

This book’s depiction of the global, cross-cultural interactions of English trading corporations and their significance for the definition of English freedom is not static. The seventeenth century was distinctive as an era of equilibrium between regions of the globe, of intercultural accommodation after initial contact and before the era of European imperial hegemony.29 As the seventeenth century continued, the corporations’ commercial possibilities hinged on developing (or thwarting) a cross-cultural alliance (sometimes formalised, sometimes incidental) between domestic lobbyists and foreign merchants and officials whose commercial support for the companies was foundational to their continued operation. Over time, the cross-cultural alliances at the centre of this book revealed that the companies were ill advised to constrain the commercial appetites of their officials. The companies were usually powerless to stop their foreign hosts from allying with these entrepreneurial officials.

The East India Company proved that it could respond to these challenges. It defended its monopoly privileges at home by merging with its lobbying opponents and erecting a grand ‘superstructure’ for free English trade on the Indian subcontinent that enfranchised the entrepreneurial instincts of its overseas factors and their Indian trading partners.30 Conversely, the Levant Company’s diffuse corporate structure became a source of institutional and commercial inertia within the Ottoman Empire that appears to have encouraged its eclipse by French competition.31 The Royal African Company secured the right to tax independent slave traders to help it finance its network of West African forts. In each case, the role of non-Europeans and the ways in which the corporate structure for cross-cultural alliances conducted these non-Europeans’ interests into domestic debate proved critical.

Behind this surface narrative of corporate change lay some important contextual shifts. Although explanations for corporate success must be found in their international operations, the shifting character of the English constitution and the expanded power of the English state at home shaped the domestic reception that the cross-cultural alliances at the centre of this book received. To some extent, the cross-cultural alliances catalysed these constitutional alterations. What changed most across the seventeenth century about the English state’s approach to regulating its expanding overseas interests was the replacement of monarchical control with the deliberations of parliament. As the cases in this book make clear, this emphasis altered the ways in which the cross-cultural alliances in each chapter influenced domestic politics and law-making, thickening, diffusing, refracting this influence. This overall constitutional shift also placed the notion of freedom more persistently at the centre of both debates about political economy and the law. These debates were often prompted, sustained, and resolved by questions emanating from disputes about international trading companies. As such, they were shaped by non-European interests.

This book seeks to show how the trading corporations structured a global dialogue that connected non-European power to developments that have hitherto been rigidly explained in domestic, often nationalist terms. At the core of this ambition is a reconsideration of the global determinants of English freedom. It makes this case with reference to the distinctive collapsing of English and non-European interests that the corporations (and those who undermined them) facilitated. This was special to the seventeenth century. Across the chronological and global survey of this phenomenon that the book provides, this process happened in different ways, at different times, and in radically different contexts. These differences were mostly the result of contrasting dynamics within the cross-cultural alliances in each place. The corporations provided an institutional and cultural common denominator. Freedom provided a domestic focal point for the argumentative feedback of these cross-cultural alliances. But the overall tenor of these interactions fitted the same broad pattern: that of responsiveness and subordination to cross-cultural alliances which suited the interests of either non-European inhabitants or the mutual commercial concerns of those inhabitants and their merchant allies. From the middle of the eighteenth century, those corporations that continued to dominate English access to international markets slowly began to disregard the interests of their non-European hosts and the cross-cultural alliances at the heart of this book gave way to empire.

*

The chapters in this book all explore the ways that trading corporations structured cross-cultural alliances overseas and connected these alliances to domestic deliberations about the meaning of English freedom. In each case, trading companies (whether the Levant, East India, or Royal African) purported to oversee international commercial relationships. They wished to represent the English state to foreign states, economies, and empires. Each chapter examines the very different global settings that shaped these alliances as well as the interests both sides pursued through them. In addition to the global and regulatory ramifications of these relationships, each chapter also teases out their domestic English careers. These domestic reverberations cohered around different discussions of the meaning and limits of English freedom, from the charter freedoms of corporations to gather their own taxes, to the freedom of company officials to trade on their own account; from the more abstract notion of individual access to trade and rights to operate overseas without fear of seizure or imprisonment, to the rights of corporate, national, and international belonging; as well as the legal boundaries of English freedom.

Each attempt to forge lasting relationships with non-European communities was brokered through the intensity of competition with European rivals. This competition often encouraged more interest from the corporation’s domicile state. For the most part, however, this book shows that the cross-cultural practicalities of establishing and sustaining these relationships helps to lessen the significance of nationality in empire building. In every case explored in this book, the preferences of non-European commercial and state hosts proved crucial to the ways in which these cross-cultural alliances shaped domestic politics. Rather than the Dutch, Portuguese, and French rivals shaping the formation of English ideas and practices, it was indigenous people that determined the contours of the alliances and the shape of their domestic results. Nationhood appears most conspicuously in attempts to shroud the effects of foreign influence in shaping national freedoms.

The book’s first chapter examines the Levant Company’s developing presence in Smyrna in the Eastern Mediterranean in the 1620, 1630s, and 1640s. Working at the fringes of Ottoman state authority with the enthusiastic support of an immigrant community of brokers, the Sephardic dragomen, the Levant Company was able to deny the English state access to a resource of funding that it had an unquestioned right to. By working with local Sephardic Jewish merchants in Smyrna, the Levant Company merchants were able to expand their trade. As a regulated company, the Levant Company enjoyed a flexible structure that enabled members to pursue their own trades overseas. These members resorted to the corporate structure of the Company to protect the infrastructure of their trade and outmanoeuvre any competition. They used the unsettled position of the English monarchy at home and the distance of the sultan in Istanbul to gain commercial advantage. Designed to facilitate the international aims of the English state, the Levant Company instead circumvented the political authority of both the English and the Ottoman states to advance its commercial career. By thwarting the English state’s attempts to sequester the Company’s taxes, the Levant Company worked to challenge the king’s long-held control over customs revenues. This set a precedent for shifting fiscal control of overseas trade from crown to parliament. The dragomen therefore protected the freedom of the Levant Company against the extractive instincts of the English crown and set a precedent for parliamentary intrusion into overseas trade regulation.

In the case of the East India Company, a joint stock company, the Company’s monopoly created more incentives for company members to defraud it. As Chapter 2 explores, in Banten and Jambi, company officials learned that the cultivation of local political support would provide a route for personal enrichment and a legal and political means to dodge the Company’s enforcement privileges. This was especially true at a time when, as in the 1650s, the charter powers of the Company had been undermined at home. Such merchants, like the brothers Frederick and Thomas Skinner, expected to use their malfeasant gains in Jambi and Banten to pay for the instruction of legal counsel to protect them against the Company’s claims at home. The resulting legal disputes in England led to the formulation of new constitutional freedoms that would later prove crucial to the legal basis of trade deregulation. In the short term, however, the political influence of the East India Company helped them secure new enforcement powers for their monopoly which proved especially threatening to English freedom and therefore would become focal points for further anti-Company action.

These new enforcement powers would be part of the design of a new joint stock trading company, the Royal African Company, which is at the centre of Chapter 3. In this chapter, attempts by the Company to deploy these powers were utterly undermined in one region of West Africa by a commercial strategy developed by the governors of Ouidah. This strategy prevented any single European company achieving commercial dominance in the region. Instead, the officials at Ouidah enticed Company agents and English interlopers to establish a precedent for independent trade. One state strategy cancelled the other out. This precedent would prompt and inspire a domestic English campaign against the Company to prevail over that celebrated belief that free access to overseas trade was an intrinsic English right. A free trade in enslaved people was the product of an alliance between pamphleteers in London and the commercial vision of the rulers of the West African coast.

Chapter 4 demonstrates the power of cross-cultural alliances forged overseas at a time when the potency of the East India Company at home waned. As in Ouidah, the Siamese King Nrai adopted a policy of encouraging a foreign presence. He went much further than had the authorities in Ouidah, however, by building foreigners into the state apparatus. The English East India Company was well placed to benefit from these opportunities, but entrepreneurial employees eclipsed their corporate employers by securing state positions for themselves. Following the example of the Skinner brothers, the White brothers (George and Samuel) used the wealth they derived from these positions to secure a good hearing from the English state and the resources to fight a successful legal and public campaign to protect their gains, trumpeting the now often fused notion of commercial and constitutional freedom. They ultimately discredited the East India Company in parliament, and helped establish a new, more accessible East India Company. The support they received from Siamese state officials was critical to this outcome. A revived East India Company emerged, however, more powerful in Britain and Asia than ever before because it now co-opted the interloping forces within it and negotiated with regulators to broaden its base of investment and constrain opposition.

Finally, Chapter 6 shows how the Mughal state changed the way the English state intercepted and punished pirates in both the Atlantic and Indian Oceans. The Mughal state did not distinguish between the state-sanctioned authority of the Company and the English pirates who infested their shipping lanes. The Company had to use state power to prove that there was a distinction. The Mughals forced the East India Company to lobby the English state to secure these changes. Having been outmanoeuvred by the White brothers, the East India Company learned to work alongside the English state. This relationship helped ensure the endurance of this Company while the Levant Company and Royal African Companies lost commercial primacy. The Company learned how to harness the cross-cultural alliance that was forced on it by the Mughal state in ways that helped ensure its survival and restricted the number of pirates in circulation. In this way, the Company implemented the Mughal Empire’s demand for limits to be placed on English freedom of operation overseas.

*

Trading corporations were designed to help Europeans impose prices and business practices on foreign merchants overseas. But those merchants and the states who protected them resisted this design. Each of the cases in this book shows how non-European forces rejected European attempts to secure trading advantages by forcing European nations into competition that would serve non-European interests: whether in Ouidah or in Surat, Banten or Siam. In taking control over cross-cultural, global trade into their own hands, non-European merchants in the Ottoman and Mughal Empires, in Banten, Jambi, and Ayutthaya, forced the companies to restructure their operations. This process of corporate restructuring had connotations at home. The corporate actors (whether within or without the corporate membership) fed these issues back into the lively deliberations taking place in the mother country throughout the seventeenth century. They provoked new deliberations over the meaning of English freedom.

These non-European actors were often state officials: sometimes the monarchs themselves, but sometimes it was merchants who helped English merchants circumvent state regulations locally in ways that would alter the regulatory prerogatives of the English state. Provincial ports like Smyrna, Jambi, Mergui, Ouidah, and Surat proved to be especially successful in garnering ways in which to bypass state regulations, gather wealth, and translate that wealth into lobbying power that could further undermine the state’s determination to regulate international trade. Sometimes these interventions supported monarchical power in England and overseas; at other times, they eroded the monarch’s constitutional prerogatives. The fruits of these conversations at home reformed how regulations proceeded overseas while the initiative, power, and preference of foreigners shaped the profile of English freedom.

This book is about the responsiveness of corporations and their officials to non-European prompting and domestic debate and the argumentative effects of this responsiveness in England. It traces these promptings in a variety of global contexts from Western Anatolia to Sumatra, West Africa, Siam, and Western India. The seventeenth century was a period in which Europeans and their hosts around the world related to one another on the ground as equals (although the Europeans certainly conceived of these interactions in ways sometimes inflected by racism). Trade generated profits for both sides. Because of this, when the mechanisms that facilitated this commerce appeared to disadvantage Bantenese, Alladan, or Mughal (and other) interests, the affected parties pushed their English trading partners to seek new regulatory means of trading. The consequent alterations often reached beyond the narrower issues that prompted them, leading to new advances in commercial and legal freedoms.
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Smyrna, Venice, and the Rise of Statute in Trade Regulation, 1619–1647


In the early 1620s, Mordecai Zevi viewed the influx of English merchants into the Ottoman port city of Smyrna as a route to betterment for himself and his family. Zevi, a Sephardic Jew, had been a poor poultry dealer in the Morea. Owing to the war between Turkey and Venice under Sultan Ibrahim, many Jews from Morea moved to the prospering Eastern Mediterranean city of Smyrna. Smyrna was changing rapidly during this period. It offered ambitious merchants like Zevi the freedom to grow their commercial operations at the margins of Ottoman authority and further from state regulation. The arrival of English merchants in Smyrna enlarged this opportunity as the English searched for skilled commercial interlocutors who would help them navigate the Ottoman system. Mordecai Zevi was one of dozens of such brokers. The assistance they provided the English merchants in Smyrna helped these merchants expropriate a locally collected levy on foreign merchant shipping, known as the strangers’ consulage. According to the agreements between the Ottoman sultan and the English king, this levy was meant to benefit the English crown. Zevi, and brokers like him, therefore prompted a major constitutional dispute in England that would alter the ways in which the English state regulated overseas trade. This chapter focusses on the cross-cultural roots of this dispute to connect the commercial ambitions of Zevi’s milieu to changes in the way England interacted with the global economy.

Smyrna became an important focal point for European trade with the East early in the seventeenth century. Persian merchants brought silk to be exchanged with merchants from Venice, Genoa, Holland, France, and later England. The English traded cloth, metals, gunpowder, and manufactured goods for raw materials like cotton, yarn, food stuffs (currants, coffee, and figs), and carpets. The Scottish traveller, William Lithgow, who visited Smyrna around 1611 marvelled at the port’s open bounty. ‘It is a goodly place’, explained Lithgow ‘having a faire Haven for ships…They have great trafficke with all Nations; and so infinitely peopled’.1 Sephardic Jews were central to this demographic buoyancy and Mordecai Zevi was one of thousands of Jewish migrants who moved to Smyrna in search of opportunity in the first half of the seventeenth century. The Sephardic Jewish community in Smyrna originated in the second half of the sixteenth century mostly from the Mediterranean port town of Thessaloniki. European travellers noted that the Sephardic Jews numbered perhaps 6,000 in 1631. This represented 8 per cent of the population. Their population doubled by the 1670s.2

The number of Jews in Smyrna appears to have increased with the arrival of English merchants in the second and third decades of the seventeenth century. Having witnessed the aggressive power of the Venetians at Morea, men like Mordecai Zevi looked to alternative commercial partners once in Smyrna. Less tied to Venetians and distant from their Ottoman overlords, merchants like Zevi welcomed the English and helped them to develop their trade. Zevi quickly established common cause with them and began to supply brokerage services as a dragoman.3 All Europeans interacted with the Ottoman authorities via these intermediaries. These powerful officials helped their European clients access trade, but also allowed them to confront, negotiate, cooperate with, and circumvent Ottoman regulations. At Smyrna, these intermediaries were often Jewish merchants. Jews also dominated customs collection. The merchant of any nation who hoped to succeed in the Ottoman Empire required good relations with the customs collectors to accelerate the movement of money or goods, but also to cut corners, countenance abuses, and accept bribes.4 The Ottoman Empire’s economy depended upon this kind of intercommunal cooperation. (Map 2.1.)
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Map 2.1 Smyrna in the Aegean Sea





This chapter traces the origins and workings as well as the commercial, fiscal, regulatory, and political repercussions of the cross-cultural alliance forged between English merchants operating under the umbrella of the Levant Company in Smyrna and dragomen like Mordecai Zevi. It concentrates on a tussle between English merchants of the Levant Company in Smyrna and the English ambassador and monarch to trace the role of cross-cultural alliances in prompting this dispute, and subsequently follows its constitutional and regulatory amplifications from Smyrna back to London. It begins by establishing the cross-cultural bases for trade in the Eastern Levant. It then assesses the role of non-European actors in establishing the on-the-ground commercial rules that challenged the formal expectations of diplomatic agreements. English entry into Eastern Mediterranean trade was via competition with the Venetians. This rivalry taught the English the value of their decentred approach to trade, which encouraged them to circumvent the capitulations. The rivalry also attracted English regulatory interest in the trade which alerted the English state to the Company’s transgressions.

The chapter hinges on an important, specific result of the commercial common cause between the English and Sephardic communities: the merchants’ appropriation of a local tax, the strangers’ consulage. In assisting the Levant Company’s retention of strangers’ consulage at the expense of the English crown’s representative in Istanbul, Zevi and others like him played an important role in undermining the English monarch’s long-established right to tax overseas trade. The proceeds of strangers’ consulage provided the Company with liquidity to lubricate their trade. As the English crown became short of funds at home in the 1630s, the monarch turned to new sources of income and put pressure on the Levant Company to help. King Charles targeted the strangers’ consulage. The success of the Levant Company’s trade in the Eastern Mediterranean worked alongside broadening opposition to the crown in England to help the Company resist the English state’s attempts to seize the strangers’ consulage for themselves. In trying and failing to gather these taxes, the English state had its right to tax overseas trade severely curtailed by parliament, which became more and more assertive in regulating overseas trade.

The strangers’ consulage dispute at the centre of this chapter shows a cross-cultural alliance forged at the fringes of state authority in the Ottoman Empire. It allowed the English Levant Company to override explicit regulations established in the capitulations from the Ottoman state about who could benefit from local taxes. It shows the weakness of the enforcement of these regulations in cities distant from, and marginal to, the imperial centre. The legal arrangements underpinning trade were clear in allocating the proceeds of the strangers’ consulage to the English state. But this clarity could not prevent the success of cross-cultural alliances securing the proceeds of the tax for corporate purposes. The cross-cultural alliance between Sephardic and English merchants challenged the English monarch’s long-held monopoly over taxing international trade and helped initiate parliamentary extension into the arena of international trade regulation. This change would be interpreted as a victory for English freedom.

In the case discussed in this chapter, the protagonists in the cross-cultural alliance were émigré merchants—both Sephardic and English—who wished to operate in the liminal space between Ottoman officials and European merchants; they were merchants loyal to the Company they were a member of, but disloyal to the monarch whose prerogative power had issued the charter that was the basis of that company’s privilege. As a regulated company, the Levant Company allowed its members and factors more independence. This independence assisted the Company’s agility in its various commercial contexts and helped the English company eclipse its Venetian precursor. The brokers who aided the Company’s factors were recent arrivals in Smyrna. Despite this they understood and manipulated the provincial Ottoman institutions in ways that developed the area’s commerce. In assisting this development, these merchants would help their English commercial partners to alter the assumptions and practice of English overseas trade. Sephardic merchants enjoyed greater freedom to trade in Smyrna and the English members of the Levant Company experienced similar latitude at the fringes of Ottoman authority. Both used this freedom to prevent the English crown controlling the trade and, in doing so, set a crucial precedent for an emblematic feature of English freedom: parliamentary control over economic opportunity. The expansion of English commercial interests overseas turned the English monarch’s traditional hold over taxing foreign trade into a constitutional liability for the crown.

*

The Levant Company developed English trade with the Ottoman Empire. Established as the Venetian Company in 1580 with seed capital drawn partly from Elizabethan privateering in the Spanish Americas, the Levant Company did not stray from its foundational ambition to eclipse Venice as the dominant European trader with the Ottoman Empire. The Venetians had long controlled much of Europe’s trade with the Eastern Mediterranean and the Ottoman Empire. But they had done so through centralised, formal, diplomatic channels. Centuries of commercial and diplomatic contact had woven the Italian city state into the upper reaches of the Ottoman state. Distant from the Mediterranean, the English had ambitious plans to develop their commercial networks in the Ottoman sphere. In 1580, William Harborne travelled to Istanbul on Queen Elizabeth’s behalf, securing capitulations in May of that year from Murad III. These outlined the terms for English trade. Clearly a successful negotiator who may have exploited sporadic tensions between the Venetians and the Ottomans, Harborne ensured that the English received reduced customs duties of 3 per cent. Other Europeans paid 5 per cent. Investors renamed the entity formed to manage this trade as the Levant (or Turkey) Company in 1592. The Company established consulates in Aleppo in 1580, Alexandria in 1583, and Patras in 1589.5 The Levant Company shifted from joint stock to a regulated company structure shortly after its foundation. This meant that its members traded overseas on their own accounts rather than pooling their capital into a single joint stock.

The English sought to supplant the Venetians in the Ottoman Empire by luring away their master craftsmen with higher wages, imitating their goods, and supplying cheaper, lower quality products—marketed as New Draperies—to Ottoman markets.6 Although the English initially planned to eclipse the Venetians by establishing factories in Istanbul, they quickly realised that it was far easier to develop commercial relations with the Ottomans in places distant from the imperial capital, where the maturity and formality of the Venetians’ relations with the Ottomans were less pronounced. In 1611, this strategy led them to the vibrant and diverse commercial out port of Smyrna.

Although one ostensible purpose of a trading corporation like the English Levant Company was to ensure that international and cross-cultural trade was conducted in ways that benefitted the Christian over the heathen merchant, the on-the-ground reality dictated that Europeans were at the mercy of foreign hosts and brokers. European merchants lived in self-governing factories in Ottoman cities. Despite the European authorities’ injunction that their merchants live together in sealed factory communities, such merchants could not hope to succeed without forming cross-cultural trading collaborations. This was especially true in Smyrna. Jewish brokers—like Mordecai Zevi—and the English merchants of the Levant Company prospered symbiotically. These alliances were the most important source of comparative advantage over their European rivals active in these Ottoman port cities. They helped the English supplant the Venetians as the dominant Christian merchants in Smyrna. The English depended upon the ingenuity of dragoman, who—as a privilege established in the capitulations—guided their European employers through the complex maze of Ottoman protocol, gathered advice and intelligence, and mediated disputes. Dragomen connected the Europeans with suppliers, purchasers, and the customs officials from the Ottoman state who presided over the entire system.

There was one service that the Jewish dragomen provided the English merchants in Smyrna that made an especially large difference to the durability of English trade in the region. These brokers collected consulage fees on rival European shipping from the local Ottoman official, the emin. This lucrative fee was known as strangers’ consulage. It was charged to merchants of those nations who, unlike the English, did not have a diplomatic presence in the Ottoman court and therefore had to trade through a nation that did. This included areas under Habsburg control, like Spain, Portugal, Sicily, and Flanders. It also included Florence.7 Nations that did have direct diplomatic relations would sometimes need to pay if they used another nation’s shipping. This charge was 2 per cent of the value of all goods belonging to stranger merchants carried by English ships, as well as all other ships not in amity with the Ottoman sultan, who flew English colours and came under English protection. It was a way for the English to generate a dependable cash income from their navigational superiority.

Foreign merchants were naturally resistant to delivering these fees to their commercial rivals. Non-European brokers played a crucial part in collecting them. They directed them to the Company’s use and protected them, as time went on, from the accurate claim that these revenues belonged to the English crown and could therefore be sequestered by the monarch’s direct representative in the region—the ambassador. By the 1630s, the cash generated by the collection of strangers’ consulage amounted to between £4,000 and £5,000 per annum. This figure represented 2 per cent of the value of all English exports to the Levant in this period.8 This liquidity proved essential because it provided a shared resource for English merchants to pay the bribes and fees to Ottoman officials that kept trade moving. The fruits of strangers’ consulage provided a substitute for the shared capital of a joint stock that the Levant Company, as a regulated company, did not have access to.

Since the Company’s rights and powers came from the monarch, claiming the strangers’ consulage fees did not appear controversial. The Company was after all a representative of the English state and one that enjoyed monarchical backing. The problem came, however, from the growing tensions between the Levant Company and the state embassy it was responsible for financing. State embassies to the Ottomans were particularly expensive. The monarch chose the ambassador but expected the Company to pay his expenses. This compromise proved precarious and unsuccessful. King Charles I took an especially close interest in this process, although the Company continued to make suggestions about who should serve as ambassador. The Company, however, began to collude with local brokers to divert consulage fees for its own purposes, placing greater financial strain on the ambassador. This was easiest to do in the dynamic and growing ports of the periphery—like Smyrna—where the ambassador (and the sultan) enjoyed less power.

The capitulations agreed between the Ottoman and English states clearly recorded that the strangers’ consulage was to benefit the English state. The capitulations have often been viewed as trade privileges, like the charters provided to the trading companies themselves. Rather than representing treaties between equal trading partners, however, the Ottoman capitulations structured trade and diplomacy in ways that provided the Ottomans with complete control. They were not meant to be trade deals between commercial interests but were instead concessions made by one sovereign monarch to another.9 In this sense, they prioritised state over mercantile interests. But they had broader economic imperatives. They provided sufficient protection for European merchants to make their trade viable while still encouraging competition between European rivals to push prices for European goods down for Ottoman merchants. Their commercial provisions were often challenged and ignored by merchants and their brokers.

Although the capitulations firmly stipulated that the strangers’ consulage belonged to the English monarch, other features of the way the capitulations operated helped the Company hold on to the yields of this tax. The capitulations specified customs duties and guaranteed that no other taxes would be levied on the English. How this was done depended upon provincial tax collectors. The central authorities often respected local custom and this favoured merchants.10 The capitulations also dictated that disputes amongst English merchants would be handled by their own English consuls rather than Ottoman officials. Controversies between Englishmen and Ottoman subjects would be adjudicated in the capital city and not in provincial courts. While these fiscal arrangements proved very attractive to the English, clarity over self-government and the nature of their access to the Ottoman court system would create huge latitude for English merchants to circumvent the official diplomatic channels the trade was supposed to support.

Anglo-Levantine trade proceeded according to the constitutional mechanisms governing trade in England as well as according to the capitulations. At home, legal support for the monarch’s claim to the proceeds of strangers’ consulage also looked clear and well established. From the start of the seventeenth century, parliament had sought greater control over trade by rejecting corporate monopolies and arguing that it alone could impose taxes on imports. This argument might have broad rhetorical appeal, but it had little basis in law. The English monarchy’s right to tax and benefit from overseas commerce was well rehearsed. The strangers’ consulage dispute was to become one of the most durable arenas of disagreement between the crown and the Levant Company in the 1630s and 1640s. But the disagreement echoed tensions that had festered for longer. Because the Levant trade had been so profitable since its inception, it quickly attracted the interest of the monarch, first Queen Elizabeth I, then King James I, and later his son, King Charles I.

In 1592, the Levant Company devised a solution to the problem of using Levantine trade to finance the English ambassador to the Ottoman sultan. This involved a levy on the importation of currants not coming into England under the Levant Company’s management. This established a damaging precedent for the Company. Once the Company had allowed itself to be dissolved in 1603 because it could not pay a £2,000 charge, the crown stepped in to collect the duty directly. In October 1603, the imposition on currants, oils, and sweet wines, previously paid by merchants who were not free of the Levant Company, would be imposed on all traders to the Levant and collected as part of the royal revenue. The Levant merchants were left without a means to finance the ambassador to the Ottoman Empire and the trade descended into confusion and paralysis. Against the backdrop of parliamentary debates about free trade in 1604, the Levant Company, as with all other London companies, looked vulnerable. Because the scale of trade diminished, the attractiveness of the levy also declined. The levy proved difficult to collect as Levant merchants insisted that tax farmers use legal means to compel their payments. In October 1605, the lord chancellor, the earl of Salisbury secured a new charter for the Levant merchants on the understanding that they were to broaden the membership of the Company and encourage the collection of the royal levy on currants, which Salisbury insisted could not be used for consular expenses.

These issues came to a head in Bates’ Case in 1606. John Bates was a merchant free of the Levant Company who refused to pay the import duties on currants. Noting parliament’s enthusiasm for free trade, he argued that impositions on international trade could only be insisted upon by parliament. The judge at the court of the exchequer, Chief Baron Thomas Fleming disagreed and ruled in favour of the crown. Fleming declared that ‘All customs…are…the effects and issues of trade and commerce with foreign nations’ and as such ‘are made by the absolute power of the king’. Fleming affirmed a long-held legal fact that ‘No exportation or importation can be but at the king’s ports…he hath absolute power by them to include or exclude whom he shall please’.

Fleming offered a further insight into the justifications for the king’s power that would have ramifications throughout the later dispute about strangers’ consulage. This asserted that the king enjoyed control over impositions on foreign trade because the goods involved belonged—at a specific point in the transaction—to foreigners (or strangers) and were therefore moving within the king’s domain of international relations. Fleming explained: ‘It is said that an imposition may not be upon a subject without parliament…but the impost here is not upon a subject’. Fleming continued: ‘at the time the impost was imposed upon them they were the goods of the Venetians and not the goods of a subject, nor within the land, but only upon those which shall after be imported; and so all the arguments which were made for the subject fail’.11

Direct engagement with international markets by the companies made sustaining this traditional monarchical monopoly over international relations very difficult. Bates’ Case has often been seen as the beginning of the collapse of trust between the House of Commons and the English judiciary.12 But the case had more expansive, international implications as well. This legal principle—that only the king could levy taxes on foreign subjects—would prove to be fateful for prerogative power as English commercial engagement with foreign markets expanded across the seventeenth century. The more England’s economy deepened its connections with foreigners, the less plausible a monarchical monopoly over international relations looked. Foreigners would instead ally themselves with English merchants who wished to redirect customs duties away from the king and towards parliament. As a result of the dispute over strangers’ consulage, the view that the king was the sole arbiter of goods passing from the hands of foreigners into the hands of subjects was fundamentally challenged and cancelled. Later, however, parliament would assert itself more than the king had ever attempted by limiting access to English-Atlantic trade to English sailors on English ships.

Nonetheless, Fleming’s judgement offered clear support for the king’s right to tax international trade. King James did not use the judgement to expand impositions on imports. Such a move would have been insensitive to the parliamentary enthusiasm for free trade after 1604.13 But the clarity of Fleming’s judgement confirmed a crucial aspect of the royal prerogative and ensured that any challenges to this position mounted overseas would immediately enter the fray of domestic English politics. The arrangement confirmed in Fleming’s decision precipitated the development of trade between the English Levant Company and the Ottoman ports on an impressive scale. In the mid-1620s, the ambassador to Constantinople, Sir Thomas Roe claimed that the Company was exporting £250,000 of goods per year.14 Historians have suggested that the Company exported 7,000 pieces of English cloth in the 1630s and 1640s.15 The merchant commentator, Lewes Roberts argued in 1638 that ‘for its height and eminency [the Levant Company] is now second to none other of this land’.16

*

This commercial expansion came partly at the expense of the Venetians. This achievement owed much to the flexibility and agility of English merchants in the region compared to the Venetian competition. The Venetian merchants operated according to long-established practices that restricted their consuls’ freedom of action and suppressed commercial innovation. The Venetian ambassador to the Ottoman state (the bailo) tightly controlled their trade and employed merchants pressed on them by the Venetian department of commerce. The English company, however, chose its own consuls, who were not directly managed from Istanbul or England. The English also enjoyed the right to assess their own surcharges, form their own networks with merchants and officials, and pay the avanias (fines imposed by local bureaucrats) from whatever funds they had access to. This system gave the English the agility to respond to the shifting patterns of Ottoman regulation and social disorder, especially in Western Anatolia.17 Unlike their Venetian rivals and contrary to the spirit of the capitulations, the Levant Company merchants did not have to channel permissions and requests through the central Ottoman state personnel at the imperial Porte at Istanbul. Instead, the English could secure rapid solutions in the provinces, where other merchants were also aware of their distance from imperial relations.18 The corporate structure of the Levant Company also assisted this agility: as a regulated company the Levant Company did not maintain a single, joint stock but was instead more akin to a society of member merchants who paid fees to join and then traded on their own account overseas. This structure allowed more latitude for factors of the Company to establish and manipulate their own commercial networks with local merchants, customs officials, and dragomen. The Levant Company’s ability to collect and control strangers’ consulage was a further fruit of this flexibility and assisted its continuation because the consulage dues were often used to pay local bribes and fees. In short, the English merchants were better arranged to establish and benefit from cross-cultural alliances at the provincial level. These contrasted sharply with the formal, state-level, diplomatic alliances the Venetians depended upon. What the English company learned through using its more agile structure to outmanoeuvre the Venetians they would later deploy to evade the English ambassador and state.

From the 1610s, the Anglo-Venetian rivalry moved from broader commercial competition to tussles over the collection of local taxes. This change occurred against the backdrop of the English moving their consulate from Chios to Smyrna, largely because of Smyrna’s expanding economy. The Venetians had also wished to collect consulage charges. Jewish brokers were central to the English attempt to challenge the Venetian’s claim to consulage collection. The Venetians strenuously resisted the English seizure of their consulage rights. They used the depth of the diplomatic network in Istanbul to have what they perceived to be an injustice rectified. In this way, they used the practice established in the English capitulations. In 1619, when the issue came before the authorities, the Venetians argued that they should enjoy the consulage surcharges because they had long done so. The English asserted that they should receive the surcharges because the merchandise had been shipped on an English vessel (an argument endorsed by the capitulations the English received in 1601). So entrenched was the position of the Venetians within the imperial capital that the ruling went against the English. This outcome was surprising because of the scale of English trade at this point and because of the Ottoman’s sympathy towards the English as allies in the war against the Habsburgs.19

The Ottoman ruling, however, was not supported in the peripheries of the empire. Prior to this point, provincial officials would have willingly executed the capital’s preferences. In 1619, this changed. In this year the English Levant Company took consulage rights and the bailo’s customs from the Venetians. Initiated by collusion between the Company’s factors and their Jewish brokers, the Company’s leadership in London endorsed the collection of strangers’ consulage in March 1619 because the fund allowed them to ‘defend [their] being there as [a] nacon in quiet & peaceable trade’ and because the resulting revenue would allow the Company to ‘dischardge all their pretense especially in their tymes when they [the Ottomans] contrive new exactions’.20 As the Company saw it, the right to collect the strangers’ consulage was fundamental to their enjoyment of and success in the trade. At this point, however, the Company continued to accept that the revenues from strangers’ consulage should be used to ‘help paie the Ambassador’.21

In September of 1620, the Company explained why they had been given the opportunity to control the proceeds of strangers’ consulage. A former ambassador, Sir Paul Pindar, had been given the duty ‘in lewe of his salary, wherin it was his great fortune for a tyme to bee some gayner, but afterwards finding it to bee uncertayne and subject to soe many casualtyes left it to us, and we accepted it agayne in a tyme that turned to our loss’.22 By May 1621, the Company began to endorse the local merchant position by complaining that the ambassador ‘doth persist in takeing the consoledge against his articles of agreement with us’.23 Naturally, it was easier for local Jewish merchants to feel affinity for and to support the commercial interests and practices of their fellow merchants, members of the English factory at Smyrna, rather than to surrender funds to the ambassador based in Istanbul. English supplanting of the Venetians at Smyrna and the development of the port at Smyrna increased its attractiveness to other European merchants and therefore further expanded the size of the proceeds of the strangers’ consulage. It also made the revenue less ‘uncertayne’.

In 1625, Thomas Roe—the next ambassador at Istanbul—presided over a landmark dispute, in which the Venetians attempted to circumvent payment of the strangers’ consulage to the English. The ship, the Peter and Andrew, was an English vessel steered by Venetian merchants. It flitted between using English and Venetian colours according to which would suit its need for protection at different ports. Observed flying English colours at the coast close to Aleppo, the English consul asked the vessel to pay the strangers’ consulate. When they refused, the English brought the issue before a local judge at Aleppo. The Venetians responded by bribing that judge. The judge duly imposed a sentence on the English consul. The English then appealed to Roe at Istanbul who observed cautiously that: ‘wee can plead no capitulations of the grand signor against Christians, (nor his vassals) thereby to insinuate a powre of the Turke, to lay any impositions uppon their goods; which could be scandalous in the present, and dangerous in the future’.24

Roe nonetheless had the sentence against the consul quashed and damages settled. In March 1626, Roe informed the Lords of the Privy Council in England that the Venetians would be encouraged by the incident. Roe admonished the Council for failing to offer better protection to the Company in this matter, which he claimed the Venetians interpreted as a reason to dodge payment. Roe requested a concerted response from the English government to a recent Venetian edict.25 This edict, of September 1626, forbade the Venetians from paying any strangers’ consulage. Roe issued a declaration in April 1627 as ambassador stipulating that all contracts that English merchants entered in the Levant would be null and void if the right to collect strangers’ consulage was not acknowledged and honoured.26 Roe echoed Fleming’s judgement in the Bates’ Case by stating that the Venetians had to pay the consulage because ‘If the Venetians will enter his majesties dominions, which extend to his shipps in all parts of the world (for in them his lawes are alive and effective) they must submit to the conditions of his other subjects, who pay the duty to maynteyne a general charge’.27 Roe added that the duty was only what the English had to pay to maintain the charges of the ambassador.

In November 1627, King Charles took up the cause of the English in their tussle with the Venetians by noting that in the Venetian’s refusal to pay strangers’ consulage to the English, they disadvantaged the English ‘in the matter of profitt’ but also ‘in dishonour and prejudice, making our subjects lyable to forraigne tribunals & to carry marks of other soveraigntie then ours’. Charles instructed his ambassadors to dissolve the edicts that these European rivals had enacted to allow them to circumvent these charges. In doing so, Charles appears to have become aware of an alternative contributor to the costs of his own monarchy and to the possibility that his English subjects may have been straying from associated regulations in the Levant. He therefore requested upon ‘danger and penalty…to continue the payment of consulage & such other dutyes as they were heretofore accustomed’.28

By 1628, the aggrieved Venetians confirmed the commercial dominance of the English in Smyrna by conceding that they would pay the strangers’ consulage to the English. This victory also emphasised the English determination to place the collection of the strangers’ consulage at the centre of their commercial tactics in the Levant. In enforcing the state’s interests overseas, the English monarch came to see how the disagreements between the two representatives of that state—the Company and the ambassador—could provide financial opportunities for the crown. The diplomatic wrangles that Anglo-Venetian competition produced brought the consulage issue to the attention of the English state and advertised to the English monarch that the duty could be a valuable resource for state finance. Charles’ determination to ensure that the duty was enforced against international rivals would prime his own enthusiasm for collecting the duty later. But in defending the right to collect strangers’ consulage at all from the Venetians, Ambassador Roe (and later King Charles) unwittingly sustained the Company’s ability to defraud the ambassador (and king) of what, according to the sultan’s capitulations, was rightfully his. The Company’s willingness to uphold Charles’s order would make them resistant to conceding the duty in the 1630s. International disputes had been woven into a growing domestic constitutional tussle. This would be settled in favour of the Company not only because of the English monarch’s political isolation but also because the Jewish brokers at Smyrna would continue to assist the English company in collecting the consulage.

*

The contentions generated by the strangers’ consulage would reach a climax in the mid-1630s. By this point, King Charles’s finances had been severely hampered by a breakdown of relations with parliament and by his own excessive spending. Royally sponsored, chartered trading corporations like the Levant Company appeared to Charles as an alternative source of funds for his own coffers. Prompted by the diplomatic spat with the Venetians, Charles had, since 1626, chosen the Levant Company’s ambassadors himself. A new ambassador, Sir Peter Wyche, presumably noting the size of revenue generated by the strangers’ consulage since the 1620s, reappropriated the duty for the monarchy and the embassy in August 1631. By the 1630s, the Company was not able to use the pretext of non-payment by foreign rivals to request the English state’s help with collecting the duty since the English ambassador was increasingly alert to the Company’s reliance on the duty and—in any case—sought to claim the fruits of the consulage for himself and his royal patron. The Company made repeated calls for assistance in collecting the strangers’ consulage from French and Armenian merchants (which they claimed had cost the Company £3,000 in court fees) and bemoaned the ways in which the ambassador seized what they did collect. The Company argued that this situation not only contracted their finances but also acted as a ‘greater mischief’ on their trade as a whole because dodging the strangers’ consulage encouraged foreign merchants to dispense their goods directly to Europe (in contravention of the capitulations). The ambassador’s undermining of the Company’s access to the duty was viewed by local merchants, according to Company pleas, as discrediting the entire system: consulage and capitulations alike.29

The Company assumed a position of outright breach by the mid-1630s. In 1636, the English consul at Smyrna upheld an order from the Company to ‘withstand all’ assaults from the king upon the consulage.30 Over the previous decade, the English trade at Smyrna had become more reliant on the ability of the English to pay avanias. The Company claimed that these avanias amounted to £30,000 in the period 1625 to 1633.31 The consul resorted to using provincial Turkish courts to keep the royalist assault at a distance. But the royalist faction—led by Ambassador Wyche—dispatched his dragoman to Smyrna to collect the duty and, in doing so, enacted the processes implied in the capitulations: namely, that English merchants should fall in line according to the wishes of their representatives in Istanbul. Wyche’s approach, however, was contrary to the capitulations because it involved pushing the legal consideration of the dispute away from central to provincial courts. This strategy aroused protest from English merchants as well as the consul and treasurer in Smyrna.32

The Company later explained that the dragoman enforced this action by calling upon Ottoman officials to thwart the local company leadership and intimidate merchants.33 Both the Company and the ambassador claimed that their access to the duty was based on long-enjoyed custom. The Company initially responded to Wyche’s attempt to use ‘Turky Justice’ against them for what they described as his ‘owne lucre’ by citing the certainty of their corporate rights from the English state. Obscuring the reality that the Company depended on local legal support in Smyrna to collect the strangers’ consulage, the Company chose to threaten the ambassador with the strength of their charter rights at home. ‘We conceive’ they argued ‘that neither your Selfe, nor any of the Gr Signors Ministers can be competent Judges in the business’. They explained that ‘the trade is ours, by an especiall Grant from His Majesty, and the power of placing & displacing Consuls, of imposing duties of Consulage, and inlarging & lessening the same, is in our pleasure, as the necessity of our Trde shall form time to time require’34 Although the Company was wise to cite the strength of their political position at home in comparison to the king’s and to connect their collection of the duties to the health of their trade, their contention that their corporate charter granted them the strangers’ consulage was farfetched.

In September 1636, the Company asked Wyche to name ‘what authority you have from his majesty for collecting therof, and that you will find us a copie’. The Company complained that his ‘possessing & injoying’ ‘of the strangers’ consulage…was never once consented to by us’35 When the Company attempted to gather the duty directly, Wyche again circumvented the local emin (who had typically worked alongside the Company) and dispatched a dragoman and a chavus (messenger) to intimidate the Company treasurer at Smyrna.36 As a result ‘the Consull gave waie’. The dispute exposed differences between the Company and ambassador that echoed the earlier dispute between the Venetians and the English with the former representing the imperial centre and the latter emblematising the agility and opportunities of the periphery bent on thwarting that centre.37 The Company in Smyrna appealed to their kadi (a provincial Ottoman magistrate), while Wyche, as the more direct agent of the English state, followed the capitulations and enlisted the Ottoman central government.

Both sides deployed legal tactics within the Ottoman system that reflected their positions within the English system. This tendency had a constitutional as well as regional dynamic. Both sides prioritised a constitutional position over their national affiliation. Wyche saw no problem in deploying Ottoman legal practice to uphold the authority of his own king, while the Company promoted the decentralised practice of local officials to protect its own autonomy. Conversely, Wyche believed that the Company had challenged this authority in appealing to local jurisdictions. Similarly, as the agent with better local knowledge and a surer means to reflect the persistent interests of local, non-European merchants and officials, the Company was well advised to adopt a strategy that saw it prioritise centre over periphery.

The constitutional reverberations of the two side’s positions continued to polarise in the second half of the 1630s. The ambassador proposed using local monarchical power to support the financial position of King Charles, and the Company relied on provincial resources of power to support a right to collect the strangers’ consulage that was increasingly supported by the English parliament. For Wyche, the Company’s recalcitrance represented a legal challenge by the Company to the authority of the ‘Grand Signiors Commissioners’ as well as ‘his Majesties name’. Wyche confirmed that the Company’s reserves and local contacts enabled it to dodge his enforcement at the local level. He reported that the Company’s network and its access to money allowed it to ‘spent some monies that waie to make it goe against me’. Wyche explained that his only possible response was to take ‘out more forcesible Commissiones’ from the Ottoman centre. His view of the primacy of centre over periphery reflected his own naïve prejudices.

Operating within the Ottoman structure of power, the two English parties invoked different centres depending on the argument they were trying to advance. For although Wyche achieved a short-term victory over the Company, he acknowledged that the default situation was for the Company to take advantage of the ways in which ‘the Turke had…authorities to decide things betwist his Majestie and his Subjectts’.38 The Company responded by instructing its officials not to allow foreign merchants to freight goods on English ships, thus reducing the proceeds of the strangers’ consulage, restricting the ambassador’s income, and therefore, it was hoped, forcing him into an accommodation with the Company.39 The commercial significance of the duty and the effects of stopping it were clear. By early 1639, the dispute had led English agents to delay English ships carrying Armenian merchants’ silk shipments to Leghorn.40

*

As the dispute continued in Smyrna, the king began to plan the appointment of another ambassador. His name was Sir Sackville Crowe. The Company refused to support the appointment of Sir Sackville Crowe unless he abandoned the ambassador’s claim to the strangers’ consulage. In a remarkable move that reflected the deteriorated relations between king and parliament at home, Charles intervened directly to confirm that Crowe could not relinquish this claim, because he did not enjoy the authority to do so. Charles cited the capitulations and their clear recognition that the consulage would be the prerogative of the crown. As evidence of the growing weakness of his own position, the king saw the possibility of striking an arrangement between Company and ambassador that would allow ‘for the better accomodacion of your Trade’. Charles urged with the Company to approve his appointment.41 The lines had been drawn by the Company, however. They began to depict their quiet enjoyment of the strangers’ consulage as a ‘Nationall cause’ that they would fight doggedly to uphold.42

On arrival into the Ottoman territories, Crowe was stunned by the commercial dominance of the English Company while his ambassadorial income was less than other European nations.43 According to the Company, this dominance resulted from its right to, and success in, collecting the strangers’ consulage. In July 1638, having noted the corresponding priority that Crowe was giving to the strangers’ consulage dispute, the Company proposed a compromise to the ambassador offering to split the proceeds of the duty. Crowe refused, citing the constitutional principal that only the king could negotiate the distribution of royal property.44 The Company began to collect the duty again in September 1639 and advised its officials to store the proceeds until ‘the tytle & right thereof be here determined between us & Sir P Wyche’.45 Crowe did not respect this arrangement, however, despite it being written into an agreement he had made with the Company prior to his departure.46 The Company began to use the ‘turbulences of these times’ in England during 1640 to warrant the delays in reaching a settlement with Wyche over the duty. They used these delays to justify trying to withhold the money from Crowe in the Levant.47

The issue eventually came before the king in March 1640. Perhaps unsurprisingly, the king’s council ‘declared and adjudged’, in a meeting chaired by Charles himself, that the strangers’ consulage belonged to the king and not to the Company. The Council added that the king’s right to the duty was ‘not devested by any thing Conteyned or expressed in any Lettres Patents’.48 The Company would later report, however, that this judgement did not represent a meaningful ‘determination’.49 This decision appears nonetheless to have emboldened Sackville Crowe and softened the Company’s attitude towards the ambassador. In March the following year (1641), the Company wrote to advise their officials in Constantinople not to make the ambassador’s life difficult by creating ‘factions against him’ which, as the Company’s London leadership explained, led to divisions and ‘in such divisions our affairs may much suffer’.50 Alongside these admonitions, however, the Company proposed to circumvent the king’s Council board and make an appeal to parliament about the precise legal status of their access to the strangers’ consulage. They informed Crowe of their intentions.51 Again, they hoped that warning the ambassador that the issue was subject to a formal deliberation at home would, in the short term, encourage him to desist in its collection and make a record of how much he had collected. The Company aimed to confirm their right to the strangers’ consulage within a statute confirming their charter.52

The contention continued into the Long Parliament. Having refused to pay customs duties to King Charles in 1629, the hitherto straightforward and mutually beneficially relationship between the crown and the Levant Company turned into an antagonistic one.53 By February 1642, the Company complained that the ambassador’s usurpation of the strangers’ consulage had cost them £20,000.54 Repeated attempts to settle the issue were put off by parliament which focussed its attention on other matters. Inquiries into the issue contrasted quotations from the imperial capitulations which clearly stated (in article 42) that English merchants should pay the right of consulage to the English ambassador or consul ‘without contradiction’ with contradictory quotations from the Company’s charter which, in article 38, stated that ‘the consulage of strangers is expressly granted to the company’.55 The dispute had placed the two agreements—capitulation and corporate charter—in competition with each other.

By November 1643, the Company threatened Crowe by stating that if he did not relinquish his claim on the duty, the Company would have no option but to ‘forgoe our trade’.56 In a petition to parliament, the Company highlighted its frustrations over the ‘pretermitted customs’ which meant that they could ‘not discover so much as one amongst us that will for the present, oblige himself to buy & send any cloth for Turkey’. The Company proposed to withhold all of its trade until its complaints had been addressed. It explained its financial predicament and the place of the strangers’ consulage in causing and sustaining it. The Company repeated their threat to cease all trade until their right to the consulage had been confirmed. They argued that they needed this money to pay local debts and to cover the £10,000 per annum corporate operating costs. Appealing to a sympathetic parliamentary audience, the Company requested that an Act of parliament be agreed to support its rights and trade. The Company leapt onto the separate, concurrent issue before parliament of the redemption of captives in North Africa by offering to despatch an ‘express gentleman’ to negotiate their freedom in exchange for


our charter be confirmed by act of parliament with free choice & removal of ambassadors & other officers which are to be maintained at our charge; that Sir Sackville Crow be inhibited to meddle further with the Strangers Consulage [sic], & ordered to make restitution of what he hath already received.57

Clearly, the Company felt optimistic about their reception in parliament and were opportunistic in seeking to translate this favourable parliamentary reception into lasting state support.

*

The issue of strangers’ consulage that emanated from the Ottoman sphere appears to have climbed the Long Parliament’s agenda because of the dynamism and influence of the Levant Company’s new governor, the Puritan merchant grandee, Isaac Penington. Like other trading companies, the Levant Company depended upon the enforcement power of the royal prerogative to uphold its trading monopoly. Crown and Company were natural allies. It was therefore remarkable and important that the Company—as with other companies of the time—adopted a position hostile to the monarchy in the 1640s under Penington’s leadership. A successful merchant for many years, Penington did not seek corporate office until after he had established himself as an effective leader of the parliamentary cause.58 He became a London sheriff in 1638, alderman the following year, lord mayor in 1642, and then governor of the Levant Company in 1644. In parliament, Penington played a leading role in securing finance for the parliamentarian war effort. Determined to eradicate the episcopacy, Penington was also a major promoter of parliamentary supremacy’.59 Although a minor player in the Company in the 1620s, the strength of his Puritan convictions and his boldness in support of the parliamentary cause provided the basis for his meteoric rise through the City (and Company’s) offices. Penington provided the merchant leadership that placed the City’s vast financial and political resources behind the parliamentarians and against the royal government.

Although most trading companies remained loyal to the royalty until the summer of 1641, Pennington was at the head of a group of members of parliament who were also members of the Levant Company’s court who were steadfastly supportive of an alliance between City money and parliamentary power to oppose the king. This group included Thomas Barnardiston, Matthew Craddock, John Langham, and Samuel Vassal. They developed their anti-monarchy positions across the 1620s and 1630s. The men the Common Hall (the body of City liverymen) elected as MPs for the City had prior experience of opposing the court in the 1620s and 1630s. Levant Company directors were amongst them, including Craddock and Vassall. Vassal had been among those Levant Company merchants who refused to pay Charles I’s Forced Loan in 1626–7. In 1629, he also opposed the payment of Ship Money.60 He then followed John Bates in refusing to pay the tonnage and poundage on any good that had not been sanctioned by parliament. Their support for the Levant Company on the issue of strangers’ consulage was the latest parliamentary cause to fasten large-scale Puritan merchants of the City of London to the ambition of defeating King Charles I in the English Civil War.61

The Long Parliament borrowed large sums from the merchant companies, often in exchange for confirming their privileges. In November 1643, parliament authorised the navy committee to secure loans from merchant companies on the security of the excise on meat and salt. The Levant Company provided £8,000. As a result, the Commons approved ordinances that confirmed the Company’s charter. Parliament repaid the Company with interest by March 1646. The Long Parliament extended significant good will to merchant companies. In particular, the Levant Company relied upon the navy committee, which also supervised the customs, to ensure that the Levant Company’s monopoly in the Eastern Mediterranean received naval protection.62

Such deals failed to resolve the situation over the strangers’ consulage, however. Because the consulage issue remained unsettled while other issues were confronted and compromises reached, we can see the strangers’ consulage issue as being particularly fraught constitutionally and commercially. The Company complained in the summer of 1645 that the lack of resolution on the strangers’ consulage dispute was a ‘prime cause of that decay in Trade’. Ambassador Crowe’s position appears to have become more precarious by April 1646 because he was starting to claim to the Company that his right to the strangers’ consulage derived from a contract signed by members of the Company.63 King Charles’s desperation at this time can be seen in his allegation that Sultan Ibrahim was abetting the merchants and therefore betraying the cause of international monarchy.64

*

The matter came to a head in 1646 when Sackville Crowe, a committed royalist, assumed a tougher stance towards the Company. Vulnerable at home, and acting with the sympathy of his royal master, Crowe believed it would be easier to assert the royalist position within the Ottoman Empire.65 Crowe imprisoned and plundered merchants in Smyrna and Istanbul citing their non-payment of the strangers’ consulage duty. The behaviour of Sackville Crowe in the Levant proved inflammatory. Against a backdrop of increasing tensions between London merchants, and with royalists pressing their traditional claims over trade, the Long Parliament viewed the strangers’ consulage issue as encapsulating the royal trampling of merchant rights. The Londoners used Crowe’s brutality towards foreign merchants to discredit the ambassador at home arguing that his actions were the result of his having absorbed the despotic oriental tendencies of those around him in the Ottoman Empire. Opponents of Crowe printed 1,200 copies of a melodramatic pamphlet, Subtility and Cruelty; or a true relation of Sir Sackville Crowe, his design of seizing and possessing himselfe of all the estate of the English in turkey in 1647.66 Beyond the pantomime, however, Crowe’s actions backfired because of his indiscriminate assault on the diverse mercantile community in Smyrna. He overestimated the power of the Ottoman central authority and, in assaulting the merchant community in the provincial port, threatened to ruin the economic vitality of Smyrna.67

Crowe’s actions were understood to have fomented an uproar amongst the Jewish community in Smyrna who feared ‘that the town would be undone, the Trade lost and gone to wrack’. Crowe had affronted the commercial core of the international merchant community. Such an assault looked ill considered. Crowe also attempted to target the goods of Jewish brokers who had assisted the English merchants in collecting the consulage dues, but the local kadi prevented this.68 The officials Crowe had dispatched to seize members of the Company’s goods—John Hetherington and Lorenzo Suma—eventually managed to convince the kadi to assist with these seizures, but on arrival at the Company consul’s house, they became aware that the kadi had laid a trap for them. The kadi and his son allowed Hetherington and Suma to enter that consul’s residence to inspect the goods. According to Hetherington and Suma, the kadi encouraged a crowd of local merchants to gather outside the consul’s house so that ‘the whole Town was in an uprore, being fomented by Jews…and proclaimed in the Streets’. According to Hetherington and Suma, ‘the Streets’ outside the consul’s door ‘were packed thick’ with the ‘scum of the Town’ who made ‘outcries and clamors’ against what they saw as Hetherington and Suma’s ‘horrid oppressions and destructive courses to all future Trade’.69

The strength and breadth of local commercial opposition to Crowe’s policy confirms the extent to which the local merchant group in Smyrna had come to work alongside the Levant Company as part of a trading community who benefitted collectively from the Company’s control over the strangers’ consulage. Appreciating the difficulties Crowe faced in enforcing recovery of the strangers’ consulage for the crown, King Charles appealed directly to his fellow sovereign, the Ottoman sultan, for support in collecting the duty, explaining that the two monarchs ought to act in concert to protect their respective constitutional positions or as Charles put it: ‘You shall informe him [the sultan] that the Principall end thereof is utterly to destroy Monarchy within Our Said Kingdome and all Our Dominions’.70 The letter was never sent.

As English public opinion became informed of Crowe’s despotic show in Turkey, Charles abandoned his right to the strangers’ consulage in January 1647. On 3 April 1647, the Company confirmed that the king had acknowledged their right to the strangers’ consulage.71 The new ambassador, Sir Thomas Bendysh, proceeded to his post on the understanding that he would not seek any benefit from the duty.72 According to the English traveller, Robert Bargrave, this victory had cost the Company between £80,000 and £100,000.73 These figures confirm the extent of the trade, the ease of collection of the duty (assisted by local brokers), and the ease with which a capital pool of this kind would have facilitated the smooth operations of the Company’s interests. Smyrna proved the Company’s most lucrative collection point for this duty. Brokers collected 1,200 lion dollars from the Venetians on behalf of the English in a single transaction in 1646.74 The Company’s protectiveness of the duty went hand in hand with the remarkable development of Smyrna as a trading port. Bargrave commented that the port ‘has of late so thrivd by the English, Dutch, and French traffick, that it is restord to be a place of Consequence, and neer as great in Riches now, as it was formerly for Relligion’. The Company proposed to use this vitality to subsidise its aggregate trade.

Once the issue of the strangers’ consulage had been settled, Smyrna began to take on the reputation of a rogue factory within the Company’s orbit. It was as if the influence over the alternative fiscal structures that provided the strangers’ consulage to the Company had been forgotten and Smyrna’s continued tendency to innovate would, once the Company’s finances had been secured, become a reason to censure it. The London company began to resent the port’s obstinacy in not supplying the treasurer by refusing to enforce payment of a double consulage on trade with Leghorn.75 By May 1648, the tables had been turned. Instead of celebrating the fiscal model that the cross-cultural alliances in Smyrna had pioneered, the London company wrote to thank the ambassador for of his attempts to bring Smyrna into line. The Company wrote that Smyrna now represented a factory ‘resolute in denying any thing but what suits with thier owne humor’. The factory was, according to London ‘so apt to deceive us in our Consulage, we may suspect the like fraud in other respects’.76 In May 1648, in a letter to the consul and factors at Smyrna, the Company listed the full extent of its accusations against the Smyrna group. They had failed to comply with the Company’s order and had withheld various payments to the treasurer. The Company complained that ‘we are subject to so great an injury to the loss of half of our duties at that place, and that by fraudulent practices amongst your selves, and some that have more than single ingagement to the contrary’. The Smyrna factors had also refused to contribute to the ambassador’s leviation and had instead paid this using an expensive loan.77

There were, therefore, limits to the decentralised vision of the Levant Company, once the shadow of an overzealous centralising monarch in England and in Turkey had receded from view. The extremity of the Smyrna merchant’s determination to thwart the fiscal imperatives of the Levant Company’s London management again underscores the extent to which its rogue factors at Smyrna operated more in the interests of the local merchants than their corporate managers in England. From the perspective of the Smyrna commercial community, the logical conclusion of circumventing the ambassador’s right to the proceeds of strangers’ consulage was circumventing the Company’s right to it.

*

The Levant Company’s victory over King Charles and his ambassador in the strangers’ consulage dispute helped pave the way for another remarkable regulatory innovation. This change involved the king surrendering the monarch’s long-held control over taxing foreigners overseas that had been so strongly stated in the judgement in Bates’ Case. This control would be passed to parliament. In January 1650, parliament received petitions from the East India, Eastland, and Levant companies seeking statutory confirmation of their charters. To examine this issue, and how to encourage re-exports and fight back against Dutch commercial primacy, the parliament established a Committee of Trade. In the Spring of 1651, the Council of Trade debated whether there should be ‘free ports’ to process re-exports and develop entrepots. The essence of the plan was to free the re-export trade from the fiscal restrictions of customs. Access to these free ports was to be limited to English ships. But in a period of possible Anglo-Dutch collusion, merchants who had long profited from the re-export trade strongly advocated for excluding the Dutch from accessing these free ports. The Levant Company led this opposition. City of London sheriff and merchant, Andrew Riccard (a leading member of the Levant Company) served on the committee to promote the idea of London as a free port in December 1651.78

The Levant Company had long advocated for this policy. In a petition submitted to the government on 28 December 1649, the Company explained the ways in which its own operation had supported a nationalist agenda. Its account ignored the critical role that foreigners had always played in the development of its trade, and in particular the recent role that the commercial community of Smyrna had played in supporting its right to keep the strangers’ consulage. The Company’s petition outlined how it had for ‘above 30 years’ made ‘many necessary provisions…against the employment of strangers shipping’ by limited imports from the Levant only to ‘such as were free of the Levant Company, and in English ships only’. The petition went on to complain that recently ‘diverse persons, subjects and strangres’ had invaded the Company’s privileges by importing currants from the Netherlands ‘which being a ready means to set strangers’ bottoms on work’.79 The petition depicted the growing Dutch presence in the Levant as one not dependent—unlike the Venetians and French—on the need to freight English ships and therefore pay strangers’ consulage. This was a clever ploy. The Dutch were famous as a nation for boasting competitive shipping. Designating the Dutch competition as strangers would justify the argument that strangers should not enjoy any kind of access to English ports. If a nation—through lack of shipping—needed to rely on English shipping, then providing shipping to that nation could benefit the English commercially. In the case of the Levant Company this was key. But in a situation where the rival commercial nation was well supplied with shipping, like the Dutch, the best policy was total exclusion.

In using parliament to pressure the king into the surrender over the strangers’ consulage issue, the same merchant MPs who supported (and were sometimes members of) the Levant Company would design the greatest parliamentary mechanism for overseas trade regulation that had so far been seen—the navigation system. This system was designed to channel international trade through English ports and to support the development of English navigation by encouraging the expansion of shipping and a national stock of mariners. The Levant Company was heavily involved in the development of the navigation policy that would bear fruit as the first Navigation Act in 1651. Superficially, this statutory mechanism appeared to replace the corporate system of overseas trading regulation that was governed by the royal prerogative. In practice, however, companies were meant to adapt to and sit within the new navigation system. What the corporations did in supporting the navigation system was to nationalise the exclusivity of their own companies, excluding foreigners rather than other Englishmen. Since corporate leaders had been active in developing the new navigation arrangements, this was not surprising.

What was new and most significant about the corporate involvement in establishing the new navigation system was the limits the new system placed on the people who the corporations had relied upon throughout the century—foreigners. These bold new arrangements were a response to the increasing penetration of foreigners into the economies of English holdings overseas. This policy was designed to exclude the Dutch as part of a prolonged (and sometimes violent) rivalry in the third quarter of the seventeenth century. The Dutch had begun to outperform the English merchants as the English had fallen into a slump during the Civil Wars.80 The English state responded to these incursions by legislating to ensure that English commodities could only be shipped around the Atlantic on English boats, mostly crewed by English sailors. Instead of securing the benefits of taxing foreigners in the Eastern Mediterranean, Levant merchants would be front and centre of proposing a system for the Atlantic economy that excluded foreigners entirely from the trade. The Levant Company was itself a regulatory device designed to ensure that England’s international commercial interests favoured England over her European rivals, but as we have seen, a route to comparative advantage was to proceed commercially in ways that benefitted local commercial interests; in the case of Smyrna, often the Sephardic Jewish community. Supporting a new and explicitly nationalist regulatory agenda may well have necessitated the Company’s loss of common cause with its merchants and their communities in Smyrna during the second half of the century.

*

Smyrna brokers had assisted the Levant Company with an important constitutional victory over King Charles I. The Company, however, would develop suspicion of the success of Smyrna and their traditions of recalcitrance and commercial liberty. At home, the leaders of the Levant Company would embrace their new statutory foundation and the challenge this represented to the prerogative’s traditional monopoly over the overseas trading regulations. The Company would now enjoy control over the state officials they financed. Inspired by the dispute between the Levant Company and the Venetian competition, the English state began to target the proceeds of the strangers’ consulage. The contention over strangers’ consulage at Smyrna was, then, more than just a clash between the contradicting clause in the imperial capitulations and the Company’s charter privileges. In the dispute, we can see how in overseas commercial settings, English state officials resorted to type by assuming relationships with their inferiors that reflected equivalent arrangements at home.81 These assumptions proved to be a miscalculation. The port of Smyrna provided shelter and a profitable trade to develop an alternative model of free corporate trade overseas, one which denied the ordinances of the imperial centre at Istanbul and instead prioritised the local, peripheral deals, interests, freedoms of the English merchants and their non-European brokers and officials. The Venetians were the first victims of this innovation as the English remodelled Eastern Mediterranean trade. The ambassadors for the Company, and then the English monarch and his prerogative powers over trade were the subsequent victims. The English crown might appeal to the centralising power of the sultan, but the sultan would not intervene on a point of shared constitutional principle (even if he accepted it was shared).

Non-European initiative came in the form of helping the English merchants circumvent the capitulations. It was a victory for the fringes of the Ottoman Empire that would help the English place control over international trade more safely within the operation of statute and away from the capricious demands of monarchical finance. In this sense, it was a victory for free merchants operating at a distance from centralising monarchs. This attempt to centralise the king’s authority ran counter to English success in the region. Smyrna was an attractive commercial focal point for the English because it was autonomous and decentralised. Blissfully free of governmental interference, the English participated in a buoyant trade in a multicultural setting. It was no surprise, then, that the English could rely on full cooperation with local officials to help them develop the precedent of wresting the strangers’ consulage from the ambassador (contravening, as it did, the imperial capitulations).82 In this way, the sultan’s version of relations between centre and periphery within his diverse, religiously heterodox, and expansive commercial and territorial empire was far less despotic and much more propitious for commercial development than that of the king of England, with his knee-jerk centralising and uniformist instincts, whatever the latter may have argued, in his farcical and desperate attempts to draw connections between the two.83 A cross-cultural alliance between factors of the English Levant Company and the dragomen would offer the precedent for freeing the former from English regulation of international trade with the traditional hold that the monarch had over all interactions between foreigners and English subjects.

The English monarch had claimed a monopoly over all interactions with heathen nations. The case of strangers’ consulage demonstrates how Jews—categorised for centuries as the ultimate strangers—facilitated a change of constitutional emphasis that opened international trading relationships to the regulatory influences of parliament. The Company would cut its constitutional umbilical cord with the monarch, and use parliament to secure its consulage income leaving King Charles financially isolated and undermined, with parliament using statutory powers to stridently protect the interests and freedoms of international merchants. The results would be a dramatic retreat of the royal prerogative from one of its surest constitutional rights—the right to control and profit from international trade—and the dramatic assumption by parliament of control over England’s overseas interests through the navigation system. The Company had its right to the strangers’ consulage and its right to choose its ambassadors confirmed at the Restoration. Despite the reputation of its Smyrna operation for malfeasance, the Levant Company enjoyed a sustained period of profitability through the 1660s to the 1690s, when Dutch and then French competition began to erode its trade, and the English East India Company began to compete with their traditional control over silk imports.

Meanwhile, the Sephardic Jewish community at Smyrna continued to prosper. Mordecai Zevi had negotiated with the English, of course, but he also dined with them. His growing family played with the English merchants’ children. This proximity created a two-way flow of ideas as well as commerce. Millenarian predictions circulated among English writers in the first half of the seventeenth century. Since these writers promoted the idea of the return of Jews to Jerusalem (and, in some accounts, to England), this story is very likely to have circulated among English merchants partnered with Jews like Zevi in Western Anatolia in the 1620s. Mordecai’s son, Shabbethai, was to become a famous millenarian of the Jewish people later in the century. Banished from Smyrna in 1651, Zevi preached in various cities around the Ottoman Empire, becoming profoundly influential. The result of Shabbethai’s assertion, however, was to stir the Jewish population into disregarding their trade and ‘brokerage’, as Levant Company official, Paul Rycaut later put it: ‘leaving their mercantile course’.84 Shabbethai Zevi was compelled to convert to Islam in 1666. As it turned out, his father’s work in assisting the English with strengthening their commercial position was to have a more lasting effect globally—on the English economy and its overseas reach—than his mistaken view of the end of the world.
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Abu al-Mafakhir Mahmud Abdulkadir, the Skinner brothers, and the Constitutional Right to Free Trade, 1650–1668


King Abu al-Mafakhir Mahmud Abdulkadir of Banten had been locked in a rivalry with his counterpart at Mataram, King Hanyokrokusumo, throughout the mid-1630s. This rivalry was part of the longer term Javanese response to the Portuguese seizure of Melaka in 1511. The seizure had intensified commercial activity along the Western Java and Sunda Strait coastline and had prompted the emergence of new ports towns like Banten. These new ports sought to control the Sunda Strait to develop the route as an alternative to the Melaka Strait by which the Portuguese had made it more difficult for Muslim merchants to pass between Java and South China Seas. The Bantenese elite converted to Islam in 1525. Conversion to Islam became the means for Banten to consolidate control over the Sunda Straits region politically. For much of the early seventeenth century, Banten’s monarchs had reasserted and buttressed their port’s Islamic legitimacy by subsidising Hajj voyages.

In 1636, seeing no obvious way to obtain a durable advantage in his dispute with Mataram, King Abu looked for external sacred and political recognition. He sought elevation to the title of sultan in order to place Banten in a supreme position within the region’s growing network of Islamic port kingdoms. In 1636, a delegation to Mecca returned with the prestigious, hereditary title of sultan for their king, conferred on him by the grand shereef of Mecca.1 King Hanyokrokusumo of Mataram tried to secure the same title from Mecca and failed. Local ports like Jambi in Sumatra began to pay their respects to the sultan. Lineage from Islamic saints and titles bestowed by Islamic authorities elsewhere were key to the gathering and performance of power. Embracing and advertising their Islamic identity and ritual prestige consolidated economic ties with Muslim polities around the world.

The strategic desire to advertise the sultan of Banten’s connection to a transnational Islamic identity belied his willingness to ally himself with European merchants against his co-religionist neighbours. At the same time as they converted to Islam, the Bantenese elite began to control the agricultural hinterlands of the port to develop a large-scale and profitable trade in pepper with European merchants. The consolidation of a transnational, Islamic culture in Southeast Asia acted as a counterpoise to the entrenchment of European merchants in the region. Although his status with rival Islamic powers mattered most to the sultan, a key source of his power was commercial. This derived from trade with Europeans, which was, in the case of the Dutch and English, brokered by trading corporations.

Once Europeans arrived in the early seventeenth century, the Banten authorities (as elsewhere in South and Southeast Asia) refused to contract with any one European commercial power for sole access to the Banten markets; they succeeded in ensuring that several European nations would compete for Bantenese goods. In 1619, put off by this the Dutch established their own port town at Sunda Kelapa (known as Jayakarta), which they renamed as Batavia. With the Dutch concentrated at Batavia, Banten became the favoured port of English, Chinese, South Asian, and Indonesian merchants.2 In 1617, the English designated Banten a presidency of the East India Company and the principal Asian focus for their business. For the Bantenese to benefit from the presence of Europeans, they had to be open to countering the monopoly power the trading corporations aimed to impose. This meant sometimes accommodating and encouraging the fraudulent practices of company employees themselves.

Asian powers seized on the opportunities generated through intra-European competition, aligning themselves with a foreign interest to defend against local rivals. Sultan Abu al Mufakhir’s grandson and successor, Sultan Ageng Tirtayasa was especially determined and skilled in this regard. In the 1650s, the Bantenese worked with the English against the Dutch who had blockaded Banten. One English factor for the East India Company, Frederick Skinner, stood out as someone with commercially propitious relations with the sultan of Banten. Skinner chose to develop his relationship with the sultan of Banten as an independent merchant, eschewing his responsibilities as a factor of the East India Company. The sultan’s decision to encourage Skinner in this capacity would have far reaching implications for the future not just of the East India Company’s internal corporate governance, but also for the distribution of power within the separate branches of the English constitution and therefore for the ways in which the English codified their understanding of freedom.

The Company sought to prosecute men like Skinner. In doing so, they performed a version of self-government in foreign contexts that was often controversial to the local rulers who believed—like monarchs all over the world—that holding a monopoly over legal process and punishment was a core demonstration of their authority. When rulers like Sultan Ageng thwarted the Company’s attempt to prosecute Skinner, these rulers upheld constitutional positions that demonstrated their dislike of the East India Company’s monopoly and they would therefore formulate legal challenges to international trade regulations. At issue was the status of foreign jurisdictions in the legal deliberations of English courts as well as the proper constitutional setting for original legal pleadings. These issues would come to a head with the elevation of the sultan of Banten and his assumption of superior authority over the satellite port of Jambi. Thomas Skinner—Frederick’s younger brother—drew on this assumption in his famous dispute with the East India Company.

This chapter examines the Southeast Asian roots of these court cases. It assesses the formation of a cross-cultural alliance between Frederick Skinner and the Bantenese state. This alliance was meant to do two things. First, it was supposed to line Skinner’s pockets and protect him from prosecution at home. Second, it was meant to assist the Bantenese in their war effort against the Dutch. It shows how Skinner summoned his younger brother, Thomas, from England to help complete this plan because of the difficulties Frederick faced in remitting his gains to the metropole. The East India Company’s charter had lapsed in the mid-1650s, enabling independent merchants like Thomas Skinner to operate within what had been Company controlled regions. Thomas would attempt to send home Frederick’s gains with the help of his brother’s Bantenese networks. With its charter restored shortly after Thomas’s departure, East India Company officials hunted Thomas and seized his ship in the port town of Jambi. But the extent of the Skinner brothers’ networks in the region (and their ability to appear Dutch one minute and English the other) prevented the East India Company from seizing him. Ill-judged interactions with the Dutch, however, weakened Thomas’s position and he was forced to travel back to England to attempt to recover his losses there. The Skinner’s connections in England gave Thomas many advantages in pursuing his claims in the English courts. But his supporters in the House of Lords overreached themselves and prompted a severe reaction from the East India Company’s supporters in the House of Commons who blocked parliament, forcing an intervention from King Charles that cancelled Skinner’s claim.

The dispute about Skinner’s claim ultimately connected his cross-cultural alliances in Southeast Asia with two pillars of English constitutional freedom. First, an eradication of the House of Lord’s right to judge cases that had not been filtered through the lower courts; and second, the formulation of a workable common law basis for free trade overseas. With its charter renewed and expanded, the East India Company achieved a remarkable victory over the Skinner brothers. The chapter makes clear, however, that the strength of the Skinner’s cross-cultural alliance in Banten was an important cause of the political and constitutional reverberations caused in England. Frederick’s success at defrauding the Company was part of a broader shift in corporate policy which saw the Company appreciate the importance of giving its officials overseas more freedom to prosper. Thomas’s wish to have his freedom to trade independently of the Company in Asia was denied in English courts. But in instigating this denial, the East India Company’s lawyers devised new constitutional positions that would ultimately encourage commercial freedom overseas, while the Company itself would seek enhanced enforcement powers against interlopers that would come to be regarded as despotic and a liability for the English monarchy.

*

Founded in 1600, the English East India Company had mounted a series of fabulously successful voyages in the first fifteen years of its commercial career. These ventures had led them to various places in Southeast Asia, including at Banten where the first voyage led to the establishment of a factory. By the 1610s, the company had established footholds in the Mughal Empire at Surat and in Japan, but their commercial centre of gravity remained the spice-producing regions of Java, with a hub at Banten. Conspicuous commercial success had aroused jealousy and anger from certain quarters of English society. But it had also given the Company an improved leverage over the English state, especially with King James I who, seeking extra-parliamentary sources of finance, could see how the Company trading to the East was generating huge profits. This continued with his son, King Charles I, however his financial desperation led him to offer sections of the Company’s powers to his own courtiers—via the Courteen Association, which angered the Company. In the late 1630s, the Company achieved a durable foothold on the Coromandel coast of India at Madras where they could develop their presence in the Southern Indian Ocean facing Southeast Asia without the persistent interference and obstruction they experienced at the Mughal port of Surat in the northwest. Madras helped the English integrate their trade in the Indian Ocean. But the Company’s trade remained centred on Banten, despite the strength of the Dutch presence in this region and the growing importance of Madras to the English. By 1653, however, because of the entrenched power of the Dutch, the English shifted their presidency from Banten to Madras.

After the execution of Charles I in 1649 and the establishment of Oliver Cromwell’s protectorate, the power of parliament to reach into a traditional prerogative of the monarch—taxing international trade—had expanded with the establishment of the navigation system (as promoted by the Levant Company and other interests). With the king executed and the government ruled by a lord protector, Oliver Cromwell, statute would govern England’s international trading system. The role of the trading corporations complicated this picture slightly. Because they had thrown in their lot with Cromwell by the late 1640s, the companies appeared to offer a useful mechanism for managing his trade policy. But a long-established antipathy between these companies and parliament meant that they would need to have statutory backing for their charters. The East India Company had its charter cancelled in 1654 and parliament approved an implicit deregulation of the trade. Constitutional arguments in favour of unregulated overseas trade, however, had not been made. Corporations were the default means of managing trade beyond Christendom. Of course, various writers had condemned the monopolies that these corporations imposed and the way in which their exclusive membership restricted access to the economy and affronted the ‘liberty of the subject’. But no substantial and convincing legal argument for free trade had yet appeared. As such, the early Cromwellian endorsement of independent trade to Asia remained implicit and tentative.

The lapse of the East India Company’s charter created the opportunity for independent voyages to Asia. If these proved successful, any attempt by the Company to prevent such voyages would acquire constitutional inflection as suppressive of English liberties especially if the Company’s actions in seizing such individuals’ property were disputed in the English courts. By 1657, the East India Company had secured a new, and greatly expanded, charter. Invigorated, the Company began aggressively to target merchants who had viewed the earlier lapsing of the Company’s charter as a reason to trade independently in Asia. The huge commercial gains open to these well-connected English merchants allowed the cause of free trade to amplify constitutional instability.

Disputed commercial positions in Asia were mapped onto constitutional tensions in England. Events in Banten and Jambi created the moment to begin to define the constitutional basis for corporate trade. Thomas Skinner’s case ultimately appeared before the House of Lords for redress once his Asian cargo had been seized under the terms of the new East India Company charter. By fixing its mast to a constitutional position against the East India Company, and losing, the House of Lord’s juridical role became curtailed forever. This outcome hinged first on the strength of the Skinner brother’s alliances with the Bantenese authorities; second, on the perceived juridical supremacy of Banten over Jambi and the backing this gave Skinner in Bantenese law; and third because of the political and constitutional power of the reformed East India Company itself. The Skinner case and the constitutional collateral it created demonstrated both the domestic significance of alliances forged in Asia and the residual (and rebounding) power of the East India Company at home. Both this significance and this power shaped the emerging debate about the meanings of English freedom.

*

Until the 1650s, the tense rivalry between the Dutch and the English in Southeast Asia had become violent only sporadically. The notorious bloodshed at Amboyna in 1623—in which English merchants were tortured and murdered by the Dutch—dramatically escalated ill feeling between the two nations. The English then used the violence that the Dutch received (or perpetrated) from Asian states to their advantage. An opportunity came in 1656. The Dutch had blockaded Banten over many years to ensure that all local trade went through their port city of Batavia. This blockade lasted through the 1620s and much of the 1630s. In 1628, the English returned to Banten to support the Bantenese against the Dutch. The Dutch lifted their blockade of Banten in 1639 and the port prospered with the help of English merchants (though the Dutch had succeeded in diverting much of the lucrative Chinese trade to Batavia). In 1651 the Anglo-Dutch War commenced and the Dutch blockade of Banten restarted. But the port’s success enabled the Bantenese and English to launch military attacks against the Dutch and Batavians.

The seizure by the Bantenese in April 1656 of some Dutch vessels and the murder of their crews had provoked the authorities at Batavia to declare war against Sultan Ageng of Banten. The English factors claimed the right to continue their trade and to send their ships in and out of Banten without interference; the Dutch would not consent to this, and consequently the relations between the two nations in those parts deteriorated further. While collusion between the Dutch and the English had worked—on and off—for both nations for decades, competition provided opportunities for individuals on both sides who were willing to ‘juggle’ (in the language of the time) the commercial interests of both nations. The Dutch blockade of Banten aroused tensions with the English. But English merchants with Dutch connections would be well placed to make this barrier porous. With Bantenese support, such people could turn a crisis into a significance opportunity for private trade.

One such family was the Skinner family of Dover. The Skinner family was headed by Daniel Skinner the elder, who traded cloth between Antwerp and Dover. Frederick and his four brothers, Daniel, Thomas, Albertus, and Abraham were all born in Antwerp.3 Making a deposition in January 1636 to the High Court of Admiralty, roughly eight years after leaving Antwerp, and having established himself as a merchant at Dover, Daniel Skinner the elder explained that he had lived in Antwerp from 1608 and because he would have been forced to baptise his children as Catholics despite being ‘the King of England’s subject’ he had left for England.4

The family enjoyed intimate connections with the English East India Company. Daniel Skinner the elder had been a bullion merchant for the East India Company from 1645. In March 1648, he purchased £25,000 of bullion for the Company’s use. He gathered the bullion from European merchants who travelled to Dover, often from Hamburg. These transactions were of profound importance to the East India Company as it had become clear by the mid-seventeenth century that the Company could not trade in Asia without access to large quantities of bullion. A bullion dealer on Skinner’s scale would also be in demand with other merchants, however. Daniel supplied Captain Jeremy Blackman (working for Thomas Andrews and Maurice Thomson on their interloping Assada adventurers’ scheme) in May 1652.5 The Skinners were not to be tied to one customer. These transactions gave the Skinner family significant influence with the Company and enabled Daniel’s son, Frederick, to petition successfully for the senior post of agent with the Company in Banten. Daniel provided security for his son in April 1650.6 This security came in the form of a substantial bond that could be seized by the Company (subject to the legal due process) if Frederick defrauded it. Frederick, like other company factors of the time, made an oath to uphold the interests of the Company.

Frederick Skinner was agent at Banten from 1650 to 1652. Initially, the Company thanked his father, for the ‘the care and industry of his sone in finding a way to convey his advices in those times of war with the Dutch’.7 Frederick’s ability to broker between the Company and the Dutch was highly prized by the Company. Little did they know, however, the extent to which this industry depended upon Frederick’s collusion with the Dutch at this point. Skinner began to arouse the Court of Committee’s suspicion in June 1654. Frederick Skinner, like many other East India Company servants, was determined to use the Company as a platform for his own commercial career as well as being an agent for English national interests. (Map 3.1.)
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Map 3.1 The Trading World of the Skinner Brothers





From its establishment, the Company had tried to channel the commercial acumen of its officials to corporate advantage and away from their own independent interests. Small amounts of private trade were permitted. Officials were required, however, to post substantial bonds that would be seized if they became involved in malfeasance.8 In reality, this proved very difficult to enforce and private trade became a structural problem for the Company throughout the first half of the seventeenth century. Perhaps safe in the knowledge of the Company’s dependence on his father’s bullion trading, Frederick appears to have seen the Company as an opportunity for personal and familial advancement from the beginning. His juggling focussed on gun-running across the blockade, but it also included more straightforward fraud. The Company also worried about his character, because he was a ‘notorious Gamster playing at Tables and other Games for great somes of money with Dutch men and others’. The Company feared that ‘a man soe gamely should be intrusted to take charge of our imployment in chiefe, in any of our ffactories’ because this would lead not only to losses ‘by his particular and peculiar abuses towards us, but his example (being our Agent in those partes) may have such an infringement upon others’ which would encourage others to pursue trades ‘that may tend to their own advantages though not for advantage unto us’.9 The Company was onto something. Frederick would turn out to be a disappointing servant to them.

However, events in London would provide a reprieve for Frederick Skinner. The Commonwealth, under pressure from leading merchants, allowed the East India Company’s charter to lapse in 1654. Although the Company remained determined to recover its privileges, its ability to enforce its charter controls over malfeasant employees like Skinner (weak at the best of times) was now severely curtained. Frederick Skinner received what was perhaps early notice of the winding up of the East India Company’s stock in the summer of 1654 in a letter instructing him to conclude the Company’s operations in Banten and return to England to clear his name.10 This letter placed the grave and detailed suspicions the Company had of Frederick to one side (perhaps because of the power of his father). Frederick had no plans to end his own operations in Banten, however, especially as the Company’s ability to prosecute him had been undermined. The Company became aware of his determination to stay early in 1655 and decided to remain optimistic that this was for their interest rather than exclusively for this own.11 Skinner noticed an influx of independent merchants from England arriving as news of the Company’s charter lapse spread. Skinner entered into agreements with these ships on behalf of the Company to supply them ‘victualls & Ammunition of Warr’ and gave them free passage. Clearly, Skinner hoped to use these voyages as part of his broader strategy to exploit the Banten blockade.12

Despite the lapsed charter at home, the Company’s management at Madras began to object to Frederick’s activities in September 1656 and summoned him. Madras had been the East India Company’s Presidency and focal point for its government since 1653. It fell to the Madras leadership of the Company to intercept and question him. Although the Company’s charter had lapsed at this point, there is little evidence that the officials based in Madras who had served the Company under the terms of the previous charter proposed to operate in anything other than a corporate capacity, presuming that the cancelled charter would be replaced. Frederick duly travelled to Madras from Banten in a private ship, the Marigold. Fearing a trap, Skinner refused to come ashore. He sailed to nearby Masulipatam without saluting the Fort with any ordnance, which was the ‘usuall custome’, where he was arrested on the orders of the president of Madras.13

Skinner proved difficult to apprehend. A consultation was held, and orders were dispatched to Masulipatam to demand from Skinner the deposit of a large sum of money as security for the claims made against him on behalf of the Company, failing which he was to be arrested and sent to Madras. The Masulipatam factors accordingly seized him and placed him on board the Benjamin, another private ship, for conveyance to Fort St George; but on the way out of the port, Skinner, finding the Marigold close at hand, escaped to her (on 23 September) by sliding down a rope into her boat. The captain of the Benjamin refused to give up the fugitive and headed for the Danish settlement of Tranquebar ‘where tis said Mr Skinner hath left 10,000 Rs [rupees] to be Invested’. The authorities at Tranquebar also declined to surrender him, presumably because his financial position enabled him to protect himself.14 From there Skinner relieved his mind by writing to the Madras factors in terms which the latter found ‘scandalous’, and then sailed for Banten with the intention of resuming his post as agent.15 The factors at Madras who had failed to detain him informed their superiors at Surat that ‘such Confidence he [Skinner] hath in ye Company’s servants there, to bee at his devotion & obedient to his Comands’.16 The extent of his political network in the region among the English and Bantenese enabled Skinner to treat Banten as his personal commercial fiefdom in defiance of the Company’s hierarchy.

Having intercepted some of Skinner’s papers, the Company developed some insights into his plan. Skinner had been caught transporting a ship’s mast from Macassar, even though the Company had said that it was to retain all such materials for its own use. Skinner appeared to contradict his own advice (perhaps to throw the Company’s leadership off the scent) that the Dutch had ‘perfidious and unjust dealing’. He advised ‘any rationall man from hazarding more than needs must in Banten amongst such treacherous dogs’. Skinner likely overstated the Dutch danger to distract the Company from his own collusion with the Dutch and his overall strategy of using the blockade as cover for his own ship-building operation. Skinner also exaggerated the Dutch threat to suppress Company trade with Banten (and Macassar and Madras) to justify stopping what Company goods did arrive, and then trading them on his own account. The papers also confirmed that Skinner had meddled with the price of gold, ginger, and pepper. The papers revealed that Skinner had been warned not to anchor off Madras and not to spend any of his wealth on the coast for fear of attracting attention. The papers confirmed that there were witnesses quoting Skinner as saying that ‘he would not trust ye Company for six pence…that If the Company did molest him at home he would wage lawe with their owne’. The Company added that they were ‘convinced that Skinner has taken this irregular course through some advices that he should Receive out of England’.17 What this advice was is not clear, but it may have referred to the lapsing of the Company’s charter which Skinner’s network was well qualified to apprise him of. Skinner’s papers revealed the scale and ambition of his malfeasant trade in Southeast Asia. The Company formally removed Frederick from his post in November 1656 on accusations of private trade and the embezzlement of Company funds.

Skinner opted to return to the place where his networks were most supportive—Banten. Dutch sources noted his return to Banten on 6 December 1656 where they believed he was taking on water for a journey home.18 Despite Skinner’s involvement with them, the Dutch were suspicious of Skinner’s plan to run weapons over their blockade of Banten. With both English and Dutch suspicions targeted at Skinner, the extent of his Bantenese agenda began to become clear. Skinner sought to expand his plan for making the most of the Dutch blockade by shifting part of his business to the nearby port of Jambi. He dispatched the Persia Merchant from Banten to Madras, loaded with more than £7,500 in forty ingots of gold, all to be invested in commodities for Jambi except for £1,500 which was to be taken to Jambi in rials. The Dutch, however, intercepted the Persia Merchant as being in contravention of the recent peace treaty between the Dutch and English nations. The English Company protested in the name of ‘Protector Oliver’ against the treatment perpetrated by the commander of the Dutch fleet at Banten.19 The peace treaty had also forbidden the English from trading with the Bantenese. The Dutch targeted Skinner knowing that he had broken this provision in the treaty. They also sought to improve relations with the English company by seizing Skinner and returning him to the English.

The Dutch moved on Skinner. On 24 December, the Dutch sent two attendants onto Skinner’s ship to establish whether he was trading on his own account and whether he planned to thwart the blockade. Skinner began to fall out with his (official) compatriots. He quarrelled with his associate, Captain Roger Andrews, and—to reinstate himself as agent at Banten—he had Andrews imprisoned. Andrews appealed to the Dutch governor general and sought revenge on Skinner by producing papers showing how he and Skinner had planned to circumvent the Dutch blockade by running gunpowder from Anjer to Banten. Andrews’ testimony was dangerous for Skinner because it appeared to expose his plan to supply the Dutch enemy with material to fight. While the English worried about Skinner’s support for the Dutch, the Dutch objected to his alliance with the Bantenese, which the Dutch regarded as assisting ‘the infidel moors against Christendom’ and ‘a disgraceful act in disagreement with the peace treaty’.20 The Dutch incarcerated Skinner. He pleaded to be released, basing his case partly on the services he had provided the Dutch East India Company and protested in January 1657 that the Dutch stay on his departure represented a ‘break of the law of nations’.21

At this point, the extent of Skinner’s influence over the Bantenese authority became clear. His connections in Banten ensured that he was freed from Dutch control. His insistence on being freed spurred a supportive skirmish from the Bantenese and he was let out of Dutch imprisonment.22 Skinner then pressed for peace between the Dutch and the sultan of Banten to excuse his gun-running.23 In August 1657, Skinner attempted to broker a peace between the Dutch and the sultan in the hope that this would break the impasse. In the autumn of 1658, English merchants began to arrive in Banten. This appears to have been a part of Skinner’s strategy to protect his interests and open up the extensive trade he had developed to his contacts at home. They were heavily reliant on Frederick Skinner’s good relations with the sultan of Banten. Each of them ‘desire[d] his [Skinner’s] introduction of us to ye Sultan’. As soon as the English arrived, Skinner resigned from his agency and began to charge the Company for the rental of the Old Company’s House (presumably secured for Skinner by a property deal with the sultan).

The sultan of Banten’s protection of Skinner against the Dutch and the English became a matter of acute importance. On 10 December 1658, Skinner took his account books as agent to the English Company’s officials, but fled: ‘immediately after prayers (wthout the privitie of his wife as herself was pleased to stay)…to the Sultans Protection’. Not only was Skinner aware of the prayer schedules, but he was also more concerned to seek the sultan’s protection than to secure the safety of his wife. According to the Company, Skinner had made it clear to them that he would not return without assurances in writing ‘under our hands…that [they would] not Mollest his person’. Skinner saw the situation differently, claiming that the Company ‘hunted him out of ye Compas House like a dog, and that he had Certain notice we would deliver him over to ye Dutch his deadly Enemies, who would certainly carrie him for Jaccarta’.24 The Company nonetheless satisfied itself that they could obtain sufficient redress from Skinner by occupying his house.

Skinner was also trying to evade various local creditors including the sultan (his total debts amounting to 12,000 rials). What Skinner characterised as protection by the sultan may also have been forced incarceration to encourage prompt repayment. But it was just as likely that his alliances with the sultan and his officials encouraged them to use the debts he owed them as a pretext to target the Company, which in their eyes he remained a member of. These angry creditors were now targeting the Company for redress (since they occupied the House) and sought payment of Skinner’s debts by pressurising the Company, choosing to view Skinner as a company official when it suited them. The Company was therefore approached by a local Bantenese offical, Kay Radding, who proposed that Skinner’s debts offered the Company the opportunity to secure trading privileges from the sultan. Radding advised them that Skinner owed the sultan 7,000 rials and that if they wished to secure a trading concession and local protection ‘ye Sultan Chop (or Seale Royall) for our security’ these debts would have to be paid. Meanwhile, however, Skinner lobbied his host the sultan to have his pepper (still under Company custody) consigned back to him to pay his debts to the sultan ‘wch the Sultan would not deny’.25 So regardless of the extent of Skinner’s debts to the sultan, the latter was willing to prioritise Skinner’s interests over those of the Company. The sultan may also have calculated that the pepper was of more value to him than Skinner’s dubious promised value to the Company. Skinner, on the other hand, never took his eye off the Company’s assets as a means to settle his debts; he knew he could rely on the strength of his relationship with the sultan to outmanoeuvre the Company.

By January 1659, Frederick Skinner remained imprisoned at the sultan’s palace. He invited the English officials to have a ‘collation’ (informal gathering) with him. The Company duly hosted this meeting at their fort to celebrate Skinner’s daughter’s birthday—surely an occasion the Company would be unlikely to celebrate unless as a pretext. Skinner arrived that evening but remained outside. His visit displeased local officials who still considered themselves to be in control of Skinner. Dutch sources suggest that Skinner willingly entered English protection but was then assaulted by one of the English Company’s factors. By their account, this factor, Mr Edwards, entertained Skinner over dinner (with much alcohol) then locked the English house and threatened his captive with a cris (an Indonesian magic dagger). The sultan intervened to try to free him, but the Englishman kept the house closed. The sultan then threatened to have one of his nobles storm the compound. This led Edwards to release Skinner and to seek an audience with the sultan, who initially denied him this; but eventually, when allowed to speak, Edwards outlined the Company’s claims against Skinner.26

From the Dutch perspective, the sultan had protected Skinner. The English, however, saw the Bantenese as either bribed by Skinner or angered by the extent of his debts to them. This difference in perspective might be explained by the way in which the sultan’s officials began to target the Company’s property seeking to clear Skinner’s debts to the Bantenese state. From the English point of view, the sultan’s officials were ransacking various English warehouses and godowns looking for Skinner’s goods, and—due to the debt Skinner owed the sultan—treating the Company’s goods as their own. They believed that sultan would rather push the Company for capital to satisfy Skinner’s debt to him than to push Skinner. It is probable that their tendency to view matters like this only highlights the perceived intimacy of Skinner’s relationship with the Bantenese authorities. This approach would also be consistent with non-European powers’ opportunistic refusal to see a difference between the capital-rich company (an easy source for debt collection) and an individual they had personal relations with.

Meanwhile, Skinner tried to arrange a homeward journey. His brother in London, Daniel, informed him that ‘ye Compa are still Insenced against him’ and that he could help to arrange exile for Skinner in Italy with the help of a Dutch or Danish ship. The reason Skinner was able to move without interference was because he also had a ‘chop’ (the equivalent of a state supplied trading privilege) from the sultan. By 24 February 1659, Skinner was able to leave Banten and sail home, with the Dutch also agreeing to grant him safe passage, and the Company, despite their trouble from him, agreeing to give him a full send-off. But tellingly this honour was extended to impress the sultan; it may well also have been in celebration at the removal of a competitor.27

As Frederick Skinner sailed back for England, the waves made by his extraordinary activities in Banten and Jambi had already hit home. In addition to the Company’s concerns about his malfeasance, officials of the Company would find themselves targeted by suits from the Skinners. The two company officials charged with intercepting Frederick Skinner, William Curtis, and John Chambers were arrested on their return to England in July 1657 ‘at the suit of Frederick Skynner in an action for 12,000l’.28 Such was the wealth and power of the Skinner family that these suits would be brought immediately against the Company’s servants, rather than the other way round. Frederick had kept his family at home abreast of his strategy. This information led his younger brothers, Daniel and Thomas, to try to make a further family voyage to Jambi to gather and repatriate more of the wealth he had acquired but had been unable to take home. On 13 June 1657, Daniel Skinner took out an insurance policy on a family ship, the Thomas of Dover (for the suspiciously low figure of £1,150). Thomas would sail an empty ship to Jambi to recover the rest of Frederick’s fortune.29

*

Thomas Skinner arrived in Jambi in January 1659, just days before his brother Frederick was to leave Banten. Prior to his departure, Frederick wrote to Thomas from Banten to reassure him that the Company’s factor at Jambi, Thomas Leaver, would help him, despite Frederick’s poor reputation with the Company at home. Frederick added that he had asked Leaver to forward some capital (in cash or pepper) to help Thomas establish his business at Jambi.30 It helped that Leaver was related to the Skinners by marriage. Frederick outlined to Thomas the extent of his transnational trading networks including a ‘Don Fernando Mannell’ who ‘may lade on Goods he has of mine, & pay freight for its transport to Maccassr’.31 Frederick also appears to have liaised with the king of Jambi’s ambassador when the latter was in Banten. It was hoped that Frederick’s ‘juggling’ would provide the transnational alliances for Thomas to establish an impressive business at Jambi. A ship arriving undermanned like Thomas Skinner’s and without any kind of cargo was always likely to arouse suspicion, however. Dutch observers confirmed that Thomas arrived at Jambi to complete his brother’s scheme: ‘arriving with few people and no capital for commerce…but got enough capital through his brother to trade in pepper’.32

Thomas seems to have enjoyed initial success at Jambi. As he later explained to the Company in May 1659, Thomas believed he had followed the example of his older brother and secured ‘a Chop or Seale from ye King to protect himself & affaires in Jambys Dominions’. This favour from the king also extended to a generous gift of ‘ye Island Bralla lying some 3 or 4 leagues from [the] ffishing town of wch he hath taken posession’.33 But this was Thomas’s account to the Company once it had begun proceedings against him for the settlement of his brother’s debts. Correspondence between Frederick and Thomas in January 1659 offers a different view of Thomas’s command of the Thomas of Dover and suggests that even before Frederick had left Banten, Thomas’s project to evacuate Frederick’s ill-gotten gains had failed.

Frederick admonished Thomas for alienating the list of contacts Frederick had carefully assembled for him. He then advised Thomas to travel to Banten where, again, Thomas could rely on his brother’s network: ‘so it be wth freedome of his person & Goods, twilbe better’ than Jambi.34 Frederick’s strategy of using Jambi as a haven for his goods and a route for them back to England was briskly undermined by his brother’s incompetence. Frederick therefore advised Thomas to move to Banten where he would be more assured of protection from the sultan. Frederick also suggested that Leaver should come to Banten to claim capital from the Company that the sultan had kept for him. Frederick believed he could advance the interests of both Thomas Leaver and his brother if they travelled to Banten where the sultan was more likely to target the Company’s assets and disperse these to Leaver so he could save face with his Company bosses. Thomas Skinner could then return funds to his brother. Frederick clearly felt that the strength of his alliance with Banten would help his younger brother complete their mission.

The Company believed, however, that the Dutch had helped Thomas Skinner obtain the chop and property that he received from Pangiran Ratu, the king of Jambi. They also believed that the Dutch helped turn the Jambian authorities against the Company. The Dutch, they explained ‘animates Mr Skynner against them, and seem to be his interpreter before ye King’. English letters sent to the Dutch (from Leaver and Robert Streete—another East India Company factor) also recorded English accusations that the Dutch provided financial and logistical support as well as access to Frederick’s goods.35 But Frederick had secured other foreign allies for Thomas. The Company observed how local officials in Jambi favoured Frederick’s cause. That Thomas was able to intercept Company letters at Jambi was evidence to the Company that his support ‘must spring from some Persons in Town (by his Brothers means)’. The Company regarded the intimacy and influence that Frederick had over the Jambi and Banten authorities with distaste. Company officials in Banten acknowledged: ‘That its very probable ye Sultan here may write to ye [officials in Jambi] in Mr Skynners be half for his Brothers sake (who had some way of pleasing this Sultan, wch we want, or like not)’.36 The local primacy of the sultanate of Banten helped Frederick support Thomas in Jambi. This was a strategy that Frederick Skinner had implemented, which the Company felt reticent, initially, about replicating.

The re-establishment of the Company’s monopoly in 1657 and the anger that the Company felt in response to Frederick’s conduct at Banten—as well as at his debts to the Company—combined to ensure that the Company pursued Thomas in Jambi with impressive vigour. The Company immediately targeted Thomas for the goods they believed he had secured from his brother, which the Company viewed as their own. The Company claimed that Thomas had 9,454 rials of his brother’s and that Frederick owed the Company perhaps 24,000 rials in total. Frederick had clearly underestimated the loyalty that Thomas Leaver felt for the newly established Company. A confrontation between Leaver and Thomas Skinner took place on 30 March 1659. Leaver explained how he had warned Skinner in ‘a faire, Civill, & ffriendly’ fashion to turn over his brother’s goods to him, but that Skinner had ‘refused to obey our said Orders’.37 The dispute hinged on Leaver’s loyalty to the Company; whether he would pillage the Company’s assets to satisfy his kinsman (Skinner) or appropriate Thomas Skinner’s cargo to uphold his oath to the East India Company. Leaver opted for the latter course. He seized Thomas Skinner’s cargo sometime in March 1659. Company officials, however, were too late to seize all of Frederick’s goods, since Thomas had apparently sold the most valuable part of Frederick’s cargo—a shipment of amber—to his Dutch contacts. Whatever he gained from these transactions, he chose not to display it. By 23 April 1659, Leaver wrote to Banten to advise that Thomas was in a ‘sad Condition, lying in Jamby River wthout any money’.38 Skinner immediately sought the protection of the king of Jambi.

It is evidence of the Company’s restored self-confidence after the issuing of the 1657 charter that Leaver chose to prioritise the Company’s interests over those of his relations, the Skinner brothers. The Company appears to have pursued the Skinner brothers with such determination because the sultan of Banten was pressing them for money to secure their trading privileges there. The only source they could find locally for such funds was to seek payment of the large debts owed to them by their former agent, Frederick Skinner. As discussed earlier, Skinner was also in debt to the sultan, but the strength of the alliance between Frederick and the sultan meant that the sultan preferred to target the Company for its repayment rather than Skinner, although this ultimately prompted the Company in turn to target Skinner. The sultan perhaps knew this and thought that he not only would have a better chance of getting his money from the Company, but this way could also retain Skinner as a contact.

Thomas Skinner pursued the Company in the Jambi courts later in April 1659. The Company’s summary of the legal process offers some interesting insights into Jambian law at the time. The Jambian ruler, styled as a king to distinguish him from his superior, the sultan of Banten, was to pass sentence after having heard both sides of the argument.39 Both sides submitted written testimony that neither the king nor his nobles could read. The Dutch—who could speak Malay—intermediated between Skinner and the Jambi king. A Company official, Robert Streete, read letters the Company had intercepted that proved Thomas’s goods were in fact Frederick’s.40 The Company’s case rested on this correspondence which proved that Thomas was using his brother’s (and therefore, as they saw it, the Company’s) money. The Company received Thomas’s correspondence after the king had ordered his port official, the shabander, to search Skinner’s accommodation at the Chinese-run lodging house he used.

These letters, written in February 1658, outlined how Frederick had been ‘plunder’d’ by the Dutch and that a friendly Fidalgo—Bantenese broker—had saved his fortune by lending him 6,000 rials to purchase diamonds.41 The Company asked that the king of Jambi and his nobles read this letter. Thomas Skinner strenuously resisted this which ‘caused ye Sultan [a revealing slip of title] & his Nobles to smile at Skynners ffolly’. But the king’s sentence showed that he doubted whether it was possible to prove if Skinner had proper claim to these goods without first contacting the Company at Banten. The king duly requested this, which ‘troubled’ Skinner. But the Company also noted that the contents of this letter indicated that Frederick had already primed two Bantenese officials, Ray Agoose Ponton and Ray Arreah, to brief the sultan of Banten about his rights, and to ‘mediate’ and lobby the sultan to convince him that the goods did not belong to the Company.42 The deference of the king of Jambi to his superior, the sultan of Banten, was to be Thomas Skinner’s saving grace and was due to the superiority of Frederick Skinner’s protection in Banten.

The situation therefore remained unresolved, but the Company saw enough during the Court’s proceedings to excuse and justify its seizure of Skinner’s property on the Thomas of Dover. The Company thanked the king of Jambi ‘for his respects to our Employers in ye matter of Mr Thomas Skynner [and] ye Chiefe Justice for his kindness also’. The Company had advised its Jambi factors to seize Skinner’s ship if ‘you receive he intends for ye Dutch’43 The Company had, for now, successfully outmanoeuvred the Skinner’s transnational network. But Skinner immediately used his Dutch connections to retaliate by seeking another hearing before the king of Jambi: ‘he threatens us continually, belching out his words wt he will doe to us in England, for hindering his voyage & robbing him of his Estate’.44

By June 1659, Thomas Skinner was at the Dutch house enjoying their protection which the Company strongly resented, reporting that ‘had they [the Dutch] not assisted him we should not have had halfe ye trouble we have already reciev’d & like to have by their continuall helping…’.45 Throughout the summer, Thomas Skinner continued to complain of his mistreatment by the Company and of the justice of his cause. He continued to argue that his activities enjoyed the sanction of the local legal official ‘Judge Kay Romongon’.46 Skinner rejected the Company’s rejoinder on 25 August that the ‘Natives…Pleadings are now at an End’ and preferred to lean on the local jurisdictional supports he enjoyed (because of his brother’s relationship with the Bantenese ambassador to Jambi) and appeared to suggest that his ownership of property on the island he had been given gave him local privileges.47 The Company continued to allege that the Dutch had assisted Skinner with ‘money & Counsell’ and helped Thomas to sequester his brother Frederick’s estate. It was Skinner’s seizure of his brother’s assets (presumably an estate derived during Company service and therefore in contravention of its rules on private trade) that led the Company at Jambi to seize Frederick’s estate ‘in his brothers’ hands’.48

In September, the English factors of the East India Company felt the wrath of the Dutch merchants. English officials sought to track down the cargo of amber that they suspected Thomas had sold to the Dutch prior to the English factors targeting the Thomas of Dover. The Dutch therefore felt compelled to protect Thomas when the English Company threatened to seize the amber. The English official at Jambi complained that it was difficult to get the amber out of Skinner’s hands because he (in alliance with the Dutch) ‘being grown soe Powerfull, & we at such a low Ebb’ that he was not in a position to find recourse at Jambi against Skinner.49 Learning of the English Company’s seizure of Skinner’s goods, the Dutch presumed that the amber they had contracted for with Thomas was now in the hands of the Company and they wanted it back. Later that month, the Dutch targeted the Company’s godown (presumably because he—Leaver—had seized Skinner’s goods): ‘wth about 40 White men, & 150 Blacks, wth weapons drawn, Matches lighted’. The local guard of the river warehouse refused to come to their aid. Without his protection the Dutch flew:


upon our People…& wound[ed] our said Chiefe, ffactors, & servants those on show. The assault continued with the assailants ‘Crying out sla dod, sla dod, & had Undoubtedly proceeded to commit Murther, had not ye Natives and Chinease Residing in our Compound timely stept in to their assistance, till some came from ye King, yett not wthstanding they Riffled & Pillaged our Godown & hourly threaten to Massacre us’.

The Dutch targeted Leaver because he had a claim on the amber that Thomas Skinner had sold to them.50

The level of menace captured in the Company’s eye-witness account suggests that stakes and tempers were running high. The Dutch became concerned that the violence of the situation would prompt a severe diplomatic and military reaction from the English state. The Dutch records contain a letter in which the Dutch express hope that ‘they [the English] will not make a second Amboina out of this factory’. The Dutch account then noted that the reason the English thought the Dutch violence would not amount to another Amboyna was down to the importance of the English to the local population, who, as a result sought to protect them.51 The English, apparently, and presumably Thomas Skinner as well, had been trading in pepper with the palimbang (a provincial official) and with the king’s mother.52 Nonetheless, the extent and drama of the Anglo-Dutch conflict in Jambi at this point clearly helped Thomas Skinner to fade into the background.

In response to the Jambi courts’ wish to defer to Bantenese legal judgement on the pivotal question of whether Thomas had taken possession of Frederick’s goods, Thomas Skinner proposed to travel to Banten to make his appeal to the sultan.53 In the end, he didn’t have to. In October, the Company dispatched Kay Tomongong’s (the chief justice) letter protecting Skinner to the sultan at Banten. But officials there replied to Jambi recounting how the Bantenese ‘strangly Admired ye King of Jambee durst not doe you Justice, & yt ye durst be soe Insolent as to Appeale from it; seriously contesting, yt had they done soe much here, he would have imediately Cutt ym off’.54 This obtuse remark offers another perspective on the Jambi courts hesitation in ruling against Thomas Skinner; they used deference to Banten (perhaps due to the sultan of Banten’s recent elevation to the position of grand shereef) to sustain a legal inertia that they hoped would protect Thomas Skinner. In any case, Thomas Skinner was sufficiently restored in reputation and stature by the legal vacuum to embark on new commercial ventures. Dutch sources observed Skinner allied with ‘5 bantens’ attempting to trade with a Chinese merchant on 11 October 1659.55 He was sufficiently well connected locally to be able to gather a cargo to sail home. The Dutch noted he was seeking passage for Johor and then to the Coromandel Coast around 2 November 1659.56 Protected by the Jambi and Banten authorities, Thomas Skinner would now attempt to cultivate the English authorities and legal processes to complete his commercial adventure.

The Skinner brothers’ entanglements with the East India Company in Banten and Jambi underscore the extent to which their ‘juggling’ of allegiances between the Dutch, English, Company, Bantenese, and Jambinese produced an unstable and disruptive network. But they also suggest that Skinner was vulnerable to Company seizure despite the legal protection he enjoyed from the king and the support he received from the Dutch. Even with this support, Skinner could not remain and trade at Jambi without the capacity to manipulate the East India Company as his brother had done in Banten. To realise the entirety of his commercial ambitions, Thomas Skinner would have to ‘wage lawe’ against the Company in England, as his brother Frederick put it.

*

Thomas Skinner arrived back in England in 1661, claiming (somewhat improbably) to have travelled across land from Jambi for over nineteen months ‘with great hardships’.57 He appears to have appealed to the English authorities against the East India Company as soon as possible after his return. Thomas took a very different approach to litigating against the Company than had his older brother. Frederick seems to have arrived back in England sometime in 1660. The Company tried to establish Frederick’s whereabouts, but he had gone to ground. Frederick’s father, Daniel, persuaded the Company that they form an independent panel to investigate the dispute between Frederick and the Company. The two sides agreed bail terms and a schedule for mediation. By 25 September 1661, Frederick Skinner appears to have settled with the Company by paying goods.

Rather than settle with the Company financially, Thomas instead began a full legal assault on the East India Company for recovery of the property he claimed the Company had arbitrarily seized from him in Jambi. Thomas sought compensation for lost trade and earnings from the plantation island the king of Jambi had given to him. From the outset, Skinner thought entrepreneurially about how to exploit England’s unstable and patchwork legal system. He understood that disputes emanating from foreign jurisdictions had no clear path through the English legal system; he also appreciated the great number of political and constitutional sensitivities around his case. The extent of his political network in England ensured that he could expect a serious hearing across most judicial branches, and the complexity and novelty of his claim would make it difficult to solve. This difficulty would push the issue through the system amplifying the potential constitutional repercussions at each stage. Because, in Skinner’s view, the English common law was ill equipped to decide a case involving matters concerning property owned overseas, Skinner first approached the king. Perhaps inspired by having benefitted from falling through the jurisdictional cracks in Jambi, Skinner mounted a legal battle in England with a strategy that made use of England’s constitutional fluidity.

King Charles formed a panel of mediators, the lords referees, to hear Skinner’s case. Skinner outlined his case to them on 12 November 1661.58 Skinner was determined that the court view his claim less in terms of the Company unjustly seizing goods from an interloping merchant, and more as the Company unjustly seizing property owned overseas and therefore affronting foreign jurisdictions. Stressing that the Company had ceased to enjoy enforcement powers against private merchants in 1654, Skinner placed his actions within the broader context of private merchants heading to the Indies to make their fortunes. Since he had sailed to Jambi in July 1657, Skinner highlighted that the new Company had not been formed until October and that he ought not to have been targeted as an interloper. Skinner also drew attention to the island that Pangiran Ratu, the king of Jambi, had ‘with advice and consent of his children and Council’ given to him; realising that as property, it would be a focal point for any legal claim. He described how he ‘did sow, plant, and build a house on the said island, in which he lived with his servants’.

Skinner also rested his case on the Company’s defiance of local Jambian power. Skinner argued that the Company’s seizure of his goods had been contrary to the orders of the Jambian authorities who had sought reassurances from Banten about whether Skinner had claimed property that rightfully belonged to his brother prior to authorising any seizure. Trading corporations like the East India Company were meant to balance the need to use concerted state-like power to impose prices and authority over their non-European customers with the need (heightened when faced with competition from independent merchants) to suggest that corporate management of overseas trade ensured more durable relationships with non-European powers. Skinner’s legal tactic was to undermine this pro-Company argument by demonstrating how the East India Company’s seizure of his property had disrespected the king of Jambi. As such, the Company had failed to manage the cross-cultural alliances central to international trade.

In their response, the Company appeared to confirm these aspects of Skinner’s narrative. They highlighted the strength of Skinner’s local network. The Company admitted that they had proceeded against Skinner ‘before any answer came from the Sultan of Banten’ and that their agents would have ‘committed other acts of violence, if they had not been prevented by the natives, who of their own accord took arms to his [Skinner’s] defense and rescue’. Skinner was determined to depict the Company as being in breach of local laws and acting—in seizing him and his property—against the wishes of the local population. Skinner argued that the Company’s ill treatment of him had given him no choice but to seek safety among the Dutch. The Company, however, disputed Skinner’s account by emphasising that the king of Jambi had received confirmation from Banten that Frederick had given Thomas ‘in money and foods the sum of 9,454 rials’ without ‘claim or pretence of right or title to…of the goods…[by] their employers’ the East India Company.59 This confirmation contradicted the evidence that the Company had in its own letter books, which showed how the Bantenese refused to countenance Jambi’s seizure. The referees heard from Skinner that the English Company had ignored requests from Jambian officials to reunite Skinner with his property, leaving Skinner destitute and forced to travel overland back to England.

The Company countered this by highlighting Skinner’s dubious loyalties to the English state owing to his ‘Dutch extraction’. The Company argued that ‘all his embroilments in the East have been made to that nation’.60 The Company hammered their point home by arguing that Skinner had sought to undermine the very authority he was at that time appealing to for redress against the Company. They argued that

since his return home he has offered to sell his services to the Dutch Company to assist them in evading the just reparations due to the English Company, which have been established by such legal proofs as have induced the King and his Privy Council to insist upon the same.61

The Company also dismissed Skinner’s other central argument by downplaying the 1654 charter lapse as representing only an ‘irruption’.62 They also highlighted that their loss of enforcement power for their monopoly did not constitute an approval for private trade. In any case, they suggested, Thomas Skinner was aware of the restoration of the charter before he had arrived in Jambi. They also disputed the significance and importance of Skinner’s island. Using Dutch testimony, they described the island as ‘a rock’ with no useful berths and no fresh water.63 The Company also drew attention to the suspiciously small liability in the insurance policy that Thomas’s brother, Daniel, had taken out. They argued that Skinner had travelled light to go to Banten to first obtain the Company’s stolen estate from Frederick. When this had fallen through, to make the most of his shipping, he had gone to Jambi with amber and pepper supplied by his brother. Company servants had applied to the king of Jambi to seize these goods because Frederick was indebted to the Company. Thomas pleaded that these goods were his own and not his brothers.64

The Company was, however, willing to accept the cornerstone argument of Skinner’s case: that the local legal authorities had disapproved of the Company’s seizure. The Company corroborated Skinner’s account by noting that the king of Jambi had ruled that he would wait for further endorsement from the sultan of Banten before authorising the Company to proceed against Thomas Skinner. The Company argued, though, that rather than simply ignoring this ruling, they had intervened because Skinner had ignored the king’s ruling and had begun to trade his goods with the Dutch. As far as the Company was concerned, the Jambi court’s hiatus had been meant to stall Skinner’s trade as well as to hold off the Company’s seizure of goods until confirmation had come from Banten. At this point in the dispute, the Company added a new twist by deploying a set-piece of pro-company propaganda: that non-Europeans were always the initiators of despotic action. As such, the seizure had stemmed from Jambian rather than Company action. According to the Company, it was the king of Jambi’s official, Kayavero Berbanza, who had boarded Skinner’s ship, not a Company official. The Company ended by trying to isolate Thomas from his brother by noting the settlement they had reached with him.65

Unable to reach a decision, the lords referees allowed the issue to lapse. Skinner appeared to have the stronger case. But the East India Company was a powerful organisation that would not wish for the courts to rule in favour of those they would deem to be interlopers. In any case, there was little or no precedent in English courts relating to what authority should be given to the legal processes of foreign courts—an issue at stake for both sides. Encouraged by the reception of his plea with the lords referees, Skinner then approached the Court of Admiralty. The Admiralty had for centuries helped settle disputes on maritime matters. But they did not have an easy process for deciding about wrongs committed against English subjects within foreign jurisdictions.

The Court of Admiralty had been established in the fourteenth century to assist in the prosecution of pirates operating between England and the Mediterranean. Parliament had attempted to limit its jurisdiction to matters arising at sea, but the Tudor monarchs had extended its purview. The shift from Court of Admiralty to Common Law control over commercial litigation has been held up as a core expression of the shift to more efficient courts in the protection of the property rights of merchants.66 Chief Justice Edward Coke abruptly and in earnest began to challenge the Admiralty jurisdiction in the second decade of the seventeenth century. Coke denied the court’s right to judge contracts made on land, at home or abroad, and its jurisdiction over offences carried out at home or abroad. In the middle of the seventeenth century, however, the Admiralty Court was popular with merchants.67 Merchants favoured having recourse to the Admiralty courts because it provided a surer jurisdictional common denominator for what were often international disputes. In the late 1660s, Josiah Child lamented the painful process that merchants had to face in seeking justice. Starting in the Admiralty, a suit would then have to be passed onto ‘the Deligates’, and then to the Court of King’s Bench where the suit would be frustrated by constant talk at cross-purposes: ‘we [the merchants] being amongst them as in a Foreign Country, our language strange to them, and theirs strange to us’.68

Thomas Skinner appeared to relish the jurisdictional promiscuity that the English system provided for international merchants bringing unfamiliar and complex matters before the English courts. The Admiralty responded favourably to a hearing with Skinner, and the judge requested a response from the Company in November 1662.69 The Admiralty granted Skinner permission to consult the Company’s papers.70 Noting the importance that Skinner (and presumably the lords referees) had placed on Jambian perspectives of Skinner’s case, the Company sought to gain a more detailed insight into what had taken place in Jambi and wished to gather this information from non-Company sources. The Company therefore requested commissions to examine witnesses in Jambi and—because Skinner presumably had rested his case on these documents—wished for ‘translations of the chops and instruments, which he pretends were granted by the King and town of Jambi, etc, with facsimilies of the seals to prove their truth’.71

In 1663, after the Company had gathered more intelligence, they proposed that the reason the Jambian authorities had seized Skinners’ ship was not because he traded the Company’s cargo with the Dutch. Instead, the Company emphasised that Thomas (and therefore Frederick) had been heavily indebted to the Jambians.72 The Company was denying the seizure that Skinner had accused them of. Instead, confirming the weakness of their case, the Company sought to direct attention away from the seizure of Skinner’s assets towards the Dutch assault on the English at Jambi, blaming Skinner for it and claiming that the Company had lost $100,000 as a result. The Company continued to tar Skinner with his Dutch background by revealing that his mother was Dutch and dismissing Skinner’s boat as an ‘old Flemish’ vessel.73

Making no further progress before the Admiralty, but nonetheless noting that the Company was not receiving decisive support, Skinner hoped, in August 1664, to convince the king to constitute another civil law court: the Court of Constable and Marshall ‘or Commissions pro hac vice’. What precise jurisdictional advantages this court would have offered Skinner’s cause are not clear. But Skinner went to the trouble of assembling precedents for the use of this court ‘which were about 200 years since and somewhat obscure’. The attorney general proposed a common law trial instead. Under Chief Justice Edward Coke’s leadership, common law courts had come to encroach on aspects of the Admiralty jurisdiction—especially claims that merchants made over disputes that happened overseas. For Coke to proceed in this way, he had to sustain a legal fiction: that the contract or offence had happened—for legal purposes—in England, when it had in fact occurred overseas. It is evidence both of the resistance to Coke’s trick and of the extent of Skinner’s intimacy with the monarch, however, that crown lawyers debated this move and looked favourably on Skinner’s preference for a Court of Constable and Marshall because ‘the Marshall’s court has to deal with all matters not capable of settlement by common law, or offences committed out of the realm, and that Skinner’s case certainly comes within this range, his complaint being for wrongs by feats of arms out of the realm’. 74 No court was constituted, however.

Instead, the issue was left with the Privy Council: a body that was as much political as judicial. Again, Skinner made the king of Jambi’s authority and the East India Company’s rejection of it the pillar of his case. Having had partial success up to this point, Skinner did not alter his legal strategy. Skinner’s initial petition to the Privy Council inquiry in 1666 stressed that the king of Jambi had disapproved of the East India Company’s conduct.75 Skinner claimed that he had planned to make the island he had received from the king of Jambi ‘a Publiq Example’ of how the English could begin cultivation of pepper for export. He added to previous accounts by noting a death bed confession from Thomas Leaver that his actions were ‘unjustly against mee’. Skinner also suggested that the Company’s actions against him ‘calumniate[d] the King and people of those parts’ and revised his earlier computation of his debt from the Company to £34,000.76

The Company responded to Skinner’s petition on 28 September 1666, outlining how the justice at Jambi had seized goods of Thomas that were ‘in parte of a debt due to the Company from Fredericke Skynner’. Clearly becoming concerned about the favourable reception that Skinner’s arguments were receiving at the Privy Council, the East India Company expressed a willingness to compensate Skinner ‘at a level’. But they disputed Skinner’s account of events by mendaciously denying any instructions to seize his ship and by instead suggesting that ‘the King of Jamby and Ichore seized and kept the Shipp and Goods on shoar [to be]…seized by Chineeses and other…Creditors’.77 Since their own letters disputed this version of events, it is no surprise that Skinner continued to enjoy the favour of those at the top of the political and legal establishment. The Company hoped in pursuing this approach to depict the Asian rulers as the domestic audience would wish to view them—as capricious despots with no respect for private property. This framing also contradicted Skinner’s depiction of them as judicious monarchs who ought to be respected by the English state and its legal processes.

Clearly more impressed by Skinner’s depiction of the Jambian authorities, King Charles leaned on William Morrice (his secretary) to tell the governor of the East India Company that the king expected them to satisfy the complainant ‘in some proportion’.78 Various unsatisfactory means of redress were attempted over 1665 and 1666. In September 1666, the king and lord chancellor pressed the Company to settle with Skinner or make a representation to the king explaining why they disagreed with his assessment that ‘in his opinion the complainant had been much wronged and the Company would be wise to settle the matter handsomely’. Despite this pressure, the Company proposed a compensation payment of £1,500 as a gesture of good will.79 The Company appeared to be quite serious about paying this sum, having examined their books to ‘see if there is sufficient belonging to Thomas Leaver in the Company’s hands to make good the debt of 1,500 dollars to Thomas Skinner, and what effects either of the latter or of Frederick Skinner come to the Company’.80 Because Skinner revised his losses to £17,172, the committee of the Privy Council (rather than Skinner) declared the Company’s offer unreasonable. On a further petition from Skinner, the king referred the issue to the highest court in the land—the House of Lords.81

*

The speed with which Skinner’s case passed between these courts suggests two things: the constitutional issues the case raised were hugely complex and not easily confronted by any court, and that King Charles II was supportive of Skinner’s position. Bearing in mind the king’s recent reissuing of the East India Company’s 1657 charter in 1661, this is surprising. At the instigation of King Charles II, Skinner petitioned the House of Lords in January 1667. His petition arrived with the Lords at a time when that House was especially sensitive about its constitutional role and privileges. In particular, the it was prickly about its judicial function. Cromwell had dissolved the House of Lords. With their judicial authority condemned during the Civil War and Interregnum and having faced the possibility of being abolished entirely, after the Restoration of the monarchy the Lords was strident in wishing for its powers to be fully restored. The Lords appears to have taken its responsibility to private litigants—like Skinner—especially seriously. It viewed its judicial power as emblematic of the legal rights that many believed had been disregarded during the Cromwellian period. The Lords therefore became a receptive and popular place for the redressing of private grievances. Because of the interesting international dimension to Skinner’s case and perhaps also because of Charles II’s instinctive dislike of the London merchants who had acted ruthlessly against his father, Skinner’s plea looked well timed and well placed.82 But, resurgent with its new charter and well connected, the East India Company assembled a very effective response.

Skinner’s petition to the Lords dated 21 January 1667 echoed some of its earlier charges against the Company. The East India Company, however, radically altered its legal tactics as the issue appeared before the Lords. The Company hoped to use Skinner’s appeal to the Lords as evidence that the Lords aspired to an unsuitable constitutional role. In this sense, rather than inflecting the cause with larger constitutional implications to promote it, the Company saw the opportunity to discredit Skinner’s position through the happenstance of having the issue heard by a court that was not constitutionally qualified to consider it. The Company’s response came swiftly on 26 January. Clearly concerned about the charges, the Company attempted to hide behind what appeared to be a technicality by dismissing Skinner’s petition, alleging that it was an ‘Originall Complain[t] exhibited against the Respondents and is not brought before your Lordships by way of Appeale, Bill…or writ of error’.83

But this was less a technicality and more a major constitutional assertion. This approach plugged the Skinner issue directly into live debates about whether the House of Lords was the proper judicial arena for the judgement on ‘original causes’—that is pleas that had not been subject to review in lesser (but professional) courts. In practical terms, this was a nonsensical claim since Skinner had worked his case through several courts prior to reaching the House of Lords. The Company saw the possibility of constitutional crisis as the best means to create either a deadlock or a decision in their favour, bearing in mind the undisputed constitutional power of the Commons. The Company adopted the position of those in the Commons who wished to limit the jurisdiction of the Lords by preventing it from hearing cases with original cause.

While the Company upped the constitutional ante, it continued to feel nervous about the persistent judicial and executive support for Skinner. The Commons, now strenuously adopting the Company’s position, sought to question whether Skinner’s case could be answered in the ordinary courts. On 4 December 1667, the lord chief justice of the King’s Bench suggested that it could. The judges, however, admitted that the issue of Skinner’s property in his island could not be and was ‘not releavable in any ordinary Court of Law’.84 Skinner’s tactic had worked: by placing his property claims to the Island of Bralla front and centre of his legal strategy, he had increased his chances of politicising his case through participation in higher courts. This tactic proved to be flawed, however, because the East India Company showed itself able to use the same technique against Skinner. The Company nonetheless continued to fear Skinner’s reprisal. As leading figures within the Company’s Court of Committee, Maurice Thomson and Andrew Riccard, proposed on 17 December 1667, their actions in promoting the suppression of Skinner were merely in the service of the corporation and therefore they ought not to be held liable for them.85

The case’s possible constitutional reverberations were amplified significantly on 22 January 1668 when the Company’s Court of Committees approached the firebrand lawyer and Roundhead MP, John Vaughan. Vaughan was not a member of the East India Company. The Company requested that Vaughan examine their response to Skinner’s latest petition in order to devise stronger arguments to counter it.86 This response listed familiar claims from the Company but changed its tack on the legality (and corporate responsibility for) its factors’ actions in Jambi. The Company admitted that its officer had attacked and condemned ‘the [Jambian] King’s Minister and Officers accordingly to a Course of Justice in that place’.87 But the Company argued that these officials acted against formal Company orders.

Noting the Company’s climb down about this central point of the dispute, on 12 March, the Lords passed judgement in favour of Skinner. A committee, headed by the Lord Privy Seal, was appointed to assess the damages. Despite all the information they had to hand (that the records of the Company corroborated), on 20 April 1668, the Lords concluded that the Company ought to pay Skinner £5,000—a sum much lower than that for which Skinner claimed. In response the Company then appealed to the Commons via a petition on 17 April. This petition argued that all issues could be settled at common law apart from the dispute over Skinner’s island, which they argued must be settled by the king in Jambi. The petition ended by questioning the authority of the House of Lords to settle this claim.88

At this point, the full force of Vaughan’s determination to view the Skinner issue in constitutional terms became apparent. The constitutional strategy of the Company was its last defence against having to settle compensation on Skinner. It was clearly reckless for the Commons to propose to alienate the Lords as there were key legislative Acts emanating from the Commons at this point, including the impeachment of William Penn and the Conventicle Act (an Act to prevent Christians outside the Church of England from gathering in large groups). Vaughan wrote a petition dispatched to the Company’s Court of Committees via their solicitor, William Moses. These lawyers did not question the appellate jurisdiction of the Upper House. They echoed the first Company response to the House of Lords’ support for Skinner by taking issue with the way the Lords had, in the Skinner Case, provided judgement without any other ordinary law courts informing that judgement. They wished to prevent the House of Lords from setting the precedent that it could be the first legal port of call for those seeking redress. The Lords were not (for the most part) professional lawyers and so, they argued, precedent ought not to be set for undermining the professional operations of other courts. It was one thing for the Lords to rule over evidence scrutinised by professionals in other courts, quite another for the Lords to supplant those courts and those professionals by taking on fresh cases. Vaughan’s objection represented a broadening of the Company’s technical objection to the Lords’ hearing of Skinner into a full-fledged constitutional assault.

The extent of the Company’s support for the Commons, and the extent of both the Lords and the king’s support for Skinner is remarkable and requires explanation. Only three members of the East India Company’s Court of Committees were members of the House of Commons at this time (Sir William Thomson, the governor, John Jolliffe, and Sir John Robinson). One, Lord Berkeley, was in the House of Lords. Establishing the exposure of MPs to Company stock is difficult, but it is likely, through intermediaries and family members, that this was extensive. Clearly more important were the constitutional wrangles that were left hanging after the Civil War. The City of London, with the strengths of its ties to the East India Company, had proven hostile to the prerogative. After the Restoration, the king and the Lords would not have forgotten this and using the Skinner case to take a position against the Company might have seemed politically astute. Support for Skinner was no less remarkable but originated from a different arena. Historians have suggested that Skinner was able to keep his case before the Privy Council because of his ‘multiple connections’ with Penelope, Countess of Peterborough, who was close to the duke of York and through Skinner’s daughter, Mary Anne Delabadie, who was a trusted servant of the duke of York.89 Others have suggested that the case was deliberately placed by those with Puritan interests before the Lords to foment a constitutional crisis that would provoke the dissolution of parliament and, therefore, thwart other legislation—for example, the renewal of the Conventicle Act.90

The reaction to Vaughan’s petition was severe. The House of Lords regarded the text of Vaughan’s petition as a ‘Scandalous Libell’. Robert Blackborne, the Company’s secretary, and William Moses were summoned before the Lords to explain themselves. One clause in Vaughan’s petition aroused particular anger from the Lords—that which stated that: ‘the proceedings of their Lordship is not only grievous to your Petitioners at present but may also be a Precident of ill Consequence to all the Commonwealth of England hereafter’. In a way that emphasised that the Company leadership realised the radical implications of the petition, Blackborne described how the governor of the Company had ordered that the entry of the petition in the Company’s books be torn out so that ‘there shall be no Copy nor Entry of the Petition Extant to be seen by any man alive’. 91 In May, the deputy governor of the Company, Samuel Barnardiston, was asked to appear before the Lords. After provocatively showing the Lords the torn page where the offending petition had once been, Barnadiston and Riccard (the Company’s governor) were detained in the custody of Black Rod—the House of Lords’s official responsible for the maintenance of order. The Commons retaliated on 1 May by directing the serjeant at arms (the Commons equivalent of Black Rod) to take Skinner into custody for committing a breach of privilege.

This action further inflamed the situation between the two houses of parliament. The Lords resented recent votes in the Commons that appeared to strip away the Lords’ traditional constitutional privileges especially of the Lords as ‘ye higher Judicature of this Kingdom’ which they described as ‘a manner of Proceeding that shakes ye very foundation and constitution of Parliament and of ye Ancient Government of this Kingdom’.92 In May 1668, a conference commenced between the two houses to break the standoff. The conference reviewed the whole dispute, starting with Skinner’s initial petition. It became apparent that the Commons felt aggrieved because Skinner had been able to secure judgement against members of the Company without their access to a jury trial because he had pursued his claim through the Lords.

In ways that made the Commons’ argument that the Lords should not serve as the venue for original cause look ridiculous, the Company objected to the Lords having allowed: ‘of Affidavits taken before Masters of Chancery and a Judge of the Admiralty as proof in the said Cause’. The Company argued that they had not been given the ‘liberty to Cross Examine the said Persons making such Affidavitts’ even though the Company had participated in the hearings in the other courts. The Company pressed the constitutional argument further by asserting that they had been denied due process as a corporate person entitled to court room recognition: ‘the House of Lords not granting a Commission to the said Governor and Company for the Examination of their witnesses the same being desired by the said Governour and Company is illegall, and a Grievance to the Subject’, they suggested.93

The multiple ironies of this position (including the fact that Skinner himself believed he had been treated without due English process in Jambi) was not commented on. Both sides used leading Common lawyers like Serjeant John Maynard and Vaughan. They researched precedents for their position from older as well as more recent authorities. The Commons also sought to protect the right of all subjects to petition. The Lords focussed attention on Skinner’s claim for recompense for his island because judgement on this matter was not ‘achievable in ordinary courts of Westminster hall’ and because ‘the Island is part [of] the Dominions of a foreign Prince, and only determinable there, the said Island was purchased by, and belongs to, a subject of England’.94 This attempt by the Lords to extend their jurisdiction to the increasingly common issue of judging disputes about property transactions overseas would also have concerned the Commons.95 On 9 May, the Commons, affronted that their olive branch to the Lords had been rejected, declared that anyone helping in the execution of the Lords’ sentence against the Company was a traitor. Any determination to establish the facts of what had happened in Jambi had become lost in a morass of constitutional posturing, rivalry, and rhetoric.

The Commons proposed a bill to further antagonise the Lords. This bill ‘for limiting of Certaine Tryalls and Causes of Parliament and Privilege of Parliament and for future ascertaining the Tryall of Peers and all other his Majesty’s liege people’ threatened other aspects of the Lords’ jurisdiction.96 It was designed to prohibit any judicial proceedings involving the life, liberty, or property of any commoner of England, which had been brought before parliament as an original complaint other than those brought by the Commons themselves in impeachments. It would have protected all petitions to the House of Commons from subsequent prosecution, fine, or penalty by the House of Lords for the content of those appeals—and obliterated all mention of Skinner. This legislation would also have protected the property of ‘bodies politique’ like the East India Company within the House of Commons.97 The bill passed, but the Lords predictably voted against it.

The Lords then prepared their own more conciliatory version. They began by stating that the Lords found it ‘burdensome and troublesome to hear civil cases that could be tried in inferior courts’. They proposed to enact that ‘no trial or judgement in any civil cause shall in the future be had or given in Parliament upon any original complaint, other than breach of privilege of Parliament or breach of privilege of peerage, and other than in cases where no relief can be had in inferior courts’.98 The Commons rejected the Bill. The impasse was broken by the king in May 1668, who proposed that all the constitutional wrangling that the dispute had produced be expunged from the official record. Although Barnadiston was fined and he proposed to endure imprisonment rather than pay, his fine was mysteriously paid by another—probably the king himself—as a price worth paying to bring parliament back into operation.99

*

While Skinner pressed ahead with his claim, the victory in the larger constitutional question his case had prompted unequivocally rested with the Commons and with the East India Company. Never again did the Lords venture to assert a claim to original jurisdiction. More narrowly, and in practical terms, the crisis triggered by Skinner had served to warn off those litigants who had not already been heard before inferior courts. The Lords’ attempt to flex its constitutional muscles after the humiliation they had received during the Protectorate ended in embarrassment. While Skinner clearly wished to use the constitutional tensions between king and the Lords on one side and the Commons and the Company on the other to assist his own interests, the Company also appreciated the constitutional implications of Skinner’s (and his lawyers’) position. The deputy governor of the East India Company, as early as July 1664, understood that Skinner’s jurisdictional promiscuity would open access to the Lords for all those who resented the Company’s privileges: ‘both the Lords of the Council and the Company would seldom be free from groundless and vexatious clamours’.100

But the confrontation between Lords and Commons that the Skinner case produced had important implications for legal techniques to protect property rights against the prerogative. These would form important constitutional ingredients for English freedom. The impasse between Commons and Lords had been created when the House of Commons strenuously asserted that the Lords lacked jurisdiction to hear Skinner’s petition. Sir John Maynard, a leading constitutional lawyer, presented the Commons’ argument.101 He argued that Skinner’s claim was a ‘common plea’ which meant that Skinner could seek recourse in the common law courts and therefore could not justify appealing straight to the Lords. Maynard contended (following Lord Coke) that an Englishman’s fundamental legal rights were akin to property rights, forming inheritances of which he could not be deprived. Among such fundamental rights was the right to a jury trial before someone could be deprived of property. Since the House of Lords acted by summary proceedings without a jury trial, it was depriving a subject (here the separate legal person of the East India Company) of its common law rights.

Maynard’s position may have benefited the East India Company in the short term, but it was a double-edged sword. It assumed that the common law would protect property rights (and procedural rights akin to them) against violation abroad, perhaps even by prerogative authority. The judges’ position in Skinner that many property rights were portable, in the sense that they ‘travelled with’ an English foreign trader, may have appeared merely to apply to the longstanding legal fiction (authored by Edward Coke) that permitted English common law courts to hear legal controversies such as contract disputes that arose abroad and would otherwise have been within Admiralty jurisdiction by pretending that they had arisen in England.102 But if this view were applied to all future claims brought in England by traders against the East India Company, it would effectively deny the king’s law-making authority as to such traders’ property abroad.103

Maynard’s argument represented impressive legal gymnastics: he proposed to use common law traditions to protect the liberties of the corporate subject. His argument would later have huge influence in assisting merchants like Skinner who wished to protect themselves from the seizure power of the very corporations Maynard had sought to defend. The impasse in Skinner meant, however, that the issue did not have to be resolved. A sweeping common law argument to challenge the prerogative enforcement powers of the companies had nonetheless been formulated and would be taken up later in the seventeenth century by opponents of the companies.104 It would form a secure foundation for claims to uphold English freedom.

Nonetheless, the Skinner case did not discourage Charles II’s desire to use overseas trade to buttress the royal prerogative (and vice versa). Charles instead broadened his vision and hardened his resolve. His strengthening of Admiralty jurisdiction was not meant to help individuals like Skinner. Instead, a long campaign by the East India Company led by Sir Josiah Child to cultivate the king with bribes helped to strengthen the Company’s enforcement privileges through the provision of Vice-Admiralty courts that the Company could constitute overseas. Another decision, in East India Company vs. Sandys in the Court of King’s Bench, went in favour of the Company against another interloper and paved the way for significant constitutional support for the Company’s enforcement power.105 Whatever bad blood remained between King Charles and the East India Company was gone by the early 1680s.

Here lies another irony in the Skinner affair. It was the East India Company’s response to Skinner that saw the Company develop an intimate connection with Charles and his younger brother, the duke of York (also lord of the Admiralty) to expand Admiralty means to prosecute interlopers like Skinner overseas. Since Skinner’s own cause may have been sustained because of his personal and familial connections with the duke of York, perhaps the Company learned to emulate this technique as they became closer to the monarchy in the 1670s and 1680s in ways that allowed them to expand their enforcement powers further. In another twist, these new enforcement powers would be destroyed by the very arguments John Maynard had formulated to defend the East India Company from Skinner.

Skinner, meanwhile, continued to press his case. In the early 1670s, he shifted to print to try and broaden his appeal. This appeal added further facets to his case that had not been asserted by him at the time of his seizure: first, that he ‘contracted with several of the principal Members of the then deserted Company’ and thus sought to depict himself as doing the job of the company. He asserted that he had not been offered the opportunity to purchase a licence from the Company (under the terms of the Cromwell charter on payment of a £5 fee) and was instead insulted. Despite the Lords proposing that the Company award him damages ‘the Company, some of them being Members of the House of Commons, objected against the Jurisdiction of the Lords’.106

In the same year, Skinner’s case resurfaced in the Company’s Court of Committee records. On 9 June, the Court intercepted a ‘paper containing information if some practices designed by Thomas Skinner, to the prejudice of the kingdom and particularly of the East India Company’. Directors were ‘enjoined to secrecy on the subject’.107 The Court then passed the information they had received to government officials a week later.108 The letter relayed how Mr Baron (a Company official) had been in Paris and had met a Monsieur Lafeliere, an engineer who had recently returned from England where he had been in the English king’s service. Lafeliere explained that he had returned to France from England because he had received a commission from Skinner

to propose to the King of France, whether he would incline to be master of the English island of St. Helena, and if so it should be put into his hands, without any charge or trouble, and if he would only be protector of the island, there should be contributed to him a considerable sum.

Skinner then claimed to Lafeliere that he had already mentioned this idea to ‘Monsieur Colbert’, but it had been deferred as Jean-Baptiste Colbert, Louis XIV’s chief minister, wished to know who should undertake the enterprise. Skinner answered he had no order to mention anything before there was a contract on the subject. Skinner went on to explain the plan. Skinner, at his own cost, would go with two ships and take possession of the island. When the English East India Company ships arrived Skinner would ‘make himself master of them and bring them to France, or otherwise as might be convenient’. Skinner explained his motives to Lafeliere and his ‘good conscience’ in executing the plan: ‘the English East India Company had done him great wrong and injury, and he might in this or any other way seek his satisfaction’.109 Having earlier switched loyalties from English to Dutch (and back again), Thomas Skinner was now planning to serve the French king (and himself).

The same summer, Skinner had indeed requested safe passage by the Company to enjoy his island at Bralla, off Jambi.110 But neither the St Helena nor the Bralla plan transpired. Instead, Skinner reverted to litigation, submitting an exchequer bill in the early 1690s. In this revised account of the tussles in Jambi almost four decades earlier, Skinner (departing from earlier accounts) recounted that during the critical period in which the king of Jambi had sought information from Banten about the owners of the goods in dispute, the Company’s agents had resolved to ‘assassinate him’ and that he had been saved from violence by the ‘natives of Jambi’ and one nobleman of Jambi who had saved him from death in the streets of the town.111 Skinner remained as determined as ever to depict himself as a citizen of the world: protected by the Jambian authorities and just as likely to sell the East India Company’s assets to France as to the Netherlands.

*

Thomas Skinner’s case demonstrates how overseas expansion created constitutional issues that were solved piecemeal and how these solutions shaped English freedoms. The legal fiction of a faraway setting for English trade like Jamaica or Banten being part of an English parish did not appear to be a durable legal technique to underpin the expansion of England’s overseas commercial interests. Through Skinner’s actions, the way was paved for constitutional change at home and major legal innovations about the jurisdiction of English courts that would bolster a new phase in the expansion of England’s interests overseas. Frederick Skinner’s greater skill at exploiting the Company’s assets overseas to divert only a small proportion of his gains back to the Company once he had settled with their lawyers at home made a mockery of the Company’s persistent attempts to prevent its officials lining their own pockets from the Company’s trade. The best balance between permitting company officials the right to participate in an amount of private trade that would encourage them to simultaneously develop the trade of the Company was yet to be found.112 The Company learned to find ways to free its officials overseas to make their own riches through private trade while appreciating that these elemental human urges could be harnessed to corporate benefit.

In 1661, the company officially withdrew from the country trade—Asian intercountry trade—and allowed its agents to occupy that commercial space. In 1667, trade in certain commodities, excepting pepper and calico, was opened between Europe and Asia. Officially allowing private trade simply legitimised existing practice. But in preventing Thomas Skinner from securing damages, the post-1657 East India Company had achieved a remarkable victory. It had prevented the Skinner brothers from translating their cross-cultural alliances into wealth at home in England. The strength of those alliances had assisted Frederick and Thomas and had ensured some constitutional collateral along the way, but the Skinner brothers were far from victorious in their dispute with the East India Company. In January 1668, against the backdrop (and perhaps inspired by the Skinner’s success at establishing cross-cultural relations in Banten and Jambi) the Company and King Charles cultivated the sultan of Banten’s support directly by despatching a brass canon worth £1,278, 16 s and 4 d.113

*

The case of cross-cultural alliances shaping English freedom that the Skinner episode shows is markedly different from the case suggested by the strangers’ consulage dispute in Smyrna. Although the Company’s presidency had recently shifted from Banten to Madras, Banten remained at the centre of the East India Company’s commercial plans in Southeast Asia; and although Jambi was a satellite of Banten, it did not provide the same distance from regulatory control that Smyrna had offered the Levant Company. Throughout the Skinner brother’s scheme, they sought to stay as close as possible to formal Bantenese state power as they could. They came to see the strategic decision to move their operations from the dominant regional power of Banten to the peripheral kingdom of Jambi as a mistake. In the end, Skinner’s case in Jambi fell between the two jurisdictions and this created a legal vacuum that he could exploit in England. This vacuum shows how the king of Banten’s elevation to sultan had personal consequences for the Skinner brothers and constitutional implications for England and her growing interest in the world beyond Christendom.

Rather than trading corporations using informal alliances overseas to outflank the interests of their state backers at home, as in the Levant Company case in Smyrna, in Banten local state officials formed alliances with officials within the Company who were willing to detach themselves from their state superiors to line their own pockets and assist the local Bantenese state in its competition with local rulers. Frederick Skinner was a disloyal employee of the East India Company who broke his oath of allegiance. Thomas Skinner was a free trading merchant who sought to seize the opportunity of the East India Company’s lapsed charter but fell foul of the newly established company’s energy in implemented its expanded charter privileges. Those factors of the Levant Company who worked with Sephardic dragoman did so in ways that explicitly advanced corporate aims. Unlike the Levant Company, whose right to the strangers’ consulage was confirmed at home, Thomas Skinner ultimately failed to secure the property he claimed in the English courts.

Nonetheless, what is common to both cases is the extent to which efforts made by the Skinner brothers and the Levant Company factors to forge cross-cultural alliances generated and channelled Sephardic, Bantenese, and Jambian initiative and power into English politics in ways that shaped English freedom. Ultimately both companies, Levant and East India, either used or responded to the cross-cultural alliances forged overseas with initiatives that strengthened their position at home: whether through securing rights to overseas taxes in the Levantine case, or by pushing for greater enforcement powers against interlopers and granting more latitude for Company officials to pursue private trade, as in the East India Company case. In both examples, the English shifted from an initial, formal corporate concern to outflank their European rivals in the region: Venetians in Smyrra, Dutch in Banten; to cross-cultural alliances with non-Europeans (Bantenese and Jambian for the Skinners; and Sephardic Ottoman brokers for the Levant Company) that challenged the ostensibly and strictly nationalist imperatives that had dispatched these merchants from England in the first place. These alliances created fissures in the national commercial communities that English trading corporations were meant to represent. These fissures created political and legal disputes in England. These disputes informed the articulation of English freedom. Overall, both cases saw the practical realities of cross-cultural trade in global settings expose the inadequacies of legal techniques designed for a former time when English commercial entanglements overseas were more sporadic. Neither the monarch’s monopoly over the actions of strangers nor the legal fiction that trade disputes in Jambi should be depicted as happening in England could survive the intensifying and escalating cross-cultural trades of the seventeenth century.

*

In 1669, the leader of Jambi, Pangaran Ratu, achieved the same eminence as the existing leader of Banten and became a sultan. But from the later years of the seventeenth century, the kingdom cleaved into two polities, with the downstream (hilir) sultan at the court at Tanah Pilih (the site of the present city of Jambi), supported by the Dutch East India Company, and another ruler upstream (hulu), under the patronage of the Minangkabau ruler at Pagaruyung.114 In 1678, Banten would enter a conflict with Batavia that would see the former eclipsed and the Javanese kingdom fade into obscurity. In 1680, the sultan of Banten, Ageng Tirtayasa had a dispute with his son, Abu Nashar Abdul Qahar. The Dutch supported the son. In 1682, Sultan Ageng dispatched an embassy to England to seek support. The sultan, who had given a reprieve to Thomas Skinner, would now plead for the backing of the English state against his son. King Charles entertained his emissaries in lavish style. They toured the newly planted garden of the East India Company governor, Sir Josiah Child, at Wanstead to the east of London. But, like Skinner, the embassy failed to achieve its goal and Ageng had to surrender authority to his son. Having embroiled the European powers in his gains, Abu Nashas effectively granted power to them in the aftermath of his victory. The Dutch finally achieved their eclipse of the Bantenese sultanate and the English abandoned Banten to consolidate their possessions on the Indian sub-continent—especially the Coromandel outpost of Madras that had begun to assert itself against Frederick Skinner a quarter of a century before.
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Prince Bibe of Ouidah and the Freeing of the English Slave Trade, 1679–1694


In the early 1670s, the yevogan (trade manager) for the king of Hueda, Prince Bibe permitted French slave traders to establish a factory at Ouidah the principal commercial centre of Hueda on the northern coast of the Bight of Benin.1 According to one observer, Hueda’s overlord, the kingdom of Allada, permitted the development of this trading post to punish its rebellious port town of Offra because the growth of Ouidah’s trade would be to the detriment of Offra’s.2 Sensing this geopolitical opportunity, the Hueda leaders instructed Prince Bibe to set about creating an autonomous commercial centre that could develop without surrendering control or identity to either Allada or the European powers that had been operating on the coast for two centuries. Bibe proved successful in implementing this design by tempting officials of the English Royal African Company to reject its own corporate, commercial strategy and supply Ouidah with trade at the Company’s expense. This helped Hueda keep Allada at bay and tethered the commercial and territorial ambitions of the trading corporations dispatched by three European nations—Dutch, English, and French—to Huedan interests. It also saw the established port town of Offra work alongside the emerging commercial influence of Ouidah from 1671.3 Hueda created the free slave trading port of Ouidah, which would become the largest embarkation point for enslaved Africans in the entire history of the transatlantic slave trade.4 English slave traders who wished to operate beyond the monopoly of the Royal African Company would rebrand the Huedans’ commercial control as a new and defining aspect of English freedom.

This achievement involved Bibe initiating cross-cultural alliances with European merchants, wresting them away from their corporate employees, and attracting independent merchants to Ouidah. Unlike the more spontaneous, opportunistic alliances forged in Banten, the alliance between English merchants and Ouidan officials and traders was planned, compelled, and sustained by the Huedans from their inland capital at Savi. The success of their free trading model began to enrich the independent merchants who arrived in huge numbers across the eighteenth century. The extent of his success, the completeness of the Ouidan’s defeat of the English Royal African Company’s ambitions, and the special intimacy between the African Company and the English state all ensured a more profound domestic career for these cross-cultural alliances than in either the Smyrna or the Bantenese cases. Signature determinants of English freedom were rationalisations of Ouidah’s victory over the African Company.

Since the fifteenth century, forging alliances with European merchants had been a means for West African communities to achieve greater autonomy from their regional rulers. The Kingdom of Allada itself had achieved this through an alliance with the Portuguese which helped them achieve greater independence from the dominant regional force, the Yoruba. At a time when persistent cold weather and rainy seasons of vastly differing lengths disrupted harvests and accelerated conflicts, Allada’s rulers saw stronger commercial ties with European merchants and slave traders as a route to achieve greater independence in their relationship with the Yoruba. Allada initially excelled as an importer of European cloth. By the 1570s, Allada began a trade in enslaved people that hailed from less centralised polities like Great Popo to the west. Although Allada was a small, decentralised federation in the early sixteenth century, by the seventeenth century it had diplomatic ties with Spain and exported its goods to Brazil and Angola. By 1660, the capital city of Allada boasted a population of around 100,000 people and an army that could reach 40,000.5

Allada initially followed Yoruban styles of political organisation: hereditary kings with tax raising and judicial powers, a capital city, and who ruled over a network of tributary towns (like the port town of Offra). But further political centralisation often resulted from commercial integration with European powers. Portuguese activity in Allada exerted a profound influence over Allada. Unlike Benin, Allada’s centralisation post-dated the arrival of the Portuguese and so Portuguese became the language of commercial interaction there. So, in trying to use European trade to break free of the influence of the Yoruba, the Allada people adjusted their political culture to fit with the practices of their European interlocutors.

The king of Hueda’s vision of international trade at Ouidah, however, would reverse this direction of cultural and political influence. Watching Allada’s example, the king sought to attract large numbers of European traders from various nations to the emerging entrepot of Ouidah beyond Allada’s established port town at Offra. The variety of Europeans would diffuse any commercial, political, and cultural domination they could exert over Ouidah. Working on behalf of the king of Hueda, Prince Bibe would not only seek to eclipse the established port of Offra but he also marginalise the control of regional powers like Allada. Bibe would also ensure that the Europeans themselves were clients of Ouidah in a slave trading market controlled by Ouidah. Bibe developed a free port to conduct the slave trade away from existing slave trading centres on the African coast where the potentially restrictive practices of European merchant companies held sway over African interests.6 Bibe choreographed cross-cultural trade to ensure that European merchants outbid each other for African products and human beings. In a society defined by hereditary kingship in which justice flowed from the monarch, and taxation of trade and production flowed to him, the ruler of Ouidah was the presiding figure, supplying, taxing, and controlling all aspects of the trade.7 Ouidah’s ambition therefore went beyond outflanking her regional political rivals to a grander commercial and geopolitical vision that sought to attract as many European slave trading ships as possible to Ouidah without surrendering commercial, political, or cultural autonomy to them.

Ouidah’s ambition was at loggerheads with the founding principles of most European slave trading nations’ approach to that trade. Europeans who operated in West Africa either were working under the strict controls of their domicile states—as with the Portuguese—or operated via monopoly companies like the Dutch West India Company, the (French) Senegal Company, or the English Royal African Company. These institutions were designed to concentrate each nation’s selling and buying power into a single organisation to impose prices and business practices on local vendors like Prince Bibe. The king of Hueda proposed and Prince Bibe developed a trading model that was designed to respond to this attempt to control African slave trading markets. They wished to dissolve the buying and selling power of the monopoly companies in the free port of Ouidah by attracting more purchasers and therefore manipulating increased demand into higher slave prices (through a control of the supply of enslaved Africans from further inland).8 (Map 4.1.)
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Map 4.1 Ouidah on the West African Coast





The king of Hueda did not seek to dispense with the monopoly companies entirely, however. Ouidah wished to host these companies while rejecting their European remit as vessels for coercive power. Bibe and the king of Hueda wished to retain them as larger players in a marketplace of Europeans bidding up the price of enslaved human beings. As in Banten and Jambi, the companies were welcomed as heavily capitalised carcasses for merchants from all nations to feast upon; whose assets and goods would be the playthings of wayward factors, interlopers, and—in this case—West African rulers. As in Banten and Jambi, Ouidah proposed to corrupt servants of these companies into serving their interests and then demonstrated to Europeans that independent merchants would not only be tolerated but would prosper. But the level of premeditation was greater in Ouidah than in Banten and Jambi. Ouidah’s control over the European companies was far greater than the sultan of Banten’s. The Skinners were more opportunistic than strategic in defrauding the East India Company with the sultan’s help. Corporate officials of the Royal African Company were compelled to uphold Bibe’s vision. This level of control in Ouidah produced a correspondingly greater impact on the domestic deliberations about the development of England’s engagement with the transatlantic slave trade.

The history of the structure of the slave trade involved the replacement of state-backed monopoly companies with independent merchants. The shift was inspired and prompted by the free port devised at Ouidah. It was implemented by a mutually beneficial commercial alliance between free trading English slave traders and the vendors who served them in Africa. This was the beginning of the emergence of the largest trafficker of enslaved Africans peoples to the New World. Traders transported over four million enslaved people from Ouidah. It was the most prolific slave embarkation point because it made conditions for European monopoly companies most difficult. In undermining the monopoly companies, the ruler of Ouidah’s vision would also present constitutional questions and challenges, and ultimately, changes in the English courts, in the English parliament, and in a reconsideration of the meaning of English freedom.

This chapter explores the West African contexts from which this trading system emerged. It examines the formation of cross-cultural alliances and traces the influence of those alliances back in England onto the argumentative definition and purpose of English freedom. But the power dynamics within the cross-cultural alliances between Ouidan and English traders in enslaved Africans were different from those outlined in previous chapters in this book. This chapter shows how Ouidah forced employees of the English Royal African Company to pursue private trade and encouraged others to set up large-scale slave trading operations independent of the Company that would serve as important precedents for the deregulated trade that replaced the African Company from the final decade of the seventeenth century. The chapter demonstrates how the public campaign in England to free the slave trade from the enslavement of the African Company’s monopoly involved repurposing and rebranding the initiative, vision, power, and insistence of the king of Hueda as the victory of an inherently English liberty.

This rebranding was necessary because of the depth of cultural prejudice in the mercantilist mindset towards the customs of trade of foreigners that continued to dominate policymaking about overseas trade in seventeenth-century England. The changes to English policy insisted upon by that power would have to be explained through a process of profound cultural repatriation; a process that attached deep-seated, nationalist expressions of freedom to the expansion of the slave trade. In the context of Anglo-African trade, race amplified this inclination not to credit or adopt this trading framework. The free trade in enslaved Africans that the ruler of Ouidah proposed and Prince Bibe precipitated was not immediately promoted with reference to English merchants at home in theoretical terms. These conceptual positions had not been convincingly advanced in the seventeenth century. When opponents of monopoly companies advanced a free trade argument, they did so in a legalistic way celebrating the rights of the English subject to participate in trade. These rights were advanced in the African case by the king of Hueda and Prince Bibe, though without reference to subjecthood, despite their use of king/prince distinctions in English discussions. As unregulated international commerce expanded in the eighteenth century and political economists established the conceptual framework to support this deregulation, frameworks like the one advanced by the rulers of Ouidah and Prince Bibe appeared real and pioneering. The cross-cultural alliance between West African and English merchants established and controlled initially by the king of Hueda and Prince Bibe would therefore play a part in providing the constitutional and theoretical bases for the free trade that would not only hugely expand the trade in enslaved African human beings but also become a mantra for the British Empire in the nineteenth century. Although the primary intention of the king of Hueda and of Prince Bibe was to protect the small state of Hueda from encroaching interests, this intention mapped onto and supported the English argument for free trade.

*

The Royal African Company was founded in 1672. It was the third incarnation of the ruling Stuart family’s attempt to kick-start a trade in enslaved human beings that had begun with the Company of Royal Adventurers Trading to Africa in 1660. Of all the English trading corporations established in the seventeenth century, the Company of Royal Adventurers was the most closely nurtured and protected by the English state. Initially interested in the gold and commodities trade, the Company shifted to the growing trade in enslaved Africans to provide a labour force for the English possessions in the Caribbean: Barbados and Jamaica. Bankrupted by the second Anglo-Dutch War, Charles II re-established the Company of Royal Adventurers as the Royal African Company in 1672. As a vessel for the coercive power of the state, the Company’s West African strategy was simple: to ally themselves with one African polity against another to gain commercial footholds and prevent European rivals from expanding their influence.

The African Company enjoyed considerable constitutional power from the English state to implement this strategy; it was the only trading corporation at that point to boast the charter right to erect Vice-Admiralty courts that deployed civil law codes on the African coast to seize the cargoes and persons of interloping merchants. The English monarchy granted this power in response to the legal challenges interlopers like Thomas Skinner had made to the enforcement powers of other companies. They proved highly controversial and, at times, contestable. King Charles II’s brother, James, Duke of York, and lord high admiral, was the Royal African Company’s governor, leading shareholder, and assiduous supporter of the Company from its foundation to his abdication from the English throne in 1688. Because of the Company’s strength of association with the royal prerogative, interloping on the Company’s trading privileges became an act inflected with heightened constitutional significance.

Although the Company adopted a severe approach to tackling interloping, it plagued the Company from the beginning. The Company used the intimate connections it enjoyed with the Admiralty to request Royal Navy ships to enforce its monopoly in the Atlantic. In 1676, the Company’s Court of Assistants briefed King Charles II on the scale of interloping in violation of ‘his Charter’. The Company noted the importance of local African support for these infractions. The minute mentioned ‘those natives’ who were encouraging interlopers. These early examples of competition became formalised later by the Ouidan strategy implemented by Prince Bibe. The minute went on to announce that the king had ‘been gratiously pleased to appoint his Shipp hunter to be forthwith fitted out and sent to those coasts for the better security of his Subjects and ye Trade’.9

This intimacy between the Company and the English state proved fateful for both in the long term. In the short term, however, the collusion between the navy and Company that the involvement of the duke of York encouraged proved dangerous for interlopers. Nonetheless, the perception that this collusion was constitutionally inappropriate would assist a major threat to the duke of York’s right to succession to the crown that became known as the Exclusion Crisis. Beginning in April 1679, the Royal African Company was the focal point of these deliberations.10 Proponents of exclusion used the duke of York’s support for the Royal African Company as part of their justification. At the centre of this parliamentary debate was the ship Hunter that the African Company had used to intercept interlopers on the African coast. The Hunter had also targeted what the African Company called ‘the natives’. Exclusionists began to target the powers that the duke had used to stop independent slave trading. By acknowledging the cross-cultural alliances between English interlopers and African officials, proponents of Exclusion were unwittingly assigning West African slave vendors a role in domestic constitutional deliberation.

Parliament established an enquiry into the activities of the Hunter.11 This enquiry sought to establish whether ‘His Majesty’s navy’s support for the Royal African Company was legal and appropriate’.12 This was to be led by members of parliament representing the City of London and all members who were merchants. Such a constituency was likely to have an unfavourable opinion of the activities of the Hunter because, by the 1670s, many London merchants had begun to consider mounting independent slave trading voyages. Provincial merchants in parliament also resented the African Company’s attempt to engross trade to London. One London merchant was William Dockwra, an entrepreneur, Whig propagandist, and the founder of London’s penny post system. When Dockwra assembled a cargo bound for Africa (along with Edmond Harrison, John Thrale, and Thomas Jones) on the Anne, their ship was intercepted and her cargo seized by a Royal Navy frigate, the Warwick. Officers on the Warwick imprisoned the Anne’s crew at Cape Coast Castle, the African Company’s headquarters.13 Parliamentary deliberation over the next few weeks would ensure that more merchants began to step forward to petition the House of Commons complaining of the seizure activities of the Hunter.14 The speed with which they did so confirms that interlopers in the African trade had viewed the weakness of the duke of York’s political position as a commercial opportunity. Interloping in the slave trade would serve a political and constitutional purpose.

Although King Charles quashed attempts to exclude his brother from the succession, the Company’s response in England to the threats to its survival that the exclusion campaign represented were substantial. The Company sought the opinion of three esteemed lawyers (Thomas Corbett, Sir John Maynard, and Thomas Turnor). Maynard would implicitly support a position diametrically opposed to the one he offered with reference to Thomas Skinner and the East India Company by confirming the monarch’s right to monopolise overseas trade. This trio was asked to verify the legality of the Company’s Vice-Admiralty enforcement powers and they duly obliged. Reassured of their constitutional power, the Company then enlisted a naval Captain Richard Dickenson to patrol the African coast in search of interlopers.15

*

In Africa, however, the Company responded to Dockwra’s interloping in a circumspect fashion. The Company enjoyed far fewer means to uphold its interests in Africa than it did in England. This rendered its overall divide and rule strategy naïve. News of the parliamentary campaign against the Royal African Company had emboldened interlopers throughout West Africa. According to the Company these interlopers made ‘great braggs of assistance that they expect from the Parliament [which according to the interlopers] gives permission to goe Trade at Guynia’.16 The Company used the expansion of interloping to seek to discredit this embryonic open trade model. It emphasised the extent to which a swarm of interlopers would destroy the carefully engineered balance of power on the West African coast. The Company saw naval protection for the trade as essential not only to prevent interlopers, but also because the West African commercial environment was one that required a naval presence. An open trade, with no naval protection, would lead, according to the African Company, to lower prices paid for English products and a glut of goods that would lead to a situation in which ‘the Blacks when they see the Towne full of goods set ye houses a Fire and Run awa[y] with all their goods’.17

The Company saw the open trade model implied by the interloping merchants as ill suited to managing the trade in a civil and lawful manner. As one Company official put it: ‘(under the pretense of trading) they [the interlopers] only come to Robb and Steale’. The same official related that an independent merchant had imprisoned a local fidalgo (regional governor). This violence led ‘the Countrey People [local Africans]’ to threaten ‘to kill all the English that they mett’.18 The African Company recorded another interloper who shot at African Company officials attempting to seize him and killed one of the African Company’s gromettoes (castle servants). This official complained that he ‘could have taken the ship had I had power…to Kill’.19 The African Company’s Africa-based officials wished to portray the interlopers as ruthless, violent, self-interested merchants who would disrupt the good relations the Company had established with the polities of the West African coast. They used this nightmarish depiction to discredit the farfetched notion of an open trade and to seek maximum constitutional and state support for their operations there.

Although the Company sought and received backing for its seizure powers at home, the Company’s factors at Cape Coast repeatedly complained about their lack of direction and confidence in intercepting interlopers. The agents worried about which legal code they could use to make seizures and whether the Company would indemnify them. They highlighted the difficulties of implementing the Company’s signature Vice-Admiralty courts. In September 1678, Company officials complained ‘We have not a word of instructions or orders from your Honors how to proceed against Interlopers…neither have wee any person here Learned in the Civill Law to constitute a Court of admiralty Legally to condemne them’.20 Interloping therefore became a form of resistance to Stuart tyranny, an emblem of English commercial birth rights. Agents at Cape Coast began to describe interlopers in the slave trade as part of a fifth column within domestic politics.21 The Exclusion Crisis was therefore fuelled by, and its political distinctions projected onto, commercial disputes on the West African coast. Conversely, commercial disputes between English interests in Africa from the outset of the African Company’s operation shaped domestic constitutional and political deliberations.

By the mid-1680s, however, backed by royal naval frigates like that captained by Richard Dickenson, the Company at Cape Coast achieved some success against interlopers. In 1681, the chief agent at Cape Coast Castle, Henry Greenhill, had complained that ‘Interlopers swarme’ and blamed this expansion on local vendors who ‘keep slaves for them’.22 By 1683, however, Greenhill declared that the Company was able ‘to hinder the Trade of Interlopers’ and that they were ‘glad to understand the Restraint put on Interlopers’.23 By 1685, the Company’s governor, James, Duke of York, was now also king of England. The Company sent out better armed naval frigates to protect his investment in the Company.24 The governor of Barbados, Edwyn Stede, was also the African Company’s agent on that Island. With the Company hierarchy firmly planted within state infrastructure at home and overseas, it could advance its cause against the interlopers.

The Company would completely fail, however, to achieve any kind of power over the West African rulers it was supposed to awe and bridle. Interlopers had been able to use the Exclusion Crisis to wedge some independent slave trading voyages into the African Company’s supposed domain. But their numbers remained low. The strength of the African Company’s position in England prevented the interlopers from trading to Africa in large numbers. That was about to change, however. A fully imagined vision of free trading in enslaved Africans was about to appear having been devised by the king of Hueda and then implemented by his regional official, Prince Bibe. A joint alliance between English merchants buoyed by a belief that they were protecting the freedoms of Englishmen and West African slave traders who operated outside the Company’s limited sphere of influence and who wished to attract as many merchants to their ports as possible ensured that the transatlantic slave trade would expand hugely in the eighteenth century as a free trade. This outcome contravened official European policy, but lined the pockets of many, and it raised the prices of enslaved Africans. It also created increased social, cultural, and personal disruption for the enslaved Africans trafficked as a result of Bibe’s and the king of Hueda’s economic and diplomatic policy.

*

Cross-cultural commerce on the West African coast forced Europeans to navigate a complex dynamic of local rivalries and allegiances. Neither corporate nor free trade prevailed. Despite their best efforts, no single European nation had the upper hand. Trade reflected the preferences of local rulers and merchants. European trading companies struggled to control markets and to prevent rival European companies and interlopers from forming more profitable alliances with vendors of the enslaved and their suppliers from the interior. The monopoly companies achieved greater control in areas where they could fortify. Forts enabled the companies to siphon, manage, and protect trade.25 When criticised at home, the companies repeatedly cited the forts on which most of their capital was spent as the primary part of their justification. What the English called the Gold Coast was one such area. This was part of the region populated and governed by Akan-speaking peoples, Denkyira, Fetu, and Ewe and Ga polities, with different political and economic structures. Even where they fortified, Europeans’ hold over their trades and territory was often weak in West Africa. Most European companies paid rent to the local owners of the land on which the forts were built.

Interlopers naturally gravitated towards the regions where forts were more difficult to establish. These were the areas to the east of the Gold Coast known by Europeans later, because of the concentration of slave traders there, as the Slave Coast. This region was dominated by the Kingdom of Allada which was inhabited mainly by Fon people. On the less rocky, sandy lagoons of this region where it was impossible to build forts, there was little Europeans could do to protect their interests and secure their trades other than forging alliances with local rulers. These alliances often made Europeans dependent on local rulers for the supply of carriers and canoe men to maintain communications between the factories and the ships on the sea roads. Many of the canoe men were brought or travelled from the Gold Coast, rather than being Fon themselves.26 Although it was more difficult for trading companies to fortify near Allada, this did not prevent them from seeking to develop trades in the Fon region.

The Bight of Benin was dominated by the interior Kingdom of Allada, which ruled over the coastal, slave vending port of Offra. Offra became a popular setting for European slave trading merchants in the middle of the seventeenth century. Offra was managed by a local vendor-broker referred to by the English as a fidalgo, the Portuguese word for someone of status.27 Against the backdrop of escalating tensions between the port of Offra and its overlord in the interior, Allada, previously peripheral dependencies, like Hueda, could attract more of the expanding European trade. Europeans brought and traded firearms which gave those coastal states with smaller populations the opportunity to translate their commercial ties into a way to assert themselves militarily against the larger interior powers who had ruled them.28 With Offra in rebellion against Allada, Hueda took the opportunity to develop a trading centre at Ouidah about 30 kilometres to the west of Offra. In the early 1670s, Hueda appears to have despatched a regional official, Prince Bibe, to establish this breakaway slave trading enclave. Bibe’s official, but subordinate position at Ouidah was confirmed by the French traveller, Jean Barbot who described how Bibe kept one cannon ‘at the village by the sea’ while the king of Hueda kept four ‘before his door’. The French were the first Europeans to establish a lodge at Ouidah in 1671. The emergence of Ouidah eroded the established power of Allada and colluded with and then eclipsed the port town of Offra.

Ouidah was meant to be a haven for European trade, away from the increasingly fractious relationship between Offra and its overlord, Allada.29 Although Allada’s grip over this region was to be softened by the emergence of Ouidah, Barbot suggested that Allada sanctioned the expansion of trade at Ouidah to ‘punish his rebellious subjects [at Offra], by directing the trade through a different route than the one following the river which passes to Offra’. This strategy helped the French to supplant the Dutch who had sustained a factory at Offra for some time. The French could now start their own operation at a new trading centre, Ouidah, away from the Dutch, and supported by Alladan state policy.30

Ouidah was designed to attract European merchants because it offered lower customs duties than rival ports. The Ouidan capital, Savi, was also closer to the coast, than the Offran capital, making it quicker for European merchants to pay the required customs duties. According to Barbot, at Little Ardes, the capital city of Allada, the duties paid to complete a slave trading voyage were seventy to eighty enslaved people. At Prince Bibe’s free port at Ouidah, the duties were less than half this at thirty-two to thirty-five enslaved people.31 This low tax policy helped Ouidah to expand and to become, by the end of the seventeenth century, the premier slave trading port on the West Coast of Africa. Later, a German traveller, Johann Peter Oettinger, described Ouidah as a place characterised by commercial potential as well as strict local control. According to Oettinger, on ‘[a]n endless expanse of yellow beach’ were built ‘solitary huts for accommodating the wares which were landed or [for] the slaves who were to be shipped’. The explorer added that ‘The King reigns despotically: everything is subordinated to his will’.32 The success of Ouidah helped it to achieve greater autonomy from the inland Alladan kingdom which had established them.

The English Company of Royal Adventurers had established a factory at Offra prior to the development of Ouidah in 1664. This company’s successor, the Royal African Company, took over this factory in 1672 as the rival French presence at Ouidah developed. Despite the competition from Ouidah since the beginning of the decade, the English regarded their commercial prospects at Offra with some optimism in the late 1670s. As the Company officials assessed the situation: ‘The inhabitants [of Offra] are pretty Civill a great trade may contin[u]e hefore…ye Honours [the Company’s] interes’. ‘[I]f wee have but goods’ they added ‘wee may purchase 6 or 7 thousand slaves a year’.33 Such hopes were soon dashed, however. With war between Offra and Allada restarted in the late 1670s, the English were trapped between the two powers. Offra asserted independence from Allada at this time to establish its own customs regime to entice more European traders. War between Offra and Allada resumed and led to the destruction of the port town at Offra including the English factory there.

At this point the African Company considered relocating their slave trading operation on the Bight of Benin from Offra to Ouidah under the management of Prince Bibe. Noting the growing European trade at the port, but unaware of Bibe’s free port strategy, the Company began to propose shifting personnel from Offra to Ouidah. This prompted strong resistance from the Offran authorities and saw the English take sides in the growing conflict between Offra and Allada. Allada, which was no longer in control of Ouidah, hoped to dissuade the Europeans from further enriching Ouidah. Allada urged the Royal African Company to establish a new factory at Apa to the east advising that Offra was preventing the supply of enslaved people to Ouidah as part of a conflict that had begun between Offra and Ouidah.

In May 1681, the English appeared optimistic about peace on the coast. ‘The King [of Ouidah] and Phidolgo [of Offra] are great friends againse and are desireous of a free traid’.34 The following month, the African Company official at Offra, William Cross, recorded that trade at Offra looked possible again. Officials of the African Company were especially excited about the prospect of connecting the two ports. This would strengthen the Company’s bargaining power as it could play both ports off against each other. African Company factor John Thorne could see the strategic advantages of maintaining both Offra and Ouidah as slave trading bases. Thorne advised his superiors at Cape Coast that ‘keeping both places will be a furtherance of the dispatch of all ships you shall send downe’.35 The Company remained convinced that its divide and rule strategy could work.

*

Such a plan was doomed to failure. The Royal African Company quickly came to realise that tensions in the area would prevent them from enjoying this kind of commercial latitude. From this point onwards, the African Company’s attempts to impose their interests on the coastal regions of Allada would fail. The African Company factor, William Cross, noted how the English presence at Ouidah frustrated their operations at Offra. This proved to be an understatement. Officials at Offra began to ban any trade with the English so long as they persisted in their presence at Ouidah.36 Rather than playing Ouidah off against Offra, Company officials became pawns in the rivalry between these two African ports. They faced the threat and experience of violence and detention from both sides. Unable to impose themselves on behalf of the Company, the factors became embroiled in Ouidah’s free port plan. The king of Hueda and Prince Bibe would use the African Company’s trade and personnel to expand the scale and improve the dynamism of their free port at Ouidah.

In the summer of 1681, the fidalgo at Offra imprisoned the African Company factor, John Thorne, who had been selected by the Company to shift the Company’s operations from Offra to Ouidah. Thorne later explained the circumstances of his detention. He claimed he had been imprisoned by the fidalgo at Offra ‘for noe other reason then my leaving his country, for the service of the Royall Company’.37 According to this account the fidalgo at Offra and not the English, would decide whether the English company would develop their trade at Ouidah. The fidalgo at Offra wished to use Thorne’s factorage to secure commercial advantages from the Company. Regardless of Thorne’s ambition to realise company strategy by establishing a slave trading network that covered both Offra and Ouidah, the authorities at Offra objected, preferring to detain Thorne to allowing the English to have simultaneous access to multiple ports in his trading hinterland.

Later, however, it became apparent that Thorne’s detention was more likely a smokescreen for developing a private commercial alliance with Ouidah. Hueda’s focus on building Ouidah as a port was meant to erode the commercial dominance of Offra. In the short term, however, the rulers of Ouidah and Prince Bibe calculated that it was in their interest to collude with Offra. European merchants like Thorne would provide the agents to facilitate this collusion, but they would need to abandon their corporate allegiance to do so. In seeking to punish Offra by supporting the commercial prospects of Ouidah, the Alladan leadership had inadvertently favoured the two coastal cities in ways that would, in the long term, diminish Alladan power in the region. Thorne had exploited the European fixation with conflict between Offra and Ouidah to explain his imprisonment and direct corporate suspicion away from his development of an interloping operation of his own. He turned the African Company’s avowed divide and rule strategy on its head. Instead of using corporate power to favour one side, he converted the corporate weakness that led to his incarceration into a chance to participate in Ouidah’s free port. Other Royal African Company officials would emulate Thorne’s approach.

Incarcerating African Company officials proved to be a default strategy for the leaders of both towns, Ouidah and Offra. In July 1682, frustrated by John Thorne’s detention at Offra, the African Company despatched another factor, John Winder, to establish a factory at Ouidah. But, like Thorne, Winder was similarly detained in November of that year. Again, Winder claimed to be at the mercy of the fidalgo of Offra who wished to prevent the English leaving that port and transferring their interests to Ouidah. As Winder explained:

I being detained here by the Phidalgoe, who is very sorry that the Royall Company should have ay thoughts of settling at another place, this having been the residence for their people this many years, soe will not let me leave it, but hopes the Royall Company will alter their resolution and continue their trade with him.38

Winder hoped to suggest that, knowing the growing scale and dynamism of the port of Ouidah and the Royal African Company’s desire to participate in that trade, the Offran authorities, still reeling from the destruction of their town, wished to fix the English factors there in the hope that they would side with the Offrans. But Winder’s story had suspicious similarities with Thorne’s. The free movement that both Winder and Thorne enjoyed while they were supposedly detained suggests that they had begun to operate beyond corporate regulations and as part of the collusion between Ouidah and Offra. Thorne and Winder naturally sought to obscure their activities from their corporate employers. But the Company’s inability to control its operations in these settings is clear. Vendors of enslaved people from Offra oversaw where on the Bight the African Company could operate. The English were not even able to select their own factors. Company officials attempted to move a Mr Boyde into position as factor at Offra in place of William Cross. But the Offrans who preferred Cross prevented it.

Up to this point, the African Company had noted the growing importance of the slave trade at Ouidah and wished to trade there. But they did not realise the ways in which the free port model designed by the ruler of Ouidah and implemented by Bibe created terms of trade that were contrary to corporate expectations. From December 1681, however, the Company began to learn more about this. The way they learned about it must have been unsettling and would likely have aroused further suspicion of Thorne. Apparently frustrated at his detention in Offra, Thorne wrote to the Company to promote their participation at Ouidah. Since the Company had already resolved to trade there and had been prevented from doing so, Thorne’s letter should be read as an attempt to soften the blow to the Company on the news that Thorne’s incarceration at Offra was not what it seemed. Echoing other European observations about Ouidah, Thorne stressed the ‘quick dispatch’ ships experienced there. He added that Ouidah was a place: ‘more healthfull than Ophra and is a place of free trade for all ships that comes including French, Portuguese and interloping ships’.39 Voicing the ruler of Ouidah’s commercial strategy, Thorne was now thinking the unthinkable from the Company’s point of view: promoting (rather than cancelling) a trading location for the Company on the grounds that it was a focal point for interlopers. Thorne hoped to bring the Company’s capital into his commercial operations with Ouidah. At the least, his pitch would explain his own private operation once it was exposed.

Perhaps to distance himself from the interlopers at Ouidah, Thorne augmented earlier characterisations of the interlopers by describing how he had ‘done [his] best to prevent them [the interlopers], to the hazard of my life’. Thorne singled out an interloper called ‘Captain Beacon, who’ Thorne alleged ‘sett a pistole to my breast’. Thorne reassured the Company that the king of Hueda would create peaceful conditions for all merchants to trade, including the Company. Thorne offered what would become a notorious expression of the king of Hueda’s commercial strategy at his port: ‘the Blacks will have no striveing one with another byt will have all ships trade that comes’.40 Thorne wished to challenge the Company’s traditional divide and rule instincts by emphasising that such a plan would meet with Ouidah’s complete rejection. Ouidah was to be a peaceful entrepot for Europeans who would nonetheless strive (commercially) to outbid each other for the king’s supply of captives. Thorne recorded the credit and support that the king would extend to help achieve this vision of a free port for captives. According to Thorne (and others), the port of Ouidah was to be free to all commercial comers but was to be governed solely by the king. He dictated all prices and had first choice of all goods on offer.

The leaders of Ouidah therefore had achieved something remarkable: they had convinced African Company officials to promote free trade. Their credibility in doing this depended upon the realities of a buoyant interloping trade there. It began to become clear to the Royal African Company that some of this commercial vitality came from English interlopers. Petley Wybourne was the most important of these. Wybourne arrived at Ouidah in November 1681 and established his own slaving factory there. This factory became a major entrepot for enslaved people for the English interlopers, as well as rival European companies and interloping merchants from other countries. Wybourne traded with the Dutch, Portuguese, and with the Brandenburg Company. The Royal African Company monitored Wyburne’s activities and correctly believed that his factory represented a collusion between interlopers of all nations, factors of the African Company (including Thorne and Winder) and Huedan vendors.

As time went on, Wybourne began to undermine and eclipse the African Company in the region. He did so in the service of the king of Hueda.41 With John Thorne still seemingly listlessly incarcerated at Offra, the Royal African Company sent Arthur Wendover to oversee its trade in the region in July 1682. Rather than setting to work to develop the Company’s operations there, Wendover immediately gravitated towards Ouidah because of the success of the port and of Wybourne’s operation there. As Wendover explained: ‘generally there was the most company [in Ouidah], always one Commander or [a]nother begging of Captain Wyborne his assistance t[o] furnish them with slaves, for goods or gold, whoe always was ready to imbrace their dsires with his promises in great measure’.42 Instead of challenging Wybourne, Wendover began to document the ways in which Wybourne worked alongside wayward factors of the Company who used his factory to conduct their private trades.

The ease with which Wybourne courted Wendover began to create suspicions about the circumstances and activities of the two incarcerated Royal African Company factors, John Thorne and John Winder. The credibility of both men hinged on their depictions of the trading conditions at Ouidah, of which they should not have had direct knowledge because of their incarceration at Offra. It became apparent that both men’s incarceration did not impose complete restriction on either of their movements because of the collusion between the two coastal towns. Ill feeling between the two detained African Company officials began to emerge. Thorne alleged that Winder’s imprisonment by the Offra fidalgo was not what it seemed. He suggested that Winder gave different explanations for his incarceration to different parties. According to Thorne, Winder informed the Offran fidalgo that his company superior, Smith, requested that he leave Offra to establish a rival factory at Ouidah knowing that the fidalgo would object and detain, or in Thorne’s word ‘protect’, him. The implication was that Winder was putting the interests of the fidalgo ahead of those of the Company by seeking to blame the Company for his disloyalty to Offra in seeking to move to the port’s commercial rival, Ouidah. This would have helped his position with the Offran authorities and may therefore have helped him serve them in a personal capacity.

But, according to Thorne, Winder also simultaneously wrote a letter to the African Company manager, Mr Smith, explaining that he could not travel to Ouidah because of his imprisonment by the fidalgo. Smith replied offering to help redeem him from the Offran fidalgo. At this point, Thorne had Winder change his story. Thorne meant to show that Winder did not wish to be redeemed and that his detention in Offra served his own interests. Instead of citing his imprisonment by the fidalgo, Winder began to deny being forced to remain at Offra. To explain his decision to remain there, Winder instead offered a depiction of the commercial opportunities at Ouidah that was like Thorne’s portrayal but instead he downplayed the benefits that the Company could yield from trading there. Winder painted a picture of a place dominated by cut-throat interlopers and controlled commercially by the Huedan king who succeeded in bidding up prices and therefore making it a place where the Company could not make profits. Winder complained of ‘severall abuses [he had received] by whitemen att Guidah [Ouidah]’ and ‘held it not a place fit for a factory, in regard they had soe raised the prices of slaves to 25 per cent dearer than they are at Ophra’.43 Winder’s deflection strategy was therefore slightly different from Thorne’s: he discredited the Ouidan model to distance himself from it, rather than promoting it, in the hope that the Company would participate and then excuse Thorne’s involvement.

Thorne had Winder work out the commercial disadvantages the king of Hueda’s strategy would have imposed on the Company. However, Smith refused to accept Winder’s changed story and found his detention by African merchants a more credible explanation for his remaining in Offra than the unlikely notion that Winder had taken a principled objection to trading at Ouidah, despite the Company’s insistence he establish a factory there, because he believed it would be bad for the Company’s interest. In any case, Smith appears to have had enough experience of Ouidan trading conditions to contest Winder’s dystopian portrayal of the trade at the Ouidan free port. He therefore concluded that Winder had been kept against his will and could not say so in his letter because his correspondence was subject to interception by the Offran authorities. Smith resolved to redeem Winder and ‘came to Ophra in the night with a spare hammack and men arm’d’. But Winder—clearly resentful at the arrival of his rescuers—tipped off the fidalgo. According to Thorne, Winder put word around to: ‘some of the Phidalgoes people which lay at the gate (as they doe [e]very night) that Mr Smith was come to fetch him to Guidah’. As a result, ‘the towne was soone up in arms, which Mr Smith found to his cost, and seeing he could not get Mr Winder away return’d to Ouidah’.44 The implication was clear: the Offrans wished for Winder to remain there to sustain his interloping trade with Ouidah.

Having narrated this story, Thorne concluded that what Winder first characterised as imprisonment, then depicted as a rejection of Company orders that would suit their ends, was neither. Offra was a fallback position for Winder after he had become entangled in commercial complications in his private trade in the Ouidan market in enslaved people. Detention at Offra was a way to protect Winder from debts he had contracted from Prince Bibe while acting as an interloper at Ouidah. Apparently, Winder had borrowed from Bibe to purchase fifteen enslaved people at Ouidah and had not repaid the money.45 Thorne added that Winder was not welcome at Ouidah because he had alienated merchants there by slighting them ‘by a high and lofty carridge or abused by bad language’. According to Thorne, Winder clearly failed to appreciate the humility the king of Hueda expected from European merchants (whether Company affiliated or not) towards him.46

Winder naturally disputed Thorne’s story. He denied that he had asked the Offran fidalgo to protect him from his creditors. As with the sultan of Banten’s support for the Skinner brothers, it was clear that the indigenous officials—in this case the fidalgo at Offra, calculated that it was in their interests to help Winder (and Skinner) because they (fidalgo and sultan, respectively) could translate the protection they gave into commercial opportunity. He claimed that the fidalgo ‘had soe great a watch over me that I could not possiblye escape’. He rejected Thorne’s claim that he had no wish to be rescued by Smith. Winder countered Thorne’s story by casting doubt on the circumstances of Thorne’s imprisonment in Offra. Winder sought to implicate Thorne in his failure to escape Offra by revealing that Thorne enjoyed a measure of political power in Offra that imprisonment was likely to prevent. He meant to slip out in the night with Smith but was detained because John Thorne ‘sent the Blacks to panyare [detain] us’.47 Clearly locked in a disagreement with one another, Thorne and Winder’s relationship looked strained. But events proved that it was Winder rather than Thorne who was in a less powerful position with the local African authorities. The king of Hueda eventually forced Winder to come to him and Winder used Company resources to satisfy the substantial debts he had contracted there.

*

It is likely that Winder had used his factorage at Ouidah (which he managed under supposed duress during his incarceration at Offra) to trade with Petley Wybourne, contrary to the terms of his employment with the African Company. This explained why he did not wish to be rescued by the African Company officials. As the Company later reported, Winder was to exchange his goods at Ouidah ‘for gold, and the rest for cloaths’ and to sail directly to England.48 An African Company official, Timothy Armitage, suggested that the Ouidan authorities had objected to Winder’s collusion with them, but this was wishful thinking on the Company’s part.49 The reality was that the Company’s servants had helped implement the king of Hueda’s free port plan. Wybourne’s illicit trading factory had started to corrupt African Company officials as well as attract numerous interlopers. Another African Company servant, Captain Ware, had been supplying Wybourne with guns, ammunition, and materials for his fort.

Noting how he had corrupted the Company’s officials, diverted their capital, and ruined any prospect of a profitable company slave trade at the promising port of Ouidah, the Royal African Company began to target Wyburne via his brother, the Royal Navy captain, John Wybourne.50 The tone of Petley Wyburne’s response to the Company reveals the security he felt in sustaining his interloping operation there despite the Company’s threats. It also reveals his assured understanding of the free port model designed by the ruler of Ouidah and Prince Bibe that Wybourne benefitted from. Instead of seeking to suppress Wybourne’s operation, though, the Company sought to enlist his services. Wyburne proposed to accept the Company’s offer to serve them. But in doing so, Wybourne was careful to contest the assumptions that the Royal African Company made about the best way to conduct trade on the African coast. He argued, like many experienced Company officials who had conducted private trade and been challenged for doing so by the companies, that his private instincts would be of more service to the Company than misplaced loyalty to the Company’s flawed and ignorant commercial strategy. In this sense, he echoed Thorne’s earlier pitch for company participation in the Ouidan trade. Wybourne explained: ‘as I am upon my owne account here soe I doe all that I can for the good of trade, and if I doe well for my selfe I must doe well for the Company’.51 As a nimble, independent merchant, he could establish trading infrastructure and connections that the Company could, if it wished, benefit from. This argument undermined the persistent corporate view that long-distance trades required joint stocks because the infrastructure of trade—especially forts—required pockets deeper than independent merchants possessed.

Wybourne added that independent merchants like him could do far more to advance the Company’s interests that the Company’s own disloyal factors. Wybourne went on to blame the Company’s troubles on its ‘horne [sex] mad, brandy mad, boy mad, treacherous and foole mad’ factors who ‘hath made mee ashamed and troubled’. Wybourne appeared to mention Thorne and Winder when he explained that the environment on the Bight of Benin made African Company officials ‘treacherous by bribing the blacks to quarrel with their fellow servants and turne them out to get themselves into their places, by insnareing one another into ill actions and then wrighting against them’. Wybourne explained that the conditions of trade on the Bight of Benin ensured that Company trade would favour African rather than European interests because Company servants would be tempted to inform the locals ‘of the value of goods against their [European] masters’. Wybourne argued that his independence from the Company gave him sway over the local African slave vendors. This control extended to pressurising the Africans to favour certain Company factors over others. Placing his own collusion with Winder to one side, Wybourne claimed to have informed the king of Hueda of John Winder’s fraudulent practices and therefore helped save the Company’s reputation there. Regardless of Wybourne’s self-promotion, his operations depended greatly on the countenance of the Ouidan authorities and his own willingness to promote a trade there that favoured a diverse pool of European merchants, both corporate and independent.

In April 1683, those at the African Company’s headquarters at Cape Coast Castle began to tire of these entanglements. They were most concerned by the ruler of Ouidah’s success at increasing the price of slaves for Europeans. As Winder explained when he eventually arrived in Ouidah in June 1683:

I found the trade much altered in my absence, the people craveing to have the measure for booge [cowries] altered, and the price of slaves in many goods to be advan’d, which I refused to doe, itt being your express order to depress the price, and not to advance itt.52

Winder was by now trying to improve his reputation with the Company, but his remarks also reflect his own predictions and—according to Wybourne—his prior, direct experience of the trade. Other observers confirmed Winder’s view. In 1686, one Dutch competitor noted the huge expansion of English interest near Ouidah and recorded the local African rulers’ pleasure at this development. According to this observer, ‘the English and their interlopers do here at least four times as much trade as we [the Dutch] do’. This hive of English trading pleased the local African rulers (including Bibe), so the Dutchmen went on ‘because the English are doing a shameful competition to us’ by paying steadily higher prices for slaves.53

In 1687, presumably because of the extent of his prior success, Wybourne was appointed the Royal African Company’s factor at Ouidah. The extent of price increases at Ouidah exceeded even Wybourne’s imagination and the Company chastised him for failing to keep pace with these movements. In a letter sent by the Royal African Company to Wybourne in 1689, once Wybourne had agreed to formally represent the Company’s interests, the Company admonished Wybourne for ‘over straining the Point of buying cheap’ which would result in him (and the Company) losing their ‘Intrist in those people who may returne it upon you as they have on others’. The Company advised Wybourne ‘to remember our Proverb soe to live as you may let others live alo[n]e which is the strongest tye of amity and all other projects must be fatall’.54 Through the experience of Winder and Wybourne, the Company had come to appreciate that the Ouidan authorities required total commercial subordination from those Europeans who traded at their port.

The measurable effect of this subordination was the increase in the price of enslaved African people, which continued. Jean Barbot noted rising prices of enslaved people at Ouidah in the 1680s, confirming the Dutch view. Barbot recorded that enslaved people sold for 72 lb of cowries in 1681. This figure climbed to 100 lb of cowries per enslaved person in 1694.55 In 1704, a Dutch account suggested that huge expansion in the slave trade at Ouidah had increased prices by more than half in just four years.56 By 1711, a Danish observer described how the prices charged for enslaved people had tripled during the War of Spanish Succession (1701–13) and had been ‘absolutely ruined there because of the great crowding of all sorts of people and ships from many countries [in Ouidah to produce] in effect a free harbour, and the slaves,…cannot but be dearer and dearer’.57 The actions of Bibe and the king of Hueda’s design to encourage competition between European traders in enslaved Africans led to these price increase as part of their overall strategy to structure and encourage free trade. The king and his provincial subordinate, Prince Bibe, were the architects of this outcome, with English interlopers trumpeting the free trade cause as they pushed the price of captives up.

Petley Wyburne died in December 1690, but independent English slave traders operating from Ouidah would follow him in their thousands. Wybourne’s interloping model would ultimately become the default means for the English to trade in enslaved Africans for much of the eighteenth century. The durability of his model owed something to the changed constitutional conditions in England at around the time of Wybourne’s death. This helped to undermine the enforcement power of the Royal African Company’s monopoly and therefore provided constitutional encouragement for those larger numbers of independent slave trading merchants who sailed from England from the late 1680s onwards. At the time of the Exclusion Crisis, the cause of free slave trading had been intertwined with opposition to the Stuart monarchs. But the duke of York’s succession to the throne gave the Company a means to limit interloping. Once King James II departed England in 1688, the Royal African Company’s constitutional backing looked much less secure. As a result, many of the interlopers who had been seized off the Cape Coast reprised the legal actions against the African Company that they had started in the late 1670s, claiming that the enforcement power the Company used to seize their cargoes and detain them was illegal.

The deregulated English slave trade, however, could not have commenced without the wholesale rejection of the Royal African Company’s monopoly by those in West Africa who were meant to be intimidated and commercially curtailed by it. The most important condition for the development of Britain’s free eighteenth-century slave trade remained the economic system designed, implemented, and sustained by the West African kings and merchants themselves. Without the encouragement provided by West African rulers like the king of Hueda and their coastal brokers, like Prince Bibe, the Company’s model might have gained greater traction and interlopers would not have received sufficient support to intrude on the Company’s monopolies. The free port model which Prince Bibe helped establish and presided over undermined the Royal African Company’s best efforts to control commercial conditions on the coast of Allada. The commercial dynamism of this port by the early 1680s tempted African Company officials like John Thorne and John Winder away from Company policy. It also encouraged free trading English pioneers like Petley Wybourne. Wybourne, however, was just a cog in a commercial wheel of Huedan manufacture.

*

In June 1689, an English interloping slave trader, Jeffrey Nightingale, sued the Royal African Company at the common law Court of King’s Bench. Chief Justice John Holt turned this case into a trial of the enforcement powers of the African Company’s Vice-Admiralty courts. In his judgement, Holt emphasised the legality of prerogative-sponsored monopolistic trading companies. But he struck down the Vice-Admiralty enforcement method to protect that monopoly from interlopers. As the judgement read: ‘The King may create a corporation of merchants, and give them, by charter, an exclusive right to trade’. But Holt added that ‘a clause prohibiting others to trade within the said limits, under pain of imprisonment, and the forfeiture and loss both of their ships and goods…is void’. Holt ordered the Company to pay £4,300 in damages plus costs of £2 3s. 4d. to Nightingale. A later case, Dockwra vs. Dickenson (1696) saw William Dockwra’s claim against the Royal African Company (commenced at the time of the Exclusion Crisis) finally resolved in his favour and the award of substantial damages to him. Holt forced the company to pay £2,650 12s. to William Dockwra.58 Other interlopers whose cargoes and/or persons had been seized by the African Company during the 1670s and 1680s followed Nightingale and Dockwra.59 These merchants ultimately prompted a prolonged parliamentary deliberation about the usefulness of the Royal African Company’s monopoly as a tool to protect the nation’s interests. By 1712, this debate ended with advocates of a free trade in enslaved African people emerging victorious.

These court cases and public challenges to the Royal African Company’s reputation were financially punishing for the Company and certainly accelerated its decline. But they are far more significant as evidence of a profound alteration in the constitutional strictures that governed Englands growing participation in global trade. In destroying the enforcement power of the Royal African Company, these cases helped implement the king of Hueda’s free trading vision. There is no evidence that Nightingale or Dockwra had been to Ouidah. Nor did these merchants need to be instructed on how to trade in enslaved people. But there were risks of breaching the African Company’s monopoly rights in Africa and both fell foul of these in the short term. Wybourne and others, however, were able to trade without censure from the Company and with the protection of the king of Hueda. With the port of Ouidah growing in capacity and more independent slave trading voyages departing from it, the possibility of placing trading corporations to one side in the slave trade looked convincing. Nightingale and Dockwra’s court room victories and the triumph of the independent slave trade lobby in parliament took up elements of what Bibe and the king of Hueda had advanced at Ouidah. The African leadership did not wish to advance the interests of particular European nations, but the English interlopers proved to be most responsive to the economic system that Bibe implemented.

In passing the question of how the slave trade ought to be managed through the English courts, these cases gave constitutional traction to the commercial strategies of West African leaders, officials, and enslavers. Attaching the cause of independent slave trading to broader constitutional questions had been a political strategy of interloping slave traders since the late 1670s. The Glorious Revolution resolved some of these constitutional questions and amplified the association between a peculiarly English freedom and the right to enjoy access to free slave trading ports on the West African coast. Promoters of free trade used the court room context to gild the base commercial interests of free traders (whether African or English) with elevated, constitutional language. They broadened the narrower legal questions concerning trading monopolies’ enforcement power to associate the free trade in enslaved Africans with the constitutional primary of parliament.

The prosecuting barrister in Nightingale vs. Brydges, Sir Bartholomew Shower, argued that the independent slave traders’ vision of free trade expressed Englishmen’s ancient constitutional rights. Shower’s depiction developed Sir John Maynard’s argument in the Skinner case that English subjects enjoyed these rights wherever in the world they operated: they were inalienable and portable. As Shower put it: ‘Trial by Jury is the right of every English Subject all the World over, wheresoever English Men have the Command by Authority derived from the Crown of England’. In so doing, Shower formulated a common law manifesto for free slave trading ports in Africa by introducing a clear constitutional objection to the Company’s Vice-Admiralty enforcement power that proposed to seize property without the use of a jury trial. Shower also sought to make an intrinsic connection between the trade in enslaved people and parliament’s newfound primacy in national economic regulation. He did this by outlining the only suitable legal means that could be used to deprive an English subject of their property—parliament. Shower explained why parliamentary limitation of property was preferable to restrictions derived from the prerogative: ‘Each subject’s vote is included in whatsoever is there done: an Act of Parliament hath the consent of many men, both past, present, and to come’. Having argued that parliament provided the only means to put limitations on free subject’s enjoyment of property, Shower highlighted that the English monarchy also favoured the protection of private property. ‘The Kings of England’ Shower continued, ‘have always claimed a monarchy royal, not a monarchy seignoral…under the first…the subjects are freemen, and have a propriety in their goods, and freehold in their lands, but under the latter they are villains and slaves’. English common law, as a result, distinguished ‘between bondmen, whose estates are at their lord’s will and pleasure, and freemen, whose property none can invade, charge, or take away, but by their own consent’. In Shower’s defence of free, universal access to the trade in enslaved Africans, English freedoms protected English subjects from the pernicious constitutional innovations of the African Company.

Shower based his argument on a reading of English legal history that claimed Englishmen were never held as villains or slaves under feudal tenure to the king. English merchants were protected in their right to develop their property including their ownership of other human beings. Shower grafted the rhetoric of the Glorious Revolution onto established positions that monopolies trampled on the ancient rights of English ‘freemen’. Without their consent, Englishmen could not be deprived of their freedom to prosper from an expanded slave trade.60 The right to trade in enslaved Africans, then, became part of a bundle of legal birth rights enjoyed by all Englishmen including the right to political representation and the right to habeas corpus.61 All of Shower’s courtroom arguments in favour of a liberated English slave trade were, however, merely constitutional rationalisations of a commercial reality on the coast of Allada which were imposed on the state-sponsored English operation there by the king of Hueda.

Shower’s courtroom strategy of fastening constitutional freedoms onto the cause of slave trade escalation is brimming with irony. This irony can be found not just in the surface tension between the deployment of arguments derived from sacred subject freedoms to service the needs of the largest forced intercontinental human migration in history. There is also irony in slave traders festooning a liberty to trade that resulted from English subjugation to West African political leaders, men like the king of Hueda and Prince Bibe. While Shower located the dispute between the Company and the independent slave traders in a mythical legal past in which the English enjoyed control over their economic resources and could not be made to surrender that control without their consent, the on-the-ground reality of the dispute was that the English claim to freedom to participate in the slave trade was meaningless without the English subordinating themselves as bondsmen to their African lords’ control. Shower argued that English merchants were protected from the Company’s enforcement power because they operated overseas in a place where they were ‘under the Government of…English subjects’. This government was a chimera in Ouidah. Looked at this way, some of the hallmarks of English liberty that became refrains at the time of the Glorious Revolution obfuscated not only the dramatically expanded brutality that the deployment of these ideals caused for the victims of the slave trade, but also the reality that such freedoms had been forced upon the English nation by the very people who were meant to be suppressed by the Royal African Company.

Most (if not all) of the independent slave trading plaintiffs in these test cases of monopoly forfeiture power had been seized by the Royal African Company near to its West African headquarters at Cape Coast Castle. But the precedent and model and inspiration for the free trade that these plaintiffs argued for derived from the example provided by the commercial vitality of the Bight of Benin and the collusions of men like Prince Bibe and of John Winder and Petley Wybourne. Interlopers had to be convinced that the independent model for the slave trade could work. With the African Company able to limit the scale of interloping near Cape Coast, the Bight of Benin provided the evidence. In that sense, the deliberations that led to the first example of a free trade beyond Europe were as much the result of African insistence as of British mercantile lobbying. More accurately, they were the product of a cross-cultural alliance between the commercial vision and power of the Huedan elite and the entrepreneurial instincts and shrewd political tactics of independent English merchants. Public justifications for this expanded slave trade explored, refashioned, and redefined English freedom in the service of African enslavement on an unprecedented scale.

*

With the African Company’s enforcement powers curtailed in the King’s Bench, the Company (as with other corporations) had to appeal to parliament for statutory backing. These parliamentary deliberations produced pamphlets and petitions from both sides that connected and filtered and distorted the West African realities of the trade back into the domestic, English arena. This prompted a wave of anti-monopoly petitions from the English provinces and the colonies complaining that the Company had failed to supply adequate numbers of captives, especially to the mainland North American colonies.62 The African Company received support from those colonies who had been well supplied by the Company, especially Barbados, and who presumed that a deregulation of the slave trade would lead to higher prices. The Company also appealed to a preference among MPs for the trade to be managed with the help of its forts which were understood to offer the best security for the trade, something few could imagine without a joint stock. The independent traders argued that their version of the trade better served the interests of the British people and, by giving direction to individual entrepreneurial instinct, would expand the aggregate scale of the British economy. As a result, in 1698, parliament favoured the Company by legislating to sustain it, while allowing interlopers into the trade on payment of a 10 per cent charge on the value of their exports to Africa. This statute was to last for thirteen years.

In 1712, the statute that parliament had legislated to temporarily sustain the Royal African Company’s charter expired and a total deregulation of the English slave trade occurred. Overall, the transition from company to free trade in enslaved Africans increased the capacity of the English (then British) trade by approximately 300 per cent; it shifted the centre of slave trading investment away from the home of the African Company in London and to the westward facing Atlantic port cities of Bristol, Lancaster, Glasgow, and Liverpool. These independent slave traders began to furnish many more enslaved captives to the American mainland. They also looked beyond the African Company’s forts on the gold coast, further west to Senegambia and further south to Angola for more suppliers of enslaved captives. These changes made the British supreme as European traffickers throughout the eighteenth century. The king of Hueda’s free port model would therefore be writ large across the whole English slave trading system. It helped the interlopers realise their hopes of generating larger numbers of slave trade voyages from Africa and increasing the capacity of the Anglo-African trade.

The deregulation of the slave trade led to some of the commercial consequences predicted by the Royal African Company and sought by the king of Hueda, and Prince Bibe and others who presided over the West African markets in captives: dramatically increased prices. The African Company had always argued that its concentrated selling and buying power enabled it to impose prices on the vendors of the enslaved. As countless observers of the trade noted (including Jean Bardot) weakening the power of the Company led to increased prices of enslaved captives.63 In pointing the finger of blame, the African Company’s pamphleteers accurately attributed the increase in prices to a collaboration between Africans and interlopers. But they placed too much emphasis on the latter and failed to reveal the African initiative for the free market in captives, ignoring the difficulties the Company had faced in operating as a monopoly company on the Bight of Benin.

But the deliberations in England that resulted from African challenges to the Royal African Company’s monopoly created domestic effects beyond the deregulation of the trade. The trading model proposed by the king of Hueda and Prince Bibe created a public platform for merchants to develop the theoretical basis for free trading political economies associated with Bernard Mandeville that would receive more substantial development in the hands of Adam Smith later in the eighteenth century. These slave trading pamphleteers trumpeted English freedom as they confronted their participation in Hueda’s free port experiment: ‘Freedoms of trade…[are] the fundamental point of English liberty’, declared one. More than a third of the parliamentary petitions seeking to deregulate the slave trade referred to the desire to have the trade ‘freed’ or to the inherent right to ‘freedom’ of trade.64 The free slave traders used the elastic notion of freedom to obscure the Huedan plan in various ways: first, they connected their parliamentary victory to the constitutional freedoms protected by parliament itself. Second, they argued that their collective commercial efforts helped keep Britain free from absolutist, Catholic French influence. Third, the free slave traders began to argue that freedom of trade would allow individual economic instincts (‘animal spirits’ as one pamphleteer put it) to enlarge (rather than siphon off) the aggregate economy.65 The African Company disputed these arguments by defining liberty as the sanctity of property and by suggesting that the free traders’ notion of freedom was detrimental to an ordered commonwealth.66

The demise of the Royal African Company’s monopoly also helped associate the cause of free trade with the broader constitutional liberties of being English, as Shower’s arguments show. No one attributed the victory of a free slave trade to the authorities at Ouidah. Instead, the hallmark celebration of English liberty in the support of the expansion of the slave trade became a distraction that enabled the English to claim a victory that was not theirs. It was as if in seeking to rationalise commercial defeat in West Africa, the English comforted themselves by monopolising a national connection to freedom even though the freedom of trade that the Ouidan authorities had put in place would alter the terms of trade in ways that hurt English interests.

After deregulation, the commercial realities of the king of Hueda’s trading model began to influence how domestic English writers depicted the trade. But these changes did not extend to capturing African agency over this system. Royal African Company apologists acknowledged that free trade was preferred by the locals and regarded the success of the independent traders as the result of their willingness to give ‘higher prices and bribes…[to] truckle to the natives’.67 The independent slave traders began to rationalise the changing prices and geography of the trade as necessary costs of progress in the trade. They praised the port of Ouidah as providing the exemplar of a method of slave trading because it was a ‘Neutral Port for all Nations as free as Genoa or Leghorn’ and was, therefore, a rapidly expanding centre of English slave trading that operated at considerable distance from any of the Royal African Company’s forts.68

The prototype for their operation was that devised by the king of Hueda, presided over by Prince Bibe, and exploited by Petley Wybourne. But just as the king of Hueda and Prince Bibe and Wybourne all wished for the Company to remain a participant in the deregulated trade, the African Company endured for a further forty years, mostly as a holding company for the forts which parliament had ruled the independent traders could enjoy access to. On the West African coast, new polities emerged to reflect the changes in the geography of the slave trade. The inland empire of Dahomey eclipsed the region once controlled by Allada.69 The independent slave traders worked alongside these new African powers protected by the constitutional concessions that their predecessors had inspired. Ouidah continued to thrive as a free port and became one of the most important embarkation points for the huge numbers of enslaved African people transported across the Atlantic Ocean. It is estimated that 10 per cent of all the enslaved Africans trafficked to the Americas embarked at Ouidah.70

*

The cross-cultural alliance between the architects of African free ports and independent English slave traders were therefore slightly different from those we have encountered so far in this book. There are some similarities. The Skinners and the African interlopers and the Levant Company at Smyrna all sought peripheral, emerging ports that were far from state regulation. Bibe and the king of Jambi hoped to use collaboration with European merchants to break away from their regional overlords of Allada and Banten, respectively. Bibe was much more successful in this. It is also telling that the Skinners, John Thorne, and John Winder all played on the prevalent European assumption that non-Europeans obsessed about incarcerating Europeans to dodge punishment from their own corporate superiors and shield their malfeasant trade. Detention by foreign powers was a typical subterfuge for anti-corporate trade because Europeans assumed that non-Europeans liked nothing better than to imprison them.

Unlike the relationship between the Skinners and the sultan of Banten, however, the West African alliance at the centre of this chapter was much less balanced. In his juggling, Skinner could play various interests off one another to avoid capture and the confiscation of his wealth. There is more evidence of mutuality in the relationships between the Levant Company factors and the Sephardic dragomen. The king of Hueda, however, initiated, set the terms, and extracted the benefits from an alliance that was skewed in his favour. The cross-cultural alliance that led to the destruction of the African Company’s monopoly was also more premeditated than the short-term arrangements that existed between Skinner and the sultan of Banten and that prompted reforms by the East India Company which proved effective and crucial to its long-term survival.

Overall, the domestic products of the cross-cultural alliances in West Africa were greater than those derived from Smyrna and Banten. This was for three reasons. First, because of the power imbalances that led to the erosion of the African Company’s monopoly. The victory of the cross-cultural alliance in favour of the deregulation of the English slave trade was complete. Afterall, the East India Company responded to the Skinner brothers by expanding its power. Second, the strength of the African Company’s ties to the English state amplified the domestic significance of the cross-cultural alliances at the centre of this chapter. With so little power in Africa and so much at home, the results of Company failure in Africa mattered less for the political economy of West Africans than for England—though these changes were of most significance for the huge number of people enslaved and trafficked as a result of this escalation in commercial volume, and the ripple effects of their absence. Third, the domestic effects of the cross-cultural alliance forged to deregulate the slave trade were more numerous, varied, and diffuse, since the domestic reverberations of the king of Hueda’s free port came in the form of sustained, parliamentary deliberation as well as court cases, and these generated hundreds of printed rationalisations of the Company’s failure. Writers in favour of both the African Company and the independent slave trade had to obscure and rationalise the victory of the Huedan elite and this involved lasting modifications to the meaning of English freedom.

*

England’s independent slave traders had been inspired by the king of Hueda’s model and worked alongside African slave vendors to expose the weakness of the Company in Africa and to eclipse the company commercially. They legitimated this hidden cross-cultural alliance with the perceived constitutional basis (and advantages) of a free trade in enslaved African people. The price increases after the deregulation were undeniable proof that the African Company’s belief that single buyers would keep prices low had been correct. The African architects of free trade would therefore have lasting effects on the constitutional mechanisms underpinning English commercial expansion into the eighteenth century and beyond.

This reality sat uncomfortably with (and perhaps perpetuated) the persistent view that Europeans should seek to take an especially firm hand in Africa. Even after the complete deregulation of the slave trade, the commercially marginalised African Company continued to challenge the independent slave traders’ opportunistic attempts to legitimise Africa and Africans as civilised participants in the international trading system. The free traders proposed to sustain their control over the slave trade and prevent the Company from securing any route back to control it by praising the economic system the king of Hueda had established. In the Company’s view: ‘the state and condition of the Africans must not be compared to that of the Turks or Muscovites’ because the latter were mature, civilised societies ‘from whom we must take laws, and such trade as they will agree to’ while the societies in Africa, in the Company’s view, were places where the English should ‘give’ laws to ‘the natives’.71 In reality, the Africans gave laws to the English and this author’s insistence that only a company could confer laws on the Africans illustrated how the failure of the Company would lead to a situation in which the meaning of English freedom would be shaped by African preference.
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King Nrai of Siam and the Redefinition of English Subjecthood, 1678–1698


Ibn Muhammad Ibrahim was the secretary to the Persian ambassador who visited the Siamese court at Ayutthaya in the late 1680s. In justifying this mission, Ibrahim outlined that the goal of every enlightened ruler and the ‘one great truth’, was, ‘conciliation, attainment of harmony in the relations between all elements of society, especially the relations between the world-ruling sultans and the potent Kings of Asia’. For this reason, Ibrahim went on: ‘Good rulers…take a further step on the path toward world harmony’; with ambassadors and delegations as the key to unlocking the ‘doors of world-wide friendship’. According to Ibrahim, this policy ‘was the intent of the Siamese king’ Nrai who, because of his outward facing policy ‘loved all Muslims’.1 The Persians were fascinated by and compelled to be a part of King Nrai’s cosmopolitan vision. Once in Siam, Ibrahim observed how ‘in this country the natives honor any object connected with a foreign king in the same manner that they do homage [to] the person of their own king’.2

Ibn Muhammad Ibrahim’s depiction of King Nrai’s priorities was more than diplomatic wishful thinking. The Siamese king presided over a prosperous, hierarchical society that combined secure command of a territorial expanse connecting the Chaophraya River basin, parts of the Malay Peninsula to the south, and the Mun River basin to the east with an increasingly outward looking, maritime ambition.3 Nrai was unusually committed to developing alliances with other states and with employing subjects of those states within his own regime. Some European writers interpreted the Siamese tendency to depend upon foreigners as a sign of their inherent instability and weakness as a people and culture.4 Southeast Asia has also been characterised as a peripheral economic region preyed upon by external forces: Chinese, Middle Eastern, and South Asian maritime diasporas.5

But King Nrai’s policy towards foreigners reflected a careful international strategy. This policy incorporated foreigners into the Siamese governmental machine. These included former factors of the English East India Company, who supplanted the Muslims who Ibrahim mentioned. These merchants would use their proximity to the king of Nrai to structure and then excuse a cross-cultural and piratical syndicate in the Bay of Bengal. Led by a former factor of the Company, George White, they would use King Nrai’s openness to foreigners to frustrate the Company’s trade, and ultimately force the Company in England to transform its corporate governance, reshaping the orthodoxy of corporate and national belonging, broadening access to privileged corporations, and defining the limitations of free movement beyond the control of the English state. The king of Siam’s openness to foreigners proved to be a government policy that enabled him to retain control over his economy and territory. It would also give English merchants the latitude to test and define the contours of English nationhood and the determinants of English freedom.

From the fifteenth century, a broad network of diplomatic ties assisted the Siamese in developing their interests. To secure access to the gulf of Bengal, Siam took control of the ports of Tenasserim and Mergui. The Mughal Empire consolidated its control over Bengal and Orissa in the early seventeenth century. Controlling Tenasserim and Mergui helped the Siamese secure the eastern side of the Bay of Bengal and prevented Mughal dominance there. From the 1660s, the Siamese were often threatened by their Burmese neighbours as well as Laos and the Northern Thai Lan Na realm based at Chieng Mai. In response, the Ayutthaya court of Siam solicited the help of the Persian state believing that the Persians possessed sufficient maritime strength to protect the Siamese. The Siamese dispatched ambassadors to Esfahan in 1669, 1679, 1683, and 1684.

The following year, in 1685, the Safavids sent an ambassador to Ayutthaya on an English ship—this was Ibrahim’s ship—the Ship of Sulaiman. The Thai state welcomed the Persians because they could serve as a commercial counterweight to the aggressive Dutch and to balance all foreign groups to ensure Thai supremacy. Persians (like Europeans) were attracted to Siam because it served as a bridge between the Indian Ocean and the East Asian economies of China and Japan. The Persians were forced into an alliance with Ayutthaya since the Portuguese had closed the straits of Melaka to Muslims in 1511, and Siam provided the best alternative routes to East Asian markets. In the seventeenth century, Shi-Ite Muslims in Golconda also began to gravitate towards the Siamese capital as the Sunni Mughals tightened their grip over Southeast India and persecuted them.6 The Mughal’s threat to the kingdom of Golconda from the north and northwest (with their port at Masulipatam) in the Deccan saw the Siamese identifying the Iranian merchants there as a means to integrate their commercial prospects in the Northern Indian Ocean.

To reflect this policy of international commercial integration, Thai rulers began to design a system of government that was especially welcoming to foreigners. From the seventeenth century, this system distinguished between homegrown administrators and foreign specialists. The latter were mostly from the Asian diasporas and were under the direct control of the king. These included Indian Brahmins and Chinese merchants who secured control over foreign trade for the king and therefore often became the focus of resentment by the local, Thai aristocracy.7 Nrai’s capital city, Ayutthaya, and the port towns facing the Indian Ocean, Tenasserim and Mergui, were notably cosmopolitan places with Burmese and Siamese populations working alongside French and Spanish Jesuits, Portuguese, Persians, and Dutch. Indians, however, from the Coromandel coast predominated. They were mostly Hindus. Foreigners achieved a status inseparable from that of the king. Phra klang—a senior commercial official within the Siamese state, means king’s merchant.8

From the early 1650s, a group of Muslims took over from the Hindus as the resident foreigner managers of the international trade in Tenasserim and Mergui.9 Muslims from India and Persia began to flood into Ayutthaya from Tenasserim, laden with specie, and raising the price of commodities.10 Their access to specie gave these merchants a crucial advantage as silver supplies into Siam from Japan had been suspended and those from Manila redirected into the Coromandel coast.11 While merchants of various nationalities brought textiles from Surat and Coromandel to barter with Japanese and Chinese merchants for tin, copper, and porcelain, Muslim merchants from Bengal and Metchlepatam supplanted this trade by importing the same commodities into Tenasserim and moving them overland to Ayutthaya.

Under the leadership of Aqa Muhammad Astarabadi, the Thai system of promoting outsiders to develop their overseas commerce expanded and intensified. Astarabadi promoted trade to the West, sending missions to Surat, the Golconda Sultanate’s port at Masulipatnam, to the Persian Gulf, and Aceh. According to the Persian envoy, Ibrahim, Astarabadi ‘endeavoured in every possible way to familiarise the king with all the foreign men of importance in the world’. The king, as a result was ‘eager to learn about the other kings of the inhabited world, their behaviour, customs, and principles. He made a great effort to enlighten himself and sent everywhere for pictures depicting the mode of living and the courts of foreign kings’.12 He allowed free trade on all goods from the West, while imports from the East remained a royal monopoly. He appointed Muslims to all the provincial port appointments and developed tin mining for export.13 Astarabadi succeeded in presiding over a commercial regime that moved expatriate elites to emerging port towns in ways that fundamentally challenged European attempts to impose monopolies on Asian states, including Siam.

Astarabadi’s vision conflicted with King Nrai’s, however. Nrai was committed to maintaining balance between the foreign mercantile groups. The Muslim community had become too dominant in his kingdom. Regionally integrated Southeast Asian societies like the kingdom of Siam, mixed local and external political structures, supported by religious conversions and synthesis as counterweights to European attempts to dominate the region.14 The conspicuous power of the Muslims in Siam appeared to threaten Nrai’s strategy of balancing different Europeans against one another. Astarabadi’s death in 1679 left an opportunity for another foreign group to supplant the Muslims.

Ever adept at using one foreign group to keep another in check, the king could see replacements in the well-established Dutch, the cash-rich Persians, and the increasingly assertive English. Nrai would put to tender the opportunity for foreigners to prosper at the Ayutthaya court. In the end, the next foreign faction would be part English and part Greek. Its figurehead within the Thai state was Constance Phaulkon. According to one account, as a younger man, Phaulkon had been stranded in Malabar after an abortive voyage. He had faced desperation, but a ‘person full of majesty’ tempted him back to Siam’.15 The next day Phaulkon encountered a shipwrecked Siamese official recently returned from Persia. Phaulkon’s knowledge of the Siamese language and his skill as a navigator helped him rescue them both and they returned to the Siamese capital. The ambassador quickly testified to Phaulkon’s abilities, and he rose through the ranks of government there to become chief minister.

This assistance would prove fateful for the kingdom of Siam as Phaulkon became the king’s leading official in his kingdom. Phaulkon’s rise was on the back of widespread Islamophobia in Siam. He was also assisted by former employees of the English East India Company, and became the Ayutthaya lead for a transnational commercial syndicate initiated and directed by a former English East India Company factor named George White. White had helped Phaulkon to reach Asia from England. His friendship with Phaulkon allowed him to profit from Phaulkon’s rapid rise in the Thai regime. As the leading foreign representative of the king of Siam, Phaulkon could dominate trade with the East India Company. White used Phaulkon’s position to siphon company resources into his own hands. White’s brother, Samuel, would go a step further, assuming a position within Phaulkon’s administration and using his employment with the Siamese government to legitimate raids on shipping in the Bay of Bengal. This syndicate undermined the Company’s trade in the region, enriched White and his brother, Samuel, and prompted a major legal and political dispute in England that led to profound reforms to the East India Company’s operation at home and overseas. These developments were the product of the king of Siam’s policy of inviting, installing, and protecting foreign merchants within his state machinery.

This chapter explores the effects that the king of Nrai’s cosmopolitan approach to government had for the English East India Company and for the meaning of a foundational basis of English freedom: English subjecthood. It traces these effects into late-seventeenth-century domestic English discussions about nationality, and the best mechanisms of corporate governance. As with the Banten example, the protagonists in this chapter were corporate employees, the White brothers, who turned freelance and, in doing so, forged a cross-cultural alliance that unsettled company trade and, therefore, the domestic political debate about the nature of corporate belonging. The chapter pieces together the operation of a commercial syndicate led by George White and Constance Phaulkon and traces the rivalry between that syndicate and the East India Company in Siam. It then follows the White brothers’ use of political means to secure the gains their syndicate had generated and the knock-on effects of their political tactics in England. The king of Nrai encouraged the formation of White’s syndicate. In defending the wealth the brothers generated from it in England, they spearheaded a public campaign to promote the reform of the East India Company’s operation with reference to English freedoms.

The chapter demonstrates the skill with which George White used his connections to the Siamese and English states to exploit the Company’s capital and enrich himself. In essence, this involved placing a member of the White brother’s network, Phaulkon, within the Siamese state hierarchy so that the syndicate could purchase goods as agents of the Siamese state. This fraudulent claim enabled the syndicate to justify privateering raids on shipping in the Indian Ocean including those of merchants in the orbit of the East India Company. As such, Company officials would transfer allegiances from the English to the Siamese state but would deploy equivalent delegated state powers to justify their commercial operations. This worked in the short term because the White brothers assumed a subordinate relationship to the Siamese state that resembled the subordination of a trading company.

In trying to shut the syndicate down, the East India Company had to put into use the enlarged enforcement power it had sought after the Skinner debacle. In the changed constitutional context of the 1690s, this exposed the Company to the same legal challenges and public censure as the Royal African Company had endured. These created the opportunity for George White to lead an assault on the East India Company that ultimately led to the formation of a new East India Company and profound alterations to the way in which the old company operated in the future. As in the Skinner case, the East India Company weathered these storms and emerged stronger than ever. These changes were partly the result of the commercial vitality of the cross-cultural network forged between the White brothers, Constant Phaulkon, and the Siamese state. But they were also the product of the king of Nrai’s openness to foreign commercial initiative. Just as in the West African example, the concept of free trade emerged out of the demands placed on the English by overseas political systems and merchants, rather than from any theoretical appreciation of the social or commercial benefits of such notions.

*

The expansion of English commercial interests beyond Europe throughout the seventeenth century brought English merchants into contact with foreign cultures. This sometimes led English merchants overseas to draw down on a stubborn stereotype of national identity. For Thomas Roe, in the 1610s, it was an essential aspect of his role as ambassador to the court of the Mughal emperor, Jahangir, that he be immune from any temptation to compromise his Englishness. For merchants (rather than ambassadors), taking on the cultural accoutrements of the host nation was a route to commercial success. Trading corporations were meant, however, to structure cross-cultural trade in ways that upheld the national interest. A leading beneficiary and exponent of the East India Company’s nationalist credentials, the provincial ship-builder turned East India Company supremo, Josiah Child, argued that the Company’s joint stock structure was ‘absolutely necessary to the carrying on the East-India Trade to National Advantage’.16 Corporate officials therefore had to balance the official need to advance state interests by upholding English identity with the practical realities that suggested a more fluid approach to identity overseas.

Child’s concept of nation was more inclusive than exclusive. He did not mean to associate the trade with an aggregate, national liberty. Rather, he argued that the East India Trade brought advantages to all members of the nation. Child therefore atomised the notion of state interest to the interest of English people, who could better advance their own interests through the accessible stock of the East India Company. Even the notion of Englishness itself was fluid for Child. Watching and admiring the Dutch, Child went further than most in proposing ways to expand the nation by arguing for the naturalisation of foreigners.17 Child also saw the commercial advantages of adopting a more open approach to national interest overseas. He argued that foreigners ought to be able to invest in the English East India Company.18 He promoted a view of Company trade that saw it circumvent formal diplomatic channels and proceed on the basis of on-the-ground, informal commercial arrangements with ‘Bannians and Vakeels’: ‘By which means [we] avoid the charge of Presents to Governours, and that ostentatious expensive way, which the Companies Factors are necessitated to appear’.19

English law said more about the naturalisation of foreigners than it did about the rules governing allegiances of its own subjects to foreign states. Child and other Company officials must have known that for its business to function durably, its officials not only would need to accommodate the interests of their foreign, Asian interlocutors but also would have to promote them. Companies emphasised their connections to these Asian states when their umbilical cord to their home state began to become a cause for concern—as they often did during the constitutional crises of the 1630s and 1640s. Company officials were meant to swear an oath to uphold the interests of the Company rather than those of their home nation when pursuing commercial operations overseas. There was nothing in these rituals that prevented them from formally working within the governmental infrastructure of another state. In many ways, this was good for business.

George White’s syndicate would place these issues of access to trade, subjecthood to foreign states, national allegiance, and the freedoms of the English individual overseas firmly on the late-seventeenth-century political agenda in England. Ultimately, these debates would refashion the structures and purpose of the East India Company as well as broader concepts of English belonging. As a loyal factor of the Company in the late 1670s, White observed the opportunities that Ayutthaya presented to energetic foreign merchants by noting the primacy of the Muslim nation there: ‘this considerable trade is att present totally engrossed by the Persians & Moores, who are now in effect masters of that parte of the countrey as well as the commerce’. White identified the supremacy of Aqa Muhammad Astarabadi and admired the ways in which he had installed a Muslim mandarinate in Siam

wherein hee soe farr succeeded that the collonies they have planted in those partes doe almost equall the number of the natives, but far exceed them in wealth & power, the rajahs or governors of Tenarrary and the marine town of Mergui being Persians…Moreover in this city Judicah here are many that have fixed their habitacions here with their families, & since my arrival the King has a troope of Persian caveleers that are part of his life guard.

As a result, the ‘Moores’ had eclipsed the Dutch in Siam whose presence there pre-dated the Muslims by twenty years.20

White realised earlier than most Europeans that King Nrai’s strategy was to balance the nations at the court and saw Astarabadi’s dominance as an opportunity for the English to improve their trade at Ayutthaya. White noted that the king’s need for balance between foreign groups made the East India Company’s trade attractive to the Thai authorities. Presuming the weakness of the Company’s enforcement power overseas and echoing Frederick Skinner’s confidence that the fruits of ill-gotten Asian trade could be quickly protected (and laundered) through court room success at home, White installed Phaulkon as his agent within the central Thai bureaucracy.

*

From the late 1670s, the London leadership of the English East India Company assumed a more bellicose attitude towards Asia. Despite promoting the Company as accessible to all in print, the Company’s stock and strategy had become more centralised around Josiah Child. Over the past four decades, the English company’s commercial centre of gravity (if not system of control) had shifted from Surat in the west to the Coromandel coast and the rapidly growing, cosmopolitan outpost at Madras. Madras showed that the East India Company could achieve regional dominance by extending rights to foreigners, attracting population, and taxing that population to finance the settlement. Owing to the success of Madras, Child (based in London) promoted the Company’s gaining control over port cities within Asian states and using these as sources of tax revenue and places to replenish and rebuild ships.

Child had similar thoughts about the Siamese port towns of Mergui and Tenasserim. The English East India Company had established a presence at Siam in 1612 having moved through the region, attracted by local supplies of pepper at Pattani. English interests at Siam were never large, however. The English presence there was often the result of failed enterprises elsewhere in Asia and the realisation that the Siamese authorities were welcoming, and that Siam was well placed between the Company’s growing operation at Madras and the spice trade to the south and the Japanese and Chinese trades to the north. After many years of forbidding the establishment of an East India Company at Siam, the Company gave its formal permission in 1675.21

George White arrived in Siam as a factor for the East India Company in March 1678.22 A Bristolian, he boasted a substantial education. Like other Europeans in Asia (most famously William Addames in Japan) he understood that the surest way to ingratiate yourself with local Asian officials was to demonstrate prowess as a ship-builder. Noting how the conspicuous commercial primacy of Muslims was beginning to provoke resentment among the Siamese and the broader commercial communities at Ayutthaya, Tenasserim, and Mergui, White and his factor partner at Ayutthaya, Richard Burnaby, began to allege that the ‘Moores’ were prone to fraudulent practices. In smearing the Muslim community in Siam, White hoped to secure influence within the Thai government. (Map 5.1.)
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Map 5.1 The Trading World of the White Brothers





Another in White’s intimate circle, Constant Phaulkon (also skilled in ship building and repair) had earlier sought employ within the king of Siam’s bureaucracy. Phaulkon’s origins are obscure and because of the extent of his rise are also the subject of myth.23 Often depicted as the impoverished scion of a great Venetian family, Phaulkon is known to have been born within the Venetian orbit of the Greek Island of Cephalonia around the year 1650. He travelled to England—presumably with the help of a Levant Company merchant—in 1660. George White took him in and assisted with his passage to India. Phaulkon sought to become a country trader and pilot his own ships around Asia, but his shipwreck experience suggested he attempted government service. Clearly skilled with languages, he became an official within the King’s government and rose quickly.

Whatever support George White provided for him as a boy, Phaulkon never forgot it and continued to serve White alongside King Nrai. Phaulkon, like White, appreciated that he would have to discredit the Muslim commercial phalanx to be able to rise further. The two East India Company factors, White and Burnaby began, in December 1679, to suggest that debts owed to the Company had been contracted by the formerly unimpeachable Astarabadi and targeted his heir for payment.24 Another accusation of fraud, however, would spur the White-Phaulkon network into action: an accusation levelled at Burnaby by a Ralph Lambton.

*

An East India Company factor at Surat, Ralph Lambton, accused Burnaby of defrauding him in transactions involving shipments of his goods from Surat to Siam. Lambton detailed how Burnaby had sequestered his goods, charged him to have them released, and forced his brother to sell goods at 50 per cent less than the market price.25 Having tried and failed to use the internal processes of the Company to seek redress against Burnaby, Lambton turned to the local Siamese courts. The Siamese authorities had established a custom of forming panels of expatriate merchants to settle disputes between foreign merchants.26 In the late 1670s, Muslim merchants remained dominant and were likely keen to see Burnaby punished. Fearing reprisals from the Muslims merchants he had slandered, Burnaby, sought for the matter to be settled within the English community.

To prevent this, Lambton ‘procured himself to be honoured with the title of the King’s slave’ so that he could have recourse to Siamese law and the king’s protection in his dispute with Burnaby. The king, however, reinstated a panel of Persian judges who found in favour of Lambton.27 Despite this, Lambton, struggled to recover his losses from the Company. Wounded by his association with the East India Company and encouraged by the support he had received from the Siamese regime, Lambton abandoned his allegiance to the Company and became a powerful figure within the Siamese mandarinate. Lambton used his position to isolate the Company in the eyes of the barcalong, the senior commercial official in the Thai bureaucracy. This isolation prevented the Company from ending Lambton’s private trade. However, Lambton had failed to appreciate that he had been defrauded by a rogue commercial faction led by George White rather than the Company itself. This faction had their sights on all Company trade in the region. Rather than achieving revenge against those who had wronged him, Lambton discredited the Company itself. This would empower White and Phaulkon who—working under Burnaby—had been behind the sequestering of Lambton’s goods.

The incident with Lambton demonstrated to Burnaby and White how difficult it was for the Company to manage disputes between its factories and servants in the context of a local legal system that was especially responsive to foreigners. This exposed a significant design flaw of the Company in environments that encouraged foreigners: an organisation designed to advance international trade was inhibited by its other key remit—the governance of its membership. Without the ability to control their own affairs and the employment of their servants within the king of Nrai’s domain, the East India Company’s authority was drastically challenged and the door opened to interlopers and disgruntled servants to ally themselves directly with the Siamese state and defraud the Company of its cargoes and capital.28 As a result, the Company resolved not to allow its interests to be judged by the ‘arbitrement of strangers’ fearing that its competitors would use such proceedings to further undermine English interests.29 The Company failed to see, however, that the arraigning of transnational groupings, whether at the initiative of King Nrai or George White, was the greatest threat to its operation and not the rival national companies that London feared.

Believing that the Company’s failure to protect itself from Lambton’s charges would profoundly undermine its operation in Siam, White took his opportunity and resigned his factorage from the Company on 3 October 1680 confident of prospering as part of a transnational syndicate because of King Nrai’s reliance on foreigners.30 As with Prince Bibe in Ouidah and the sultan of Banten, White did not seek to eclipse and remove the Company’s operation in Siam. The presence of the Company’s goods was crucial to his plan. As such, a long line of Company officials arrived to try to discover and then suppress the development of White’s scheme. It is through their evidence that we can begin to see how White’s syndicate functioned.

In essence, the White-Phaulkon syndicate worked like this: Phaulkon used his growing prestige with the Siamese authorities (and his connections to the Company via Burnaby and White) to borrow or purchase from the Company at attractive rates in the name of the Siamese king. The king had beneficial commercial arrangements with the Company which Phaulkon’s position gave the White syndicate access to. This system was a core part of the Company’s hoped for trade. Burnaby would transfer goods or undervalue them when trading with Phaulkon. Either through connection to the king or through fraud, the syndicate secured discounts on both ends of its transactions with the Company: selling and buying. The syndicate relied on the presence of the Company because it needed the Company’s goods to trade. Operating from London, White ensured that the Company kept trading in Siam and helped to distract London suspicions away from Phaulkon to isolate the suspicious voices of the factors despatched by the East India Company to monitor Siam.

The first of these factors was Samuel Potts who arrived in Siam January 1681. Potts had been sent by the Company’s agency at Banten as White’s replacement. Potts quickly understood how White had used his access to Company stores as a factor to divert supplies of the Company’s broadcloth to Phaulkon. Since Phaulkon was a representative of the king of Siam, Phaulkon could argue that he was simply completing the basic commercial bargain of the Company, using state funds to purchase (in this case on account) English commodities from the official supplier of English goods, the East India Company.

Potts noted the connection between Phaulkon and George White. Potts described Phaulkon in dismissive terms as ‘Mr White’s pilot upon the Mallay coast’ and suggested that Phaulkon had been installed within the Thai polity by White who was his ‘craft master to make him instrumentall for there [sic] interest’. Potts could see how Phaulkon’s official representation of the king gave him commercial privileges that the Company could not easily dispute. Since the East India Company based its model of trade on legitimate, sovereign states trading with one another through formal, often monopolistic channels, and sometimes with credit, it could hardly complain when the king of Siam’s official representative sought to purchase the Company’s goods on behalf of King Nrai.31

The problem with the White-Phaulkon syndicate from the Company’s point of view was, however, that Phaulkon had replaced the Company as the diplomatic bridge between English and Siamese interests. The White-Phaulkon syndicate had formed a cross-cultural alliance with the Siamese state that marginalised the Company. That it was able to do so owed much to King Nrai’s policy of elevating foreigners to positions of power within the Siamese state and because of the appreciation White had of the weakness of the Company’s position in a setting so open to independent, foreign merchants.

The Company’s chief factor in Siam, Burnaby, who was now working on behalf of White, dismissed Potts. After Potts, the East India Company dispatched George Gosfright from Banten to monitor their Siamese interests in September 1681. The Company had become suspicious of Burnaby’s operation and concerned about the reasons why Burnaby (who they did not trust) had dismissed Potts (who they did). On consulting the Company’s accounts, Gosfright discovered a suspicious transaction that further exposed the commercial mechanics of the White syndicate. Seeking to capitalise on widespread Islamophobia in the Thai population, Burnaby had fraudulently accounted for a sale of copper to some ‘Moremen’ that had never taken place. Gosfright took the trouble to consult the Muslim merchant community who denied all knowledge of the deal.

Gosfright noticed further Company loans to Phaulkon and the purchasing of pepper by Phaulkon at discounted prices.32 Burnaby had been transferring Company goods to Phaulkon at dramatically reduced prices and providing credit to him on generous terms. Gosfright wrote to the king of Siam totalling up the scale of the Company’s losses to the Phaulkon syndicate at 2,000 catties.33 He described the treatment the Company had received from the king’s servant, Phaulkon, as an indignity ‘without president in India’. Gosfright described Phaulkon as ‘the chiefe instrument whereby Mr Burnaby has wrought all his indirect dealings & that now assists him to abscond the Honourable Company’s estate’.34 George White was sufficiently concerned about Gosfright’s inquiries to seek to deflect suspicion away from him and to explain the anomalies that he had found. White implemented the next stage of his plan: to travel back to England to receive the goods and profits from the syndicate and to ensure that authorities there, both Company and state, would turn a blind eye to his syndicate. George White left Siam on 15 October 1681.35

The first evidence of White’s Siamese operation reached London in March 1682. On 26 April 1682, the East India Company’s Court of Committees requested that its lawyers examine how a parcel of musk that White had dispatched to himself had been approved. Not knowing that White was in England, the court primed itself to target White’s kinsman in case they needed to recover any debts that White had incurred to the Company.36 This was a charitable interpretation of White’s syndicate. White had been using his brother’s wife’s father, Thomas Povey, a treasury official, to obtain illicit clearance for his imports. White’s connections with the English state proved as central to the syndicate as his interest in Ayutthaya.37 Now that he was in England, White could cultivate further support. This ensured that the Company would not suspect his role in any misfortunes it experienced in Asia.

Despite his assaults on their trade, White was able to convince the Company to continue its operations in Siam. In a letter to its Madras leadership on 20 December, the Company used the encouragement and advice they had received from George White to explain their decision to support Siam.38 The advice White gave cleverly steered clear of promoting his own interests and instead focussed on generic advice about the seasonal preferences of Japanese customers. For White’s scheme to function, he needed to retain the Company’s presence. Their cargoes and capital were crucial in supplying the goods that he and Phaulkon (and the rest of his syndicate) would profit from. Why the Company was unable to see the syndicate for what it was—a technique for defrauding them—owes much to their lack of information and the financial, legal, diplomatic, and political power of George White himself. White needed to use his connections to deflect suspicion away from himself and to sustain his reputation as a merchant who the Company ought to listen to.

In September 1683, the next East India Company official to examine the company’s trade in Siam, William Strangh, arrived at Ayutthaya. Perhaps warned by White, Phaulkon greeted Strangh and assumed he had been dispatched to seize syndicate member and accomplice, Burnaby. Clearly better informed than his predecessors, Strangh had a different strategy. He proposed to form a cross-cultural alliance with the now-marginalised Muslim merchant. Confronting Phaulkon’s new found grandeur, Strangh proposed to outmanoeuvre him by broadening the Company’s network of ‘Moores & Siams’ to lessen their dependence on Phaulkon and his growing entourage of disaffected English recruits.39 Desperate to find a way around Phaulkon’s power, Strangh approached members of the king’s court. He conversed with a leader of the Muslim community who—hearing how ‘the English…[had been] abused’ by Phaulkon—offered to intercede with the king; however, presumably aware of this interchange, Phaulkon ensured that this offer was later rescinded.40

Phaulkon also appeared concerned, as had his contact in London, George White, that Strangh would dissolve the Company’s factory. Instead Strangh outlined precisely what Phaulkon wished to hear: that the Company would continue in Siam if the king of Siam would contract to purchase the Company’s commodities ‘[a]t which Mr Phaulckon seemed to bee very much pleased, asking mee twice or thrice iff I had a possetive order to treate & make contract with them’.41 Strangh failed to appreciate the extent to which Phaulkon had ingratiated himself with King Nrai and would therefore profit from Strangh’s determination to have the Company contract directly with King Nrai.

Strangh arrived in time to witness the pinnacle of Phaulkon’s power and the culmination of George White and Phaulkon’s scheme. On 28 November 1683, members of the English interloping syndicate, including Richard Burnaby, and Samuel White—George’s younger brother—were ‘invested in robes’ of their respective offices of the Siamese state. Burnaby was made governor of Mergui, and Samuel White shabander (port governor) of Mergui. Strangh believed that this investiture had been arranged to allow Burnaby and White to ‘witnesse against’ him (as state officials) in the Company’s disputes with Phaulkon. The resulting appeal to the king was choreographed and dominated by Phaulkon who assumed the voice of both barcalong and king. Phaulkon had, in Strangh’s words ‘menapolized the whole trade of the English to himself under pretence of kingly authoretie’.42

Instead of blaming White, Strangh attributed the dire position of the Company in Siam to the Company’s recent partial liberalisation of private trade: ‘it would never doe well’ so Strang explained ‘for the Honourable Companie in the Indies before they regulate theire affaires in theire servants & factors soe as the Dutch doe, allow them a handsome maintenance & sallery & debar them from all other trade’.43 Such freedoms were meant to ensure that officials of the Company would not stray from corporate imperatives because they now enjoyed the opportunity to make more money on their own account. The White syndicate showed what little incentive these relaxations offered in a setting so conducive to independent, foreign commercial activity. Phaulkon and White’s strategy of seducing what one company official would later describe as

the practice of outlyers and interlopers and such kind of people, who in all times have made it their busyness to indulge & corrupt our chief servants to make their own advantages of them & us, & such as they could not corrupt they have endeavoured to destroy or ruine.

had come to full fruition.44

Seeking a less inquisitive leader for the Company’s factory at Siam, Phaulkon threatened Strangh with ‘the rigour of this country law’ and offered him leave to depart the country. Such was Phaulkon’s hold over the Siamese state by the end of 1683, that he was happy to pressurise the English Company’s chief to depart. Phaulkon’s willingness to isolate the Company’s official in Siam by the end of 1683 was facilitated by his simultaneous charm offensive towards the English king, Charles II. The presence of George White in England was crucial to this. Dispatched around the time of Samuel White’s investiture, gifts from Phaulkon, consigned to (and presented by) George White reached London on 26 August 1684.45 These gifts included: ‘ancient Chinese porcelain and the finest Japanese screens’ ‘estimated to be worth about six thousand pounds’ all, as one Company insider put it ‘to work his [Phaulkon’s] ends in the incouraging of interlopers’.46 In promoting Siam at the English court, the gifts must also have helped to ensure that the Company did not depart Siam and would deflect any suspicion it had about the emerging syndicate away from the White brothers. On 21 March 1685, King James II wrote back to Phaulkon to thank him for the gifts and for the kindness he had showed his subjects.47 While increasing their hold over the Thai monarch, the White syndicate worked to drive a wedge between the East India Company and the English king.

News of the extent of Phaulkon’s rise to power within Siam spread to Fort St George at Madras by August 1684. Phaulkon’s technique of assuming one identity after another to favour his various interests proved the most aggravating to Company official Samuel Baron. Baron objected to his ‘impudence to defame our Soverieng Lord the King…villefeing the nation,…forgetting he was raised by White’s craft, Burnaby’s folly and with the Company’s stock’.48 Either this angry testimony did not reach the Company in London or they chose to (or were prevailed upon) to ignore it.

In May 1685, the leader of the Company’s operation at Surat, Sir John Child, dispatched instructions to officials bound for Siam. Instead of objecting to Phaulkon’s actions, Child admonished Company officials for talking down to him. These instructions included the warning that their predecessors had failed the Company by condescending to Phaulkon because of his lowly social origins and foreign background. Child summarised that only by according Phaulkon ‘fitting respect’ could the factory hope to ‘secure a settlement at Syam’. Child had apprised himself of the situation enough, however, to note that interlopers had been undermining the Company’s interests (even if they did not admit Phaulkon stage managed them, under George White’s plan). ‘Wee require you’ Child insisted ‘to entertaine noe interlopers nor stragling Englishmen in the Right Honourable Company’s factory, to avoid unnecessary expenses and future great troubles and inconveniencys that may happen on the irregular & unwarrantable actions of such people’.49 Why the Company should have chosen to turn a blind eye at this point to Phaulkon can only be explained with reference to the presents that the new King James II had acknowledged.

*

What followed next was a dramatic escalation of the Whites’ strategy: from a straightforward commercial syndicate using the cover of Phaulkon’s allegiance to the Siamese king to defraud the Company to a still bolder plan which involved Samuel White using his position within the Siamese state as a cover for privateering raids against shipping in the Indian Ocean. This plan, however, defrauded both King James of England and King Nrai of Siam. The favour that Phaulkon had showed George White’s brother, Samuel, in appointing him shabander of Mergui, proved to be a substantial development of the White syndicate’s operation. While Phaulkon promoted the syndicate’s interests at the Ayutthaya court, George White and Phaulkon saw the commercial possibilities if Samuel White were to be put in charge of a provincial port like Mergui. Far from the Thai capital but with the blessing, via Phaulkon, of King Nrai, Samuel White could manage a crucial node in the Asian trading system. White implemented Josiah Child’s vision of the possible strategic benefits of Mergui as a base for English shipping in the Indian Ocean. But White would seek to uphold his private, familiar interests, rather than the strategic interests of the nation of his birth.

Samuel White had arrived at Madras in 1675. Rather than pursue a career in service of the East India Company, like his older brother, Samuel set his sights on serving foreign states. He exhibited the same skills as Phaulkon and distinguished himself, from 1677, as a pilot for the king of Siam, guiding commercial voyages between the king’s port as Tenasserim across the Indian Ocean to Metchlepatam.50 George White appealed to his superiors in the East India Company at Madras to allow his brother to continue in this role in October 1678.51 The Company did not object. White’s skill improved his reputation with the king and his fame throughout the ports of the Coromandel Coast.

Samuel White also appears to have aroused the ire of local Muslim merchants and officials. In September 1681, one of these, Ali Beague, who was the king of Golconda’s governor of Masulipatam, allegedly defrauded White of £600 and forced him to leave the town without essential shipping supplies. White was a castaway for weeks, but on 18 January the following year, news reached the port that he was alive.52 However, Beague continued to be a thorn in White’s side, and White, like his brother, wished to change the cloak of his nationality to fit his context. The English were permitted to load goods at Masulipatam without paying customs duties. But in April 1681, Beague called White out as a servant of the king of Siam and forced him to pay the requisite customs.53 White gave in to this but would later seek greater powers from the king of Siam to further his commercial interests in the region and to seek revenge on Beague.

Reflecting King Nrai’s policy of openness to foreigners and their commercial ambitions, Mergui was a cosmopolitan place. Burmese, Dutch, English, Portuguese, and Siamese merchants operated there. As with Ayutthaya, Indian Muslims had become dominant shortly before White’s arrival in the late 1670s. Historically the dominant group at the port had been Hindus, but around 1677 Muslims had taken over as the resident foreigner managers of the international trade there as they had been elsewhere in Siam for decades longer. As in Ayutthaya, however, these merchants began to arouse local resentment. The king, wishing to respond to this resentment, promoted Phaulkon and his entourage, including Samuel White. White’s plan as shabander of Mergui was to use his constitutional status within the Siamese court to turn piratical raids against Muslim shipping in the Indian Ocean into legitimate privateering. He would make a fortune and retreat to England safe in the knowledge that this money would translate into courtroom power (as Frederick Skinner had demonstrated).54 He hoped that his good reputation in the English ports on the Coromandel coast would assist him.

White offered further details of his plan to his father-in-law, Thomas Povey. In 1683, the East India Company was subject to a claim from an interloping merchant, Thomas Sandys, who demanded compensation from the Company for seizing his property. This famous case put the future of the Company’s monopoly into considerable doubt. White wrote to Povey to discuss the implications of the case. White emphasised that in his view the interloping trade would continue regardless of the legal status of the Company’s charter and that there was room enough in the India trade for both interlopers and a more accessible, broader based company: ‘I am not at all dissatisfied to perceive the interlopeing trade is like to continue’ White explained.

White added that if the Company ‘were obliged to open theire books & admit of new subscriptions’ he could not say whether this would improve the European leg of the Asian but ‘’tis evident ’twould extreamly improve it here’.55 White was therefore quite explicit about a core feature of his brother’s Asian trading syndicate: that it required interlopers and a company to function. The notion of a reformed, broader based East India Company is one that George White would develop in the 1690s. In the short term, however, Samuel White wished to demonstrate the financial rewards that interloping merchants with the right cross-cultural alliances could achieve.

*

From early 1684, Samuel White had been developing a highly profitable shipping operation in the Indian Ocean from his base at Mergui. As someone with experience and contacts in the Indian Ocean and an appreciation of how quickly the mood could turn against the foreigners in the capital, Samuel had wisely turned down a position there in favour of his post as shabander at Mergui. Using his good contacts on the Coromandel coast, including Fort St George at Madras, and his access to Thai state approval via Phaulkon, White targeted Muslim shipping and seized substantial cargoes for his own profit. Another member of the White syndicate, Thomas Ivatt became the king of Siam’s factor at Metchlepatam in the summer of 1684. Initially, the Company appears to have supported this strategy because they assumed that White would represent the Company’s interests.

White began to contract his plan out to other English mariners. In November 1685, one of these, John Coates, began the most spectacular series of raids on behalf of Samuel White, Phaulkon, and (notionally) the king of Siam. Phaulkon provided sporadic support for these raids but refused to provide commissions for the king to support them, which provided clear evidence of the line he was willing to draw between himself and Samuel (if not with George). These raids included targeting the shipping of White’s old adversary, Ali Beague.56 Beague and his circle, however, were subjects of the king of Golconda who was a key ally of the Company at Madras (as well as a longstanding ally of the kingdom of Siam). As a result, the Company made formal claims against the king of Siam in October 1685 for shipping worth approximately £24,000.57

Having shifted control of the Siamese factory to Madras in September 1685, the Company also placed its Siamese operation back under the control of Surat in June 1686.58 They did this because they feared that the English presence on the Coromandel Coast was falling into Phaulkon’s orbit. As the Company’s leadership in London explained: ‘[T]here has been much mutuall kindnesses between you [the Madras factors] and Phaulcon, which we do not like, and worse, that you should permit his agent and our wicked servant Ivat to entice Englishmen from the Fort to serve the King of Siam’.59 The Company charged Phaulkon with contravening ‘the law of nations’ in using Samuel White to attack its commercial interests in the Indian Ocean.60

Phaulkon responded to Company officials in Madras on 29 October 1686 by sardonically directing his accusers towards the Siamese courts that he had been proven to control. Instead of accepting the Company argument that he had seduced English officials away from their natural, national allegiances to king and Company, Phaulkon argued that he should be praised for finding employment for them. Phaulkon claimed, however, that he was willing to help the nation who had helped him when he was far from home. While the Company targeted Phaulkon, Samuel White counted his winnings. By December 1686, after several raids, White had secured a substantial fortune. He wrote to a contact at Madras remitting 20,000 pieces of eight to be used to purchase diamonds—the classic medium for large remittances to be sent back to England.61

The Company in London had begun, however, to show an interest in Samuel White’s operation in the Indian Ocean and had started to consider ways to confront it. This was to be approached gently at first. The problem of interlopers in Asia had been a perennial one for the Company, since its inception. But the example of the Siamese factory exemplified and amplified the problem. Having tussled with the Skinner brothers and looked jealously at its sister company, the Royal African Company’s enforcement powers for its monopoly in its 1672 charter that permitted the Company to erect Vice-Admiralty courts, which it presided over, to try interlopers in situ, and to seize their cargoes and person, the East India Company acquired similar powers in 1683.

White and others would later make the connection between the emergence of these powers and the annual £10,000 grants made to the king by Sir Josiah Child during this period. Furthermore, the celebrated East India Company vs. Sandys case relating to the enforceability of these powers took place from 1683 to 1685 and ended in a judgement that went in favour of the Company. There was widespread belief that the clarity this case brought would provide profound support for all the monopoly companies; and officials at Madras believed that it would help to suppress the syndicate around Phaulkon.62

These high hopes proved unfounded, however. In July 1686, the East India Company went again to the state to press for a different legal power: the power to recall English subjects who had begun to serve a foreign state. Late in 1686, the Company had convinced King James II to issue a royal proclamation recalling all Englishmen—like Samuel White and his collaborators—serving foreign states in Asia. The proclamation proposed the use of martial law to target those who had been their employees and had refused to comply with the charge of desertion. Those who were never in the Company’s service would be charged with the lesser crime of being ‘contemners of our royall commands’ and would ‘incurre such fines & forfeitures as by the utmost rigor of law may be inflicted on them’.63

Despite his repeated accusations that the payments the Company made to Charles II in the early 1680s were the worst species of bribery and helped alter the Company’s charter in ways that made it ‘despotick’, George White and Phaulkon despatched expensive gifts to King James to prevent the state from backing the Company’s campaign to suppress aspects of their syndicate. As a result, the king made exceptions in his recall request to the Mergui leaders of the syndicate, Samuel White and Richard Burnaby, by advising that although the proclamation had been directed at them, they could avoid its purpose if they agreed to work for the Company at Madras. The exception went as far as detailing George White’s role describing the

regard we have from your relations here such an assurance of your loyalty and dutyfullness to…us, we have in an especial manner recommended you to our East India Company, to be preferred at Fort St George or otherwise employed in some good stacion according to your several capacityes.64

Pressure from the Company and the English state began to expose cracks in the relationship between the Whites and Phaulkon. The cultivated intimacy between James II and the Whites led them to seek to remove Phaulkon but leave Samuel White in place. In an astonishing letter from the East India Company in London to Madras dated 22 October 1686, the Company expressed its frustration at Phaulkon, but refused to implicate the White brothers in his ambit. Having secured a proclamation ‘to try all the English’ who worked for Phaulkon ‘by martiall law’ or ‘detain them in close imprisonment’, the Company proposed to use these English fugitives to have the port of Mergui turned over to English control. If they could not compel the English to depart from their foreign masters, the Company would instead plant a flag in the foreign territory they occupied.65

Here the fluidity between the self-interest of English expatriates (with live and useful connections in their adopted country) and the strategic ambitions of the Company they shared a domicile with would be combined by the state to turn fugitives into national heroes. Samuel White was at the centre of Phaulkon’s network, but the Company proposed to use his English affiliation (despite its dubious sincerity as a servant of the king of Siam) to help the Company turn Mergui over to its use as a revenue generating port town like Madras. The Company regarded Mergui as an ‘excellent place for raising a revenue of customes…upon the Moores and natives that frequent that place’ plus a good repair stop for ships.66 In time, if need be, the Company could move Bengalis there to produce manufactures. Although the Siamese careers of the White brothers appalled Josiah Child, he came to see their possible role in implementing his plan to establish a wider network of English led entrepot ports in the Bay of Bengal.

The letter from London revealed that the intelligence for such an assault came from George White, who informed the Company that ‘there is no power at Mergee to resist one ship’s company & that the people there are a sheepish cowardly people, like the Gentues, which will not fight’. A letter from George White promoting the plan ended with total confidence that Samuel White and Richard Burnaby would happily hand the town over to the English company if presented with a persuasive letter from the king. Such confidence likely records George White’s briefing of the London company. The plan also included retaining Samuel White as governor of the town ‘if his good carraige in this busyness give us encouragement’.67 George White continued to consult for the East India Company while reaping the rewards of his interloping syndicate. Once the authorities had become concerned about and had gathered the constitutional apparatus to confront Samuel White’s privateering on behalf of the king of Siam, George had to find a way to allow Samuel White to depart Mergui; knowing full well (despite his advice to the contrary) that an English assault on Mergui would be steadfastly resisted. He appears to have concluded that the confrontation resulting from the arrival of the English ships would provide cover for Samuel’s departure. With substantial funds remitted back to England and confidence that these funds would be enough to mount any legal assault or defence they wished to make against the Company, the syndicate would leave the White brothers wealthy and influential.

In January 1687, perhaps with a view to fully implementing George White’s plan to have the Company take over Mergui, the Company continued to try to protect Samuel White. They offered him neutrality if he resolved not to take up arms against His Majesty’s colours.68 Later that year, the Company again prevaricated and laid the blame for the escalating tensions with Madras (not White) arguing that White’s scheme had made Madras too close to Phaulkon’s orbit. In the strongest terms yet, the Company alleged that ‘the truth is you [the leaders of Madras] have nourished those vipers [Phaulkon et al, but not the Whites]’ and threatened that


the blame will yet ly heavier upon you as well from the King’s Majestie as from us if, now you have the King’s proclamation, you do not retrieve the damage you have thereby done this nation by pursueing and executing those rebells which goe in the King of Syam’s ships in hostility against their own country.69

The Company’s blaming the Madras leadership for this rather than White suggests either further evidence of a White family hold over the Company in London or a belief (still unsubstantiated) that Madras was part of White’s orbit.

Any intimacy between Phaulkon and Fort St George quickly turned sour and allowed the president at Madras, Elihu Yale, to distance himself from the White conspiracy. This distancing resulted from a transaction between the king of Siam and Yale brokered by Thomas Ivatt over jewellery, which Phaulkon would later claim was grossly overvalued, and which Yale would claim to have been unpaid.70 Phaulkon would later allege that because Yale had fraudulently dispossessed the king of Siam in these transactions, he could target East India Company property as recompense.71

London’s suspicion that Madras was colluding with Phaulkon appears to have prompted a much tougher line from Madras towards White and Burnaby from April 1687. William Gyfford and the Madras council first warned Burnaby and White that if you ‘refuse for contempt of his said Majestie’s royall proclamation and the rules & orders of this said Right Honourable East India Company [you will be] prosecuted in His Majestie’s Courts of Judicature as interlopers and rebellious persons staying and trading in India’. By 25 April 1687, the Company had begun to calculate the total losses to their trade sustained by Phaulkon’s actions at £65,000.72 The loss of such huge sums forced the Company to act boldly and to begin their assault on Mergui.

Captain Thomas Weltden led the Company’s assault on Mergui on the Curtana. Weltden left Madras in June 1687. He presented the king’s proclamation at Mergui in Samuel White’s dining room on 27 June and all the English assembled there willingly honoured its instructions. Throughout July, White secretly gathered local forces to defend the port, apparently at the suggestion of the Siamese king who feared the English wished to take over the city. Weltden appears to have lessened his determination to confront White, presumably because of an offer of sharing in some of White’s huge gains. Nonetheless, White’s local force attacked Weltden on 14 July. Most of the English inhabitants (about sixty people) of Mergui were killed. White was spared, and both White and Weltden managed to reach safety on the Curtana. From this point onwards White was with the English force, but mobile, and in a position to escape.73

Samuel White tweaked the Company’s invasion plan just enough to allow him to escape. The French ambassador would later confirm that the Siamese king had told Samuel White that an attack from the English was imminent. Realising Child’s plan for Mergui, White was supposed to ‘deface’ the port to prevent the English enjoying it. The same source suggests that White had often warned of an English attack and of the inability of the port to resist it. Such warnings would, of course, have helped him to justify gathering the local people together to spark the confrontation that would give him the cover for departure.74 Without any sense of whether the assault had been successful, the Company’s Madras leadership continued to try to tighten the screws on Samuel White and Burnaby in August, as Weltden and White floated off the coast of Siam. Elihu Yale instructed them to surrender the port of Mergui to the Company and cited additional constitutional powers secured by the Company: ‘know that disobedience to His Majestie’s summons from any prince’s country at wars with him is made treason by Act of Parliament’.75

Clearly at Phaulkon’s instigation, the king of Siam sent a formal declaration of war against the East India Company (not the king) on 11 August 1687.76 This letter listed grievances against the Company and its officials: theft, violence, arson, tax avoidance, and the recent massacre at Mergui. The king expressed confusion about where to place the East India Company within the English constitution. Phaulkon’s ruse of cultivating the English king at the same time as vandalising the Company’s trade had sent mixed messages. The king’s declaration observed how:

att the same time that this letter notified the causes of the Company’s disgust here in England, the same Minister [Phaulkon] was honoured with a gratious letter from His Majesty of Great Brittaine wherein he was assured of his royall friendship upon all occations which might afford, notwithstanding the endeavours of Sir Josiah Child the Company’s Governour to the contrary.

King Nrai threatened officials of the Company with imprisonment and the seizure of their property. He highlighted his continued friendship with the king ‘of Great Britain’ and with all private English merchants. Likely to have influenced its content, this letter confirms Phaulkon’s sustained attempts to isolate the East India Company from the English state to protect English interlopers from prosecution.

By this point, Madras had begun its assault on Samuel White’s shipping. As White waited off the Mergui coast, seizures had taken place of the Dorrea Dowlatt and the Satisfaction, both ships belonging to White. The Company used its new Vice-Admiralty enforcement power. This deployment of the controversial power of the East India Company would mark the end of any possible collusion between the English authorities and the White syndicate. Since it derived from the initiative of Madras officials rather than London, it could not have been stopped by George White’s intercession in London. The Vice-Admiralty trials took place in Madras in November and December 1687. The first, on 1 November, saw the substantial and valuable cargo of the Dorrea Dowlatt seized, identifying what belonged to Samuel White, but judging the ship as belonging to the king of Siam. Because of the war with Siam, the proceeds were shared between the king (who received 10 per cent) and the East India Company (who received the rest).77 The next seizure, that of the ship Satisfaction, took place on 12 December 1687. This court judged the ship to belong to Samuel White rather than the king of Siam so seized the cargo and ship as an interloper.78

Without knowing of these seizures, Samuel White made his escape from Weltden’s entourage early in January 1688. He hoisted French colours as he passed Conimeer and then anchored at Pollicherry road ‘till he had supplyed himself with necessaryes’ before hoisting an English flag.79 The French remained unclear about whether White was bound for England or for Bombay, while Yale hoped that he would head for Bombay so ‘that your Excellency [Sir John Child]…may call him to an accompt about the ship and cargo’.80

*

The news of the seizures of Samuel White’s ships reached George White in London in May 1688. In a response to the Company’s use of their new Vice-Admiralty powers against Samuel White’s ships, George took the law into his own hands by acting ‘under the pretence of a writ of fieri facias’ and entering ‘the Company’s warehouses with several officers &, breaking the locks of the doors’ and ‘forcibly carried away several goods & merchandizes to a great value’. Clearly concerned, as the White brothers predicted they would be, the Company’s Court of Committees agreed to ‘advise with council learned what may be taken for recovery of the said goods and whether the said persons are not lyable to an indictment in the King’s Bench for a rout or ryot, and to report their proceedings therein unto the Court’.81 The ease with which George White had mounted this action is clear evidence of the uncertainty around the Company’s Vice-Admiralty powers. Samuel White himself arrived back in Kinsale on 13 August 1688. A royal warrant was immediately issued to seize his ship, the Resolution, using Vice-Admiralty powers.82 The charges brought against him related both to his contravention of the royal proclamation and his breach of the Company’s charter. Before any court summons, however, Samuel White turned to public opinion to fight his case. He appears to have put pen to paper as soon as he returned home in August of 1688 and lodged his case, in print, with a parliamentary audience.

This case started to develop the wider domestic repercussions of the White’s syndicate. The White brother’s dispute with the East India Company in parliament would change the way Anglo-Indian trade was conducted. Once fighting against the East India Company in England, the White brothers altered their style of cultivating favour through appeals to the public and its promoting the notion of breadth of access to international trade. They argued that the shedding of national identity was a freedom needed to realise English birth rights. At the heart of this dispute (as with Skinner’s) was a disagreement about what happened in Asia, the role of Asian powers, the status of the Company there, and the benefits of private commerce. The Whites’ public campaign focussed on an account and justification of their activities in Siam. This account and the Company’s challenge to it were partial and discursive. These distortions reveal the sort of arguments they deemed likely to convince a domestic, parliamentary audience of White’s good behaviour. The contours of the debate included deliberations about policy and therefore the shape of a more concrete domestic result of the cross-cultural alliances that the Whites had forged in Siam. Whoever’s account looked most convincing to a parliamentary audience was most likely to influence how Anglo-Asian trade would be conducted in the future. At the heart of the White’s public campaign was an attempt to brand the East India Company as an offender of English freedoms and to define and promote new notions of corporate and national membership.

The pillars of White’s initial case were two: first, that he had operated in concert with the East India Company’s interests at Madras; and, second, that he was a loyal servant of Siam. Either way, he had been loyal to legitimate authority. White proposed that his very allegiance to Company ambitions was likely to encourage him to do the bidding of a foreign ruler. White was also keen to stress the approval and collusion of the Company’s Madras leadership in his privateering operations against Golconda. This was something that the London leadership of the Company had long believed, perhaps because of their dependence on George White’s expertise.

White emphasised that the Madras authorities’ decision not to seize the king of Siam’s ships that White managed had provoked a diplomatic spat that the king of Siam had appointed Samuel White to solve. White claimed that he had been preparing to mount this diplomatic mission when the massacre at Mergui had erupted, accelerating his departure and causing him losses of £21,877 (later totalled to £40,000). Again, he depicted himself as the loyal servant of a foreign ruler. White’s complaint against the Company related to the Vice-Admiralty seizures that had followed of his and the king of Siam’s ships. White did not claim that the Vice-Admiralty privileges the Company had obtained in 1683 were illegal, instead he argued that they had been improperly executed against him because they: ‘expressly require that it consists of a person learned in the civil law and two merchants, whereas Sir John Weyborn [Petley’s brother] was bred a sailor, Patrick Simpson is a Scotch parson, and Henry Thrustcross, a native of India, all of them wholly ignorant of the civil laws’. White claimed that these officials had sought to prove that the ship belonged to the king of Siam because this would make their due process more straightforward. Since it did not, according to White, they had sought to fabricate a charge that the ship did not have a pass from ‘some of the Companie’s servants’. For White this was evidence of the absolutist instincts of the Company’s chief in Surat, Sir John Child, ‘who declares he has despotick power and sovereign authority in his breast would have it so and his judges obeyed his voice’.83

Samuel White wrote more pamphlets in 1689. Because news of the Mergui massacre had reached London, it was of paramount importance for White to explain his relationship to this tumultuous and violent event. Typically for recently returned English mariners and officials trying to explain events that took place thousands of miles away, White depicted himself as the master of that foreign culture and Captain Weltden as the blundering, perfidious, and culturally insensitive European who had exploited the hospitality of the Siamese at Mergui only to plan a violent assault against them. In describing the outbreak of violence, White’s account corroborated all others in noting how the local Siamese perpetrators had enthusiastically struck Weltden but refused to assault White.

In repeating this detail, White conveyed the loyalty that the local population felt towards him and their anger at Weltden; not because this would show White to be a part of the conspiracy of violence against the English, as most people alleged, but because he hoped that his commanding of the loyalty of the local population would legitimise his presence and role in Mergui in the eyes of his own domestic audience. The second aspect of White’s approach in this pamphlet was to appeal to the local constitutional order at home by depicting his allegiance to the king of Siam as equivalent (but not competing with) his allegiance to his own king. Indeed, White was at pains to point out what suspicions his fealty to the English sovereign’s orders created in the eyes of his Siamese subordinates.84 In making his case, White played with the idea of nationality as a tool worth having as part of the English determination to further their commercial ambitions overseas.

Samuel White died in April 1689,85 and George White took up his brother’s cause by presenting a petition to parliament on 13 July 1689 which argued how Samuel’s Siamese career had been initiated and supported by the Company.86 George’s petition was followed immediately by others attacking the Company’s implementation of martial law in St Helena. White’s assault on the Company was part of an orchestrated parliamentary phalanx seeking to castigate the East India Company as a despotic power whose actions were more at home in the previous regime, that of William the Third. The changed constitutional context amplified the Whites’ desire to repackage the perceived injustices of the East India Company in the Indian Ocean as assaults on English freedom.

The Company resorted to the same rhetoric and compounded the international delimiters of English freedom. Equipped with the account provided by White’s former accountant and deputy, Francis Davenport, the Company made severe accusations against Samuel White. He was ‘the premeditated contriver of the deaths of those Englishmen whom he and his accomplices had first inveigled into the King of Syam’s service’; he forged the king of Siam’s seal to ‘justify his war against the Company’s allies, [the] subjects of the King of Golcondah’. The Company also acutely demonstrated how White had perpetrated his plan by drawing ‘little distinction…between the King of Syam’s estate and his own’, despite the Company itself representing a similarly hybrid entity between state and merchant interests.87

The Company’s constitutional inflection of English freedom—as recently celebrated after the arrival of William of Orange—was not the interlopers’ liberty of licentiousness, disorder, and violent rebellion—as seen in Bombay and St Helena—but the liberty of rights and privileges, security and property (as it had been for the Royal African Company in response to the king of Hueda’s free port plan). The Company went further than the African Company, though, to suggest that the Whites’ version of the trade was more helpful to foreign than to English interests. For the Company, George White’s incarnation of the East India trade was one in which too much power and control was extended to the Asian powers which necessarily involved: ‘the subduction of all the English priviledges by the native kings of India’ and implied that ‘our invaluable liberty should be converted into licentiousness and the ruin of our common country by a toleration to joyn with heathens and papists in actual hostility against this kingdom to destroy the English interest in India’. This was the Company’s attempt to dismiss the cross-cultural alliance at the heart of White’s commercial vision and their dual strategy of obfuscating their treachery with references to English freedom.88

The Company squarely placed its freedom to enforce its authority overseas via Vice-Admiralty courts on ‘their strenuous and lawful endeavours, groun[d]ed upon the King’s prerogative and authority extra England, Wales, and Berwick, to vindicate the honour and interest of this kingdom in those remote parts of the world’. They argued that its recently acquired seizure power was less severe than that used by the Dutch ‘who are a nation as tenacious of their liberty as any people on earth’. Why, the company had earlier asked, should we seek to govern India without the appropriate constitutional mechanisms for doing so ‘it is a silly thing for us to receive the honour of the government of India, which His Majestie hath been pleased to intrust us with, if we have not witt or power enough to governe our own refractory countrymen in those parts’.89 This was the nub of the issue since the Whites’ syndicate could not have prospered if the Company had been able to prevent the abuses against Ralph Lambton.

The Company’s Vice-Admiralty powers were openly challenged in parliament within weeks and within the courts within months. Ending on an orientalised depiction of Asian constitutional styles, the Company made an appeal directly to MPs in promoting the newly exalted English constitutional freedom. In this way, the Company offered an assessment of the interconnections between global trade and the formulation of English freedom that reversed reality: ‘The Company hope all Gentlemen know that the government of those eastern parts of the world are merely despotical’. The Company continued by rejecting the counterexamples provided by the Skinner episode and the Hueda free port plan to suggest that ‘the never sufficiently to be admired and belowved common and statute laws of this kingdom are plants too precious to be understood or grow so far eastward, or in any other soil but that of our blessed native country’.90 The White brothers added further examples of how statute and common law supports for English freedom would be given their best opportunity because of the initiative of the ‘despotical’ governments of ‘eastern parts’. The Company placed Phaulkon at the heart of this inherent Asian absolutism. He was the epitome of a stylised, characteristic, and therefore racialised cruelty. He was kind to those who assisted him in developing his Asian empire, but cruel in ways that subverted national and racial distinctions to those, like Potts, who stood up to him and were therefore ‘beaten by cofferies or negroes, which is in India understood, accounted and intended to be a publick affront to the nation of which any person so abused is a member’.91

The Company clarified, however, that it had ‘no power to press or compel any Englishmen into their service. All that go thither are petitioners for their employment or volunteers and must be presumed to go upon the Companie’s own terms and the Companie’s laws there establish by His Majestie’s authority’.92 The Whites had exposed the weaknesses of these laws. They had also highlighted that the Company was in no position to prevent its servants from working for foreign states without additional powers from the English state. The central feature of the White syndicate—a cross-cultural alliance that exploited national affiliation and allegiance for commercial ends—was a feature of international trade that the Company was powerless to prevent. Encouraged (but not compelled) by King Nrai, the White brothers placed national affiliations to one side in building a transnational commercial syndicate. Once back in England, they retreated to a nationalistic conception of English freedom to cover their tracks.

Alongside the Company’s official reaction to Samuel White’s case, the Company published Francis Davenport’s account of working alongside White.93 Like the White brothers and the Company, Davenport amplified aspects of his narrative so that it resonated with the developing domestic debate about what the White brothers had been doing in the Bay of Bengal. Davenport’s overall intent was to marginalise White depicting him as a figure who had surrendered his national identity and had given in to the most brutal tendencies of his foreign employer. As with those who wished to obscure the Ouidan sponsorship of free English access to the trade in enslaved Africans with racist, stereotyped depictions of Africans, Davenport preferred to dismiss the power and commercial vitality of White’s cross-cultural alliance in Siam as foreign tendencies polluting and undermining English freedoms, even though the White brothers’ campaign would propose to advance those freedoms at home. Just as deliberations about the structure of the African trade necessitated a refashioning of these stereotypes of Africans, Davenport was keen to show that White’s abandonment of English identity would also lead him to compromise his cross-cultural alliances through his abject, oriental, cruelty.

Davenport started by advancing his own English credentials by describing how he turned down White’s initial offer of employment within the Siamese bureaucracy because of its ‘unsuitableness of it to my own inclinations, having never in my life served any heathen prince’.94 Davenport’s account descended into formulaic depictions of European declension as the absolute power of the orient corrupted his European morals. In one story, Davenport depicted White indulging in a violently vengeful whim,95 saying that when a local Muslim merchant had noticed White’s preparations for departure, White had punished him: ‘first severely whipt with rattans and then clapt in irons and lead through the buzzar into the common gaol, there to lie four days’.96 According to Davenport’s depiction, White’s abandoning of due legal process and his immersion in Asian despotism would have provided a domestic audience with a familiar, and damning, evidence of what could happen to the European character without the guiding structure of a trading corporation to support their intrinsic European morality.97 The Company wished to pre-empt the accusation that its monopoly was the better expression of Asian autocracy by projecting the same claim onto White.

Davenport suggested that White was, like Thomas Skinner, a jurisdictional opportunist. He believed and embraced that there was no global legal standard and that local constitutional rulings ought to be followed. In Davenport’s telling, White declaimed: ‘if ever a ship of the King of England comes to this port before I am gone, the commander shall find me as civill to him as he can be to me. But if once he comes to tell me that I must go with him and pretends the King’s authority here, by the living God I’ll pistol him with my own hands and afterwards wipe my breech with his commission’.98 This belief cut both ways because White, according to Davenport, also relied (again echoing the Skinners) on the view that English justice was distinctively responsive to wealth: ‘If God send me well to Europe I shall have as fair play at the law for my money as my adversaries’.99 Perhaps because of this, Davenport was systematic about recording White’s financial gains, to challenge White’s self-portrait of poverty and to warn his opponents of the money at his disposal to fight his corner in court in England. Davenport detailed remittances of £12,000 to be spent on lands for his daughters and £3,000 to £4,000 of gold.100 These were clear attempts to use the case of the Whites to lobby for greater legal certainty about how English subjects could operate overseas.

In response to the Company’s dismissal of his brother’s pamphleteering and the substantial accusations made by Davenport, George White took up his dead brother’s cause and used it to promote his syndicate’s alternative view of trade with the East Indies. Responding to the constitutional tone of the convention parliament, George White’s account kept returning to the Company’s decision to assume the ‘despotic power’ that the Vice-Admiralty court had conferred on them. White sought to establish a better connection between his actions and the meaning of English freedom. He argued that the Company assumed a position too close to the king of England, which would discredit prerogative and would encourage those who wished to see the prerogative’s powers clipped. Of Yale, White alleged ‘he has got a new phrase for the Company’s servants and calls them the Company’s subjects under the King, which is another bold stroke’.101 For White, the Company had overreached itself constitutionally and proposed seditious models of corporate subjecthood that were threatening to the freedom of the state and of the English subject. White was determined to depict the East India Company as presumptuous in assuming and therefore usurping state power. This was ironic, since the White brothers had enriched themselves by blurring the lines between their own actions and those of the state of Siam. White was more comfortable with direct, individual assumption of state power through government service than a faceless, exclusive, and despotic corporate entity encroaching on that power.

The allegation that the company had overreached itself in deploying state sovereignty was a route towards White’s proposal for a reformed East India trade. Since his syndicate had sought to bypass the Company and appeal for state backing in England and in Siam, White challenged the automatic constitutional association between the prerogative and monopolistic trading companies. White’s Asian career demonstrated how monarchs could back independent merchants. White’s proposal to reform the Indian trade was based on the view that a company supported by statute rather than prerogative could be more accessible to a broader community of merchants. Just as parliament had agreed that free English merchants could not be prevented from trading overseas without a statute, so, he argued, parliament ought to be used to promote the freedom of a new, reformed East India Company.102 White depicted the rebellions in Bombay and St Helena that the Company had earlier associated with the ‘licentiousness’ and disorder of interlopers (and therefore White) as the result not of such disorder but of the Company’s determination to supplant the monarchy overseas. Again, as with the independent slave traders, White identified the English parliament as the surest protector of the English freedoms he believed he had enjoyed overseas.

In the Company’s riposte to White’s pamphlet, written by a member of the Company’s Court of Committees, Nathaniel Tench alleged that White sought the complete destruction of the East India Company. He warned readers that White wished to purchase

East India stock at low rates (although they have none of their own) to be transferred between this and December next upon a presumption that by such confident groundless clamours, and the accident of the late revolution in these kingdoms they should have the opportunity, and potent abettors, to destroy the present flourishing East India Company.103

Tench, however, exaggerated White’s ambition. White’s experience of Asian trade had taught him that the large-scale capital of a joint stock company was required. His campaign to exonerate himself and his brother’s malfeasant trade therefore focussed on the use of parliamentary means to establish a new East India Company that could offer more latitude to more merchants overseas.

White responded to Tench with a reiteration of his argument that the East India Company’s relationship with the English state had crossed a constitutional line. White warned Sir Josiah Child that the constitutional times had changed and that his prior practice of bribing the monarch to secure ‘despotick powers’ would no longer be tolerated. Of course, White and Phaulkon had often used gifts to the monarch to protect the interests of their own commercial syndicate; nonetheless, White warned that Child’s bribery policy could no longer work because ‘the lives, liberties, and estates of his fellow subjects could no longer be bought at the rate of 10,000 guineas per annum to the Crown’.104 White described the Vice-Admiralty power as ‘illegal’ and treasonous. He relayed a (probably fictional) account of the lord chancellor’s objections to conferring these powers on the company as ‘a most intolerable violation of the law’. White implied these objections were overruled because of Child’s bribery. White lampooned Sir Josiah Child’s ignorance (and possible misreading of the implications of the earlier Skinner case) in believing that the House of Commons could not be used to undermine the Company because they ‘are no Court of Judicate’.105 All these observations played well with the parliamentary audience of the early 1690s who wished to use parliament’s newfound constitutional primacy to protect the liberties of the English subjects from—as they saw it—oppressive institutions connected to the displaced regime, like the East India Company.

In White’s portrayal, the Company proposed an alternative definition of subjecthood to replace that owed to the king. It was corrupt and tyrannical and suppressive of English freedoms. In all these depictions, White promoted the agency of independent merchants in Asia and their ability to work successfully with foreign states. For White (as for Sir John Maynard) there was no reason why these individuals could not be protected by the English constitution abroad. White regarded the Company’s belief in the unsuitability of the English constitution for Asia as ‘logick’ unfit ‘to be imposed on the wisdom of Parliament’.106 Alongside the independent merchants, White appealed to the post-1689 parliamentary audience and championed parliament’s monopoly over reforming the East India Company.107 This was to be the most important domestic result of White’s cross-cultural syndicate.

*

George White began to implement the plan for company reform that his brother Samuel had sketched out to his father-in-law, Thomas Povey, over a decade earlier. Taking a further pro-Company pamphlet (written by William Langhorne) as his basis, White criticised Langhorne’s plan to bolster the existing company with a full-blown plan of action to create a new one.108 White lamented the exclusivity of the Company and its domination by a ‘a few prevailing Men, who have subjected the General Concern to their particular Advantages’. Perhaps appropriately for someone who promoted the idea of the Company attacking Mergui, White controversially argued that the Company had not been aggressive enough in Asia and had therefore allowed its settlements at Banten, Pulo Run, and Madagascar to be overrun by others. He argued (despite his own role in fomenting violence in Mergui) that Josiah Child and his version of the Company and its collusion with the English state were to blame. For White, this more bellicose company need not lash out indiscriminately, but should have chosen its battles more carefully and focussed more on competition with European rivals like the Dutch instead of ‘killing Mughal and Siamese people’, a course of action which altered non-European attitudes towards the English from ‘being the most positive to being the most Abhorr’d, and Infamous, of all Europeans, and so have lost a stronger Hold, than all their Force will ever be able to regain in any of those Parts of the World’.109 Sustaining mutually beneficial cross-cultural alliances in Anglo-Asian trade was, therefore, front and centre of his programme for company reform.

In December 1690, the East India Company settled its claim with George White for £5,000. This was an impressive victory for the Company. Fearing White’s skill at shaping parliamentary debate, the settlement prevented White from obstructing the Company’s attempts to secure statutory support for its charter. Of this sum, £1,300 was to be withheld until ‘fourteen days after an Act of Parliament shall be past for confirming this present Joynt Stock’.110 No such confirmation came, however, and White prioritised the potentially large financial upside of establishing and investing in a new East India Company.

In October 1691, White began to operate at the centre of a group of elite London merchants known as the Dowgate Adventurers who wished to re-establish the East India Trade on a ‘regular and lawfull establishment’ and ‘upon a new national joynt stock cleare of all incumbrances’.111 This group agreed to establish a new company rather than repurpose the old. They were to pool resources, and author petitions to the king and parliament. In a remarkable departure from the cross-cultural roots of White’s own wealth and vision, the Adventurers’ leading grievance was the role of foreigners in facilitating and profiting from the East India Company: especially Jews and Armenians.112 This grievance was designed to improve the political prospects of the proposed company and clearly did not indicate a genuine concern among most of the investors about the role of foreigners in the trade. Men like George White who had experienced the trade in Asia directly knew that it could only continue with the involvement of foreigners.

The group debated the corporate governance practices of the existing company and agreed that any replacement entity would prevent the consolidation of huge holdings in the stock that allowed small groups of investors to dominate the Company’s strategy. Each adventurer in any new company was to have just one vote.113 Overall, their proposed reforms amounted to a reaction to the huge power that Sir Josiah Child had wielded over the existing company, which George White had often complained about publicly. On fashioning a preamble to the subscription book for their new Company, the committee reiterated: ‘no person is designed to be excluded’.114

George White was a conscientious attender of these meetings (missing only four out of twenty-four meetings across a fourteen-month period) and he led in the printing of pamphlets, including 1,500 copies of their Grievances. He also led in cultivating government ministers to promote the idea of a new Company before the king as well as substantial subscriptions from peers (including £10,000 from the duke of Bolton).115 King William gave his support for the project by 26 October in supporting the delivery of a petition to the House of Commons (and would ultimately match the scale of the duke of Bolton’s investment). With a new parliamentary session in the winter of 1692, the committee began its deliberations again and persuaded the king to support their establishment on the condition that they would supply his war effort with salt petre, a crucial ingredient in the manufacture of gunpowder.

The existing company danced around various proposals to reform its governance throughout the early 1690s until March 1697 when in exchange for a loan to the state of £400,000 its charter was confirmed. Very soon after this, the Dowgate Adventurers who George White had so assiduously worked with came up with a counteroffer loan of £2 million. The resulting Two Million Pound Act of Parliament created a new East India Company formed explicitly from merchants of England not just London. The old company managed to survive this threat by purchasing stock in the new venture and accepting a series of reforms of its internal governance processes: limiting the amount of stock each investor could hold to prevent the consolidation of huge holdings and by opening access to its sales of Indian goods.

The old East India Company limped forward for long enough to negotiate an amalgamation with the new Company, which had a much more intimate relationship with the English state. The resulting United Company, formed in 1708, had its stock grafted into the new nation, Great Britain’s, national debt. In responding to the Whites’ call for greater public access to the Asian trade, the Company had become more of a tool of the British nation state.116 The White brothers would prosper by shifting their national skins overseas, only to help nationalise the East India Company at home.

*

In the summer of 1694, prior to the formation of the new East India Company, George White continued a direct assault on the Company’s trade by becoming an interloper. White attempted to discredit the Company in the eyes of the governor of Surat, Itimad Khan. The Company felt compelled to challenge White’s vision of English participation in Asian trade that, according to White, would benefit both English and Mughal interests. To discredit White before the Mughal authorities, the Company recounted aspects of White’s character that they had learned from his syndicate with Phaulkon. While the Company was an ‘Establisht head wth my Kings allowance’ and was therefore ‘more likely to increase ye English trade in India & consequently your Kings Revenue & intrest of his subjects’, White was a person ‘who hath no Constituted head to carry on Such a Trade, but for ye pres[ent]t Roves to and fro for his owne pleasure in contempt of his Kings Authority to gratifie his owne lust’. As an interloper, White was a merchant without ‘recorce to Govt in ye world’ and represented the sort of merchant with ‘no other respect to any thing [except] ynyr pres[en]t private profit, wch they care not how thye obtaine’.117 Later on, White (along with Ralph Lampton) appeared in a list of ‘sundry persons at Gomroon’ who had been ‘the Cause of the Rt Hon Company looseing their Creditt and Reputation in Persia & given ye Persians opportunity & Information how to impose upon & abuse ye Rt Honorable Company and English Nation in general’.118

We do not know what Itimad Khan made of these depictions. Plenty of other Asian rulers had been more than happy to indulge interlopers’ ‘lust’. George White’s commitment to establishing a new corporate body to broker English trade with the Mughal Empire suggests that White had begun to realise the challenges of operating independently there. But the syndicate White ran under the terms of Siamese trade encouraged by King Nrai contested the Company’s view that Asian rulers would disapprove of independent merchants and their desire for ‘private profit’. By the middle of the 1690s, an extreme form of interloping, piracy, began to provoke the Mughal authorities into threatening to close all English operations in India. The Company would use this crisis to bolster its position by channelling Mughal outrage at the presence of pirates to reform the English state’s piracy laws. White’s Asian career had shown that freelance merchants in India at least had to cultivate the approval of Asian rulers if they could not secure the approval of their own state. Operating without any kind of state sanction, as pirates did, would play a crucial role in promoting the corporate model and in placing boundaries around the emerging eighteenth-century notion of English freedom that men like Mordecai Zevi, the sultan of Banten, the kings of Hueda and Siam had helped to promote.

*

The White-Phaulkon syndicate was facilitated by a policy towards foreign participation in Siamese government that was instigated and upheld by King Nrai. In this sense it resembled the invitation independent English slave trading merchants received from the king of Hueda. The cross-cultural alliance at the centre of this chapter echoes many of the features seen in the alliances forged in Banten and Ouidah. In all three cases, corporate officials were tempted to develop private trading networks by settings that assisted them and, in the case of all three, where the company struggled to retain management of their own employees. The Levant Company’s operation in Smyrna was an outlier here. The Levant Company proved able to defend its interests through local courts, while the East India Company struggled to do so in Banten, Jambi, and Siam. Corporate officials in Smyrna clearly had a better grasp of how to defend their interests via local courts than had their later East India counterparts in Banten and in Siam. There was some semblance of legal uniformity across the Ottoman Empire that made this possible.

The successful cross-cultural alliances forged in all these contexts worked because they sought out peripheral, emergent port towns, like Smyrna, Jambi, Ouidah, and Mergui, where formal, centralising structures (company headquarters or state embassies) could not inhibit their operations. The Skinners and the Whites both profited from the latitude offered them by the Company’s indecision about where to locate its Asian presidency: in the case of the Skinners shifting away from them from Banten to Madras, and in the case of the Whites flitting between Surat and Madras. The White’s alliance underscores the importance of cultivating and sustaining state support within and beyond England. The Skinners achieved something similar but did so via their familiar connections and leverage with the Company, rather than appealing directly to the monarch (though Thomas would do this on his return to England).

In all cases, the cross-cultural alliances developed under a corporate umbrella for trade, even as in the Bantenese, Ouidan, and Siamese cases, the company in question was compromised by them. The company offered a crucial inroad to form alliances and a stock of trading goods for those alliances to exploit. In the Levant, Bantenese, and Siamese cases, the companies emerged stronger than before. Even in the Royal African case, the issue of how to manage cross-cultural alliances in Africa played a part in sustaining that company into the middle of the eighteenth century, despite its commercial potency having been severely curtailed by the free port model developed at Ouidah.

Of particular importance to the White-Phaulkon alliance was the skill with which Samuel White used his subordination to a foreign state to excuse his malfeasance. Just as the Skinners had played on their dual identity as free/corporate, English/Dutch agents to ingratiate themselves with foreign rulers, so Samuel White was one minute English and the next Siamese, according to the authority he was subject to. Like the domestic implications of the cross-cultural alliance established between Prince Bibe and the independent English slave traders, those prompted and pressed for by the White syndicate were based upon protracted public deliberations in parliament. These gave both the details of how domestic actors interpreted the cross-cultural alliances at work. These interpretations sometimes amplified, sometimes obscured the role of foreigners in prompting the disputes they channelled and resolved. Such public deliberations were the result of an altered constitutional basis for state decision-making after 1689 that placed parliament at the centre of power. Parliament therefore broadened the discussion of issues prompted by the cross-cultural alliances, distorting, amplifying, and refracting their outcomes.

*

To the East India Company, George White was the arch-interloper who operated beyond the normal constitutional strictures of international trade. In peripheral arenas like Siam, with rulers who welcomed foreigners and prevented companies from managing their own communities, it was possible for English entrepreneurs to challenge the company’s resolve, repatriate commercial gains to England, and then use these to compel reform of the Company and shape the meaning of English freedom. In proving that independent merchants could establish durable relationships with foreign states, establish successful transnational trading networks, and use their commercial gains to interpolate themselves into the economies and polities of their home and foreign states, White showed the vulnerabilities of the East India Company’s corporate model.

But in throwing his weight behind the establishment of a new company, rather than proposing the complete dissolution of the old, White reminded acute observers that independent merchants in the Asian trade could only profit if they worked alongside (often at the expense of) trading corporations. In the process, White’s syndicate exposed not only the weakness of the East India Company’s position in Asia. It also demonstrated how this weakness created constitutional overreach and reaction that proved formative for the development of enforcement power for monopolies, as well as the constitutional mechanisms of subjecthood, and the most suitable internal constitutional arrangements for a trading company. In the Spring of 1696, a royal proclamation was issued forbidding English subjects like Samuel White from serving foreign princes, closing a well-used loophole for malfeasant privateers. This move was part of a general tightening of trade regulation by the English state that also enhanced the ability of colonial governors to prosecute pirates.119

White’s syndicate demonstrated what independent merchants could achieve in Asia if they operated within societies that favoured foreign intervention like the Siamese under King Nrai. But Nrai’s regime proved unable to balance the competing interests of foreign merchant communities. Fluid national allegiances like those adopted by the White brothers and Constance Phaulkon could be ossified by conflict. In the late 1680s, as Phaulkon shifted his allegiance to the French state (and away from the English), Thai courtiers became increasingly concerned about the dominance of one faction. They revolted against Phaulkon and executed him. Nrai’s policy of European expertise favoured first the Persian community, then the Europeans, but with the death of Nrai, this Ayutthaya policy came to an end. The English East India Company subsequently concentrated its efforts in Madras and the British abandoned any territorial incursions on the eastern side of the Bay of Bengal for over a century.

King Nrai had used his strategy towards foreigners to help him sustain control over his economy and his territory. Sir John Child, president at Surat, however, was far more optimistic about the prospects for the Company after Phaulkon’s assassination. Child believed that Phaulkon had been at the heart of the expansion of interloping in the Indian Ocean: ‘In Syam, now Faulcon is dead, we account there will be noe entertainment for those idle sort of people that wandered thither formerly to that naughty man Faulcon’.120 On 20 November 1691, after the revolutions in England and in Siam had subsided, Elihu Yale wrote to the Court of Committees of the Company in London informing them that he had corresponded with the new king of Siam. The Siamese barcalong had replied on behalf of the king ‘that Phaulkon and White wronged the King greatly and owed him much, whose estates were carried thence to England, from which your Honours might take satisfaction and may yourselves [take] what [is] due to you’.121 The Siamese government’s insight into the scale and success of the White syndicate perhaps underplays—for self-interested reasons—the extent to which the Siamese government had also profited from the trading networks that George and Samuel White, and Constant Phaulkon had established from 1679 to 1687. But it accurately informed the Company of the extent of the syndicate’s success and warned them of how the wealth these men had accrued would be a potent weapon against the East India Company at home.
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Itimad Khan and the Statute to Suppress Piracy, 1694–1700


Itimad Khan managed the European merchants he supervised as mustaddi (or governor) of Surat in ways that differed from his predecessors. Previous mustaddis had made life complicated for the foreign merchants by using them as combatants against the Mughal’s existing military opponents. They sought to play each European interest off against the others as a source of local customs revenues. This had been the case with the mustaddi of Surat who had come into office when the English first arrived in Western India in 1608, Muqarrab Khan. By the end of the seventeenth century, however, the practice of trade in Surat had made Europeans more important to the commercial success of the port and was therefore fiscally significant to the Mughal state. In the 1690s, the Mughal Empire was involved in a prolonged and costly period of expansion further south into the Indian subcontinent in what became known as the Deccan Wars. Having subdued Bijapur and then Golconda in 1687, the Mughals spent huge sums integrating these provinces into their empire in the 1690s; and then even more money preventing marauding Marathas forces from vandalising these gains.1 These wars focussed imperial attention on the extreme southeast of the Indian subcontinent. Meanwhile, the European presence in port cities like Surat in the northwest enlarged and intensified.

While the taxes generated by these Europeans were of small fiscal importance to the Mughal state, collecting and diverting these to the Mughal treasury provided ambitious Mughal officials, like Itimad Khan, with the possibility of transitioning into higher office. Khan viewed the Europeans as a valuable resource to be protected, often contrary to the wishes of the Indian inhabitants of Surat. In the early 1690s, Khan’s close alliance with the English merchants was tested by the arrival of English pirates seeking Asian specie to use in the cash-strapped Atlantic economy. These lawless traders intercepted a Mughal ship and assaulted is crew, jeopardising the future of all English trade in India. Instead, the alliance with Khan allowed the English to work with the Mughal state to lobby to expand the English state’s management of the piracy problem curtailing and defining English freedom of movement in global shipping lanes.

In protecting the English in particular, Khan had to tread very carefully. The English had emerged alongside the Dutch as the leading European merchants in Surat (eclipsing the Portuguese who were better established in the region than the Mughals themselves). But the English East India Company had recently fought a disastrous war against the Mughals. Local resentment of this remained. This war had been designed to protect English interests in Surat and in Bengal. It was meant also to extract a farman from the Mughal state granting commercial privileges and to push the Mughals into helping the Company suppress the growing number of English interlopers present in Mughal territory. The war was a mixture of hubris and folly that emanated from the successful trade of the 1680s; and the conflict ended in humiliating defeat for the East India Company.

The Mughals did not, however, eject the English from India. Their trade was of sufficient importance to the Mughals to allow the East India Company to remain. Convinced that in founding their Western Indian presidency at Bombay, the English had secured a position away from the intrusive regulations of the Mughals at Surat, English ships sailed with additional arrogance in these years. Their movements would be watched, however, more carefully by Khan and other officials and merchants in the region. Khan would see it as a core part of his role and responsibility to sustain the English in the region and to protect them from local resentment as well as censure from the central, imperial authorities. The price of Khan’s protection for the English was having to surrender to Mughal insistence that the Company intercede at home to alter the English piracy laws. The worst expression of licentiousness—piracy—would prompt the Mughal authorities to stop the Company’s trade until it could convince the English state authorities to clarify and strengthen the means to suppress piracy. The terms of this suppression proposed clear demarcations on the freedoms emerging from England’s global trade.

This chapter assesses the rationale for, and effectiveness and domestic results of Khan’s strategy. It analyses how and why Khan came to assume such a protective attitude towards the English and how this differed from other local interests’ approach to the English and their trade. It examines the formation of a cross-cultural relationship between the English merchants of the East India Company and the Surat mustaddi; and traces how the parameters of that relationship broadened and developed from that between merchants and officials to becoming a shared enterprise between the English and Mughal states that altered transnational approaches to the suppression of piracy. The chapter assesses the profound challenge that the famous seizure by English pirates of the Ganj-i-Sawa’i (Anglicised as Gunsway)—a Hajj ship belonging to the Mughal royal family—presented to Khan for the carrying out of his strategy. This seizure placed the English Company’s operation in India in severe doubt. Khan, however, protected the English, and used the incident to alter the terms of the Company’s presence in the region. Khan turned this unfortunate episode into an opportunity to implement a policy he had earlier devised: one that forced European merchants into deploying their navigational superiority in service of the Mughal state. With Khan’s help, the English Company was able to relay the Mughal authorities’ insistence that something dramatic be done about piracy in the Red Sea and Persian Gulf back home to Whitehall and Westminster. The Company lobbied the English state, legal authorities, and parliament to secure a statute that would alter the English state’s means to target piracy not only in Asia but also throughout the Atlantic world. Khan’s careful alliance with the English contingent in India would therefore have far-reaching consequences for the Mughal authorities’ and the English Company’s (and state’s) authority in India and beyond. It proposed boundaries to English freedom overseas, dampening the domestic constitutional refrain about their right to freedom that had been argued for the first half of the 1690s.

*

English law governing the prosecution of pirates dated from the fourteenth century. Statutes legislated under Richard II were added to by King Henry VIII in 1535 to ensure that special commissions under the English common law would facilitate easier convictions and executions.2 In essence, these measures defined piracy as any crime committed on the seas. As such, they warranted the articulation of a new, projected, international jurisdiction for the English state. The extra-territorial reach of these provisions was the same as that claimed by the High Court of Admiralty. In 1673 an English reform required all pirates to be tried in Admiralty courts. This move was intended to allow trials in colonial forums so that piracy could be more effectively combatted. This reform failed.

North American ports instead became breeding grounds for pirates because colonists wished to circumvent the restrictions placed on them by the navigation system.3 From 1693, spurred by a severe contraction of specie in North America, colonists began to sail into the currency-rich sea lanes of Asia. They targeted those who the East India Company had so often been criticised for delivering specie to: the Mughal Empire. The pirates preyed on Mughal shipping—often the richly laden Hajj ships travelling between the Mughal Empire and Mecca.4 In their furious response, the Mughal authorities made no distinction between the pirates and employees of the East India Company. Afterall, the East India Company had always sought control (and therefore admitted responsibility) for all the English operations in India.5

The Company, however, had begun to seek to turn the appearance of pirates to its advantage from the Spring of 1694. In a letter of 31 May from the Company’s chief at Surat, Samuel Annesley, to the Company’s president at Bombay, Sir John Gayer, Annesley explained that company shipping could be used to convoy Mughal treasure in the Red Sea because of the Mughals’ ‘fear of the Pyrates’. This would deflect any charges that the Company was responsible for the pirates. Annesley also saw how these convoys could be used to ‘advantage and honour…and a way opened to procure several grants and Privileges wee want from the Mogul’.6 The Company’s role in suppressing piracy could dramatise and advertise the escalating problem of interloping and the Company’s unique position to target it. (Map 6.1.)
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Map 6.1 English Pirates in the Mughal Empire





What Annesley pitched as clever, opportunistic thinking was, however, a rationalisation of the English necessity to do as they were told by the Mughal authorities. Annesley was careful to admit that the convoy plan was put to him by the mustaddi of Surat, Itimad Khan, who was fielding more and more complaints from Indian merchants about the presence and assaults of English pirates. On receipt of such complaints, the mustaddi was ‘obliged to write to [the Emperor at] court’. Khan relayed to Annesley that the ‘King [Mughal Emperor, Aurungzeb] valued not ye trade of the Port in Comparison of the Pilgrimage to Mecca’.

Khan made it clear to Annesley that ‘he had defended [the English] along time, but questioned whether he could do it longer’. Khan’s loyalty to the English ensured that he offered more than threats in response to the problems caused by English pirates. Instead, Khan ‘ordered’ that Annesley ‘consider…some expedient to prevent the danger that threatened’ the East India Company. This expedient was to have the royal ship, the Gang-i-Sawai fitted out ‘to be a Convoy to ye Mocho and Judda fleets at ye King’s Charge’. To ‘prove wee were no ways concerned in ye Pyracy’, Khan advocated sending ‘some of our Englishmen onboard as Gunners’.7

Annesley quickly saw that Khan’s plan would help the Company discredit and marginalise (in the eyes of the Mughal authorities) the rising numbers of English interlopers sailing to the region. As George White’s foray into trade with the Mughals shows, interlopers were seeking to convince the Mughal authorities that independent English merchants could better advance Mughal interests. If implemented, Khan’s convoy plan would demonstrate the concerted, national effort that the Mughal authorities wished the Company to assume and advance. For the Company, the strength and durability of its relationships with the Mughal state was its best argument for its continued existence.8 The interlopers were lone-wolf upstarts without the diplomatic means to secure trading concessions. The Company would use the ‘villany’ of pirates to ‘induce the Morres’ to take a dim view of the interlopers.9

Khan’s notion of using European navigation to advance Mughal aims had important antecedents. Mughal officials had earlier grasped the possibilities of turning European maritime claims in the region to their advantage. They had adopted this policy in the 1660s and 1670s to intercept and contain the Maratha fleet in the Indian Ocean. Insisting that Europeans work to rid the seaways of pirates was merely requesting that those powers live up to the jurisdictional claims they had repeatedly made about the trading routes Europeans used. While these arrangements appeared to grant Europeans the semblance of sovereignty over the seas, Mughal insistence that these arrangements be established confirmed the authority of the Mughals over the Europeans on land and in trade. This compulsion by the Mughals may have meant asking the Europeans to deliver what they had offered, but the timing, specifics, and emergence of the plan to get the Europeans to help the Mughals police their waters emanated from Mughal initiative, policy, and power. In proposing to co-opt the Europeans into convoying the Hajj fleet, the Mughals did not relinquish control over their coastal waters to the Europeans. Far from it, they forced Europeans to carry out their bidding and to alter their policies on piracy in all the waters they operated in.10

*

Until the summer of 1695, the pirates’ incursions into Indian shipping were small and concentrated on private merchants. This would dramatically (and famously) change on 11 September when a West Country pirate, Henry Every, assaulted the royal ships, Gunsway and the Fateh Mohammed, both Hajj ships of the Mughal emperor.11 The pirates looted the ships’ vast treasure over an entire week. Members of the royal family were physically assaulted or committed suicide to avoid being abused. In response to these offences, Khan arrested all English subjects in Surat, and the Mughal authorities closed four of the East India Company’s factories in India and imprisoned the Company’s officers. Annesley and his entourage, sixty-three in all, were placed in irons. The public response was still more severe. Local religious leaders preached that the English should face summary execution for causing the death of so many Muslims.

Itimad Khan immediately pressed Europeans to order ships to look for the Gunsway after news of Every’s assault reached Surat. The news of the attack on the Gunsway created a febrile, distrustful atmosphere in the port. The English were immediately suspected of being behind the attack. This suspicion exposed them to the accusations of English guilt from commercial rivals who would use this opportunity to undermine their competitors’ commercial position. These accusations came from two sources: the first source was other Europeans in the port. The competition between European nations and companies in Surat was fierce and it did not take long for news of the English disgrace to reach their rivals. The English took action to divert suspicion away from themselves. They complied with Khan’s request for ships by presenting French privateers, whom the Company had taken prisoner, hoping that ‘by our destroying the French Pyrate ship and takeing those men it is apparent that a great part of what was formerly charged on us is false’.12

The English also approached the Dutch to coordinate the efforts to track Every down only to realise that ‘they in a most treacherous manner’ had attempted to convince Khan that the English were responsible and would therefore be unwilling to target their own shipping as ordered. The Dutch, on the other hand, reacted positively to Khan’s call for help in finding the pirates, promising to ‘clean the seas of pyrates and be responsible for the security of his [the Emperor’s] subjects trade and the Pilgrims repair to Mecca’—but only if, in return for their service, they were granted the right to trade free of customs at Surat in perpetuity.13 Deflecting blame from the Company in particular, but also from English nationals generally, was a significant concern of the English and this bought them time.

The second group who accused the English were the local Indian merchants. The most conspicuous and threatening evidence of local displeasure and shock at the Every incident was—for the English—the perception that ‘the rabble are all enraged against [us and] that we think it nor safe to permit any of our people to stir our of the house for fear any mischief should be done em…’14 This crowd was estimated to number 4,000 strong.15 This group saw the assaults on the Gunsway as insults to Islam perpetrated by unbelievers. While Khan was used to managing elite merchant demands, the Every incident meant he had also to placate the threatening and potentially destabilising importunings of the local population en masse. Noting the escalation of tension that Khan’s decision to protect the English produced, Khan decided to change his stance of protection to that of incarceration ‘to shew that he was no partial and on our side as ye Rabble said’.16

The popular uproar against the English appears to have been choreographed by Muslim merchants operating on a large scale in Surat who stood to lose the most from pirate raids. Of these, the key figure was Abdul Gruffore. Elite local merchants like Gruffore were able to use their resources to bypass Khan’s control by appealing to their contacts at the Mughal court. Khan decided to be front footed and seize the initiative, using the prime suspects, the English East India Company, to pre-empt these approaches. In October 1695, the governor set about trying to resolve the halt to all trade by appealing to the emperor and his court.

*

Ignoring the persuasive and powerful pleas of the Dutch and the local merchants, Khan instead went out of his way to protect the English despite the widespread view that they were behind the assault. Khan drafted a petition for the English President John Gayer to submit to Aurungzeb. In it, Khan inserted a clause suggesting that the English were identified as guilty because the ships involved had been recognised as the same as those used in the recent war between the East India Company and the Mughals. This tactic could have been used to downplay the English threat since that war had been overwhelmingly won by the Mughals.17 Khan’s appeal to the emperor proved remarkably successful. Company officials realised that Khan’s defence of their interests extended to offering them practical help and advice. Khan was also responsible for the generous conditions of the English factors’ incarceration. He permitted the English to have contact with their brokers while in prison. These brokers were the eyes and ears of the English commercial operation in Surat. They supplied much needed intelligence, reassurance, and advocacy (or ‘mutual advice’ as the Company put it) for the Company.

The logic behind Khan’s protection of the English Company can be understood in two ways. First, Khan’s care for the English ensured that any repercussions from Every’s raid on the European merchants would be shared by them. Khan, so the English believed, was responsible for encouraging the Mughal authorities to stop all trade in the port of Surat as part of his desire to suggest pan-European responsibility for the Every incident. This draconian measure would have hurt Khan’s customs revenues, but it had the advantage of directing the local Muslim population’s resentment to include all Christians. This policy helped the English cause by allying their fortunes with the fortunes of all Europeans in the port who wished to see the trade of the port restarted as soon as possible: ‘that the interests of all may joyn in procuring our Liberty’, as the English Company saw it.18

Khan’s generosity to the English was designed to ensure that their shipping power would remain in an intra-European bidding war to seek to discipline all European shipping in the service of the Mughal state. Once assurance of this discipline had been received, the Mughal officials at Surat used it to their full advantage, demanding that the French, Dutch, and English all contribute to a fleet of ‘20 or 30 [ships needed] to secure the Seas from Pirates’ because ‘the King [Aurangzeb] said that could not be from Us [the English East India Company] alone but in conjunction with all Europeans’.19 The Mughal authorities made it clear that any attempt to renege on this promise would reveal the guilt of whichever nation did not contribute. As a result of Khan’s intercession, the emperor ordered that all three European nations (French, Dutch, and English) be charged with bringing the pirates to the Mughal authorities. They would share the costs of making good what had been stolen even though Every’s English nationality (and that of most of his crew) was widely known.20 They would also face the threat of expulsion from the country if they did not rid the seas of piracy.21 These policies not only diffused the burden of suspicion from the English, they also pooled the material burden of implementing the convoy policies so that the English contribution would be less.

Second, Governor Khan convinced the emperor to abandon plans to attack the English operation at Bombay, designed as reprisals for the Every raids. These plans would have presented Khan with huge challenges and he favoured a peaceful approach that could pave the way back to a buoyant trade and, it was hoped, secure European shipping to the advantage of the Mughal state. The English authorities intercepted a letter that the Mughal siddee (military official) had written to the emperor. The siddee had been instructed by the emperor to prepare a war against the English and to target Bombay. According to the Company, the governor was the ‘principall Instrument in procuring the late Phirmaun to remove the Siddee from Bombay and reset the R[ight] H[onourable] C[ompany]’s affairs through[ou]t the several Parts of this great Empire’.22 Doubtless, such a war would have placed considerable pressure on Khan as the local state official and would have ravaged the trade and revenues of his port city.

Khan’s charm offensive at the Mughal court on behalf of the Company also altered the Mughal authorities’ attitude to the English in general by disabusing the Mughal authorities’ of the view that all English operators, whether pirate, interloper, or Company official, were the same and served under the same national allegiance. By 30 October, the siddee instead wrote that the ‘English are great Merchants and drive a vast trade in your Countrey’ and are led by Gayer, who the letter described as someone who did ‘very good service unto ye subjects of your majesty [the Mughal emperor]’. The letter did not deny the prevalence of ‘a great many Hatmen [European] Theives in ye sea’ but wished to distance the Company from these accusations by suggesting that ‘such business is not from ye English Court nor ever will be’.23 As well as improving the English Company’s reputation at the Mughal Court, Khan’s intercession delivered him valuable control over how the emerging convoy policy would be developed. The clear good standing of the governor meant that all sources agreed that ‘the whole power [of establishing and enforcing the convoys] is committed to’ him.24

*

The English had enjoyed a good working relationship with Khan for several years. But his generosity towards them in response to the assault on the Gunsway astonished them. ‘It is strange’ wrote Sir John Gayer, ‘to see how almost all the merchants are incensed against our nation, reproaching the Governor extremely for taking our part’. Gayer emphasised Khan’s remarkable skill at stemming ‘the stream against them [the local merchants] more than well could be imagined, considering his extreme timorous nature’.25 The English celebrated their good fortune in having Khan advocate so effectively on their behalf. The English officials lauded Itimad Khan, describing how he ‘has been ready in all our business from the year 1690’. Despite the backdrop of a recent war between the English and the Mughals, and even with the dramatic set back of the Every incident, Khan continued to sustain very good relations with the English. Company officials marvelled at how Khan had long been appealing to the Mughal court in ways that had ‘turned the streame of prejudice that run violently there against [us]’ around and ‘averted the mischeifs [that] might have fallen upon us from the form and Clamorous accusations of piracy’. It is hard to imagine an incident that could have done more harm to English interests than Henry Every’s raid on the Mughal royal family’s Hajj ship, and yet this did not stop Khan’s promotion of English interests at Court. While the Company acknowledged that Every’s raid had made Khan’s hope of supporting the English acutely challenging, he did not abandon them: ‘[o]n this Occasion he alone was on our side [while] all [others were] universally against us…only his not Joyning with them saved us from ruine in that hea[t] and fury against us’.26

The English explained Khan’s persistent support for them in the following terms: Khan wished to stand out to the central Mughal authorities for being principled rather than foolish or corrupt. The English had earlier ruled out any pecuniary instincts Khan might have had when Annesley offered the salvaged treasure they had taken to the governor, but Khan had refused it: ‘His contempt of money is not to be paralleled by any of the King’s Umbraws [officials] or Governors’ Sir John wrote, a year later.27 Instead, by promoting the interests of the English, ‘an injured Cause’, he would have ‘redeemed his credit with the King’. Khan’s support for the English would enable him to present himself as someone of ‘Integrity and Justice’ who favoured the compromised English to demonstrate that ‘for all…[the] great favours’ he could receive from his post, he was content to ‘receive nothing’.28 According to the English explanation, Khan wished to demonstrate to the Mughal emperor that he did not seek public service as mustaddi solely to enrich himself, but to deliver local governance that was just and honourable. What prior mistakes Khan might have made in the eyes of the emperor that required this redemption are unclear. In any case, it was hard to see how going out of his way to favour the English would have improved his reputation with the emperor who was so personally assaulted by Every’s actions. It is more likely that personal affection, the growing scale of English trade (with a belief that this would continue), and his belief that the English were better positioned to assist with convoying, all contributed to Khan’s conclusion that the English Company should be placed at the centre of his convoy plan.29

For Khan, the downside of having complete control over the convoy plan meant he was responsible for any doubts that might emerge about its success. Khan was indeed put under pressure by the Mughal authorities as his scheme to find the pirates failed to bear immediate fruit. Frustrated by the lack of progress in finding the pirates, the Emperor issued a husb-ul-hukm (imperial order) to Itimad Khan in January 1696. In this order Aurungzeb bemoaned the delays in intercepting the pirates and emphasised that the Europeans should be ‘straitened and very much constrained’ to encourage implementation of the plan. The order added that a ‘sufficient pawn and good security’ should be taken from the merchants to enforce the convoys plan and, furthermore, that they should lose aspects of their status in the port such as the right to bear arms, to fly flags on their houses, and to sound trumpets, if the convoys did not swiftly materialise.30 With most Europeans still under house arrest, these requirements looked modest. The restrictions placed on European performance of their sovereignty (flying flags, sounding trumpets, bearing arms) were all aimed at aspects of the European presence that the local population found offensive. The order was therefore partly an attempt to accelerate the formation of the convoys, but also as an additional appeasement to locals who so strongly resented the European populations after the Every incident.

Correspondence between the English and Dutch officials suggests that threatening such restrictions was unlikely to compel either nation to execute the convoy plan, despite their incarceration. A Dutch official wrote to Annesley on 17 February 1696 trying to convince him not to take the emperor’s orders too literally.31 This Dutch view reveals one European official’s belief that the order from their Mughal host need not apply to them. It also confirms that the convoy plan derived from Mughal rather than European initiative. The Dutchman argued that despite the emperor’s clear injunctions about what he expected Khan to do to manage the European merchant populations, Aurangzeb was not able to subject Europeans to his authority. He stressed that ‘there is a difference between ye duty owing them [the Mughal Emperor] from a subject and what they are to expect from strangers, who they permit to dwell in their country, to peruse their traffick’.32 This was a view of the status of foreigners that appeared to resemble King Nrai’s and contrasted sharply with that offered by Justice Fleming in the Bates Case.

The Dutch official went on to consider Mughal interests. He suggested an explanation for Khan’s generosity towards the English that the English had not considered. ‘It is true’, the Dutchman said, ‘strangers must dance to their [Mughal] pipes or quit ye place’. He said that ‘self interest, and ye benefit their [Mughal] subjects reap by strangers does many times restrain their power’, arguing that this restraint made the Mughal authorities ask for more than they could reasonably expect from the Europeans: ‘they require not always what they may’. Although the Dutch official noted that the Mughals’ ‘insatiable desire of money, carryes them to all extravagances and unreasonableness nay even to violence’, he said that he did not mean to scare Annesley or to suggest that the English comply with Mughal demands, however he stated that the Mughal’s ‘oppression [of] strangers as well as natives [had] often’ damaged them.33 His overall point was that the Mughals needed European business and would moderate their authority to sustain it. As such, the leaders of European businesses ought not to feel obliged to obey Mughal commands.

He argued that, for this reason, local leaders like Khan would extend generosity to certain Europeans in ways that contravened the blanket Mughal threats to all outsiders. Similarly he said that imperial orders extended from the court adopted a redoubtable tone, but in practice were thin on actual restrictions imposed. According to the Dutchman’s view, the greed of local Mughal officials would rule their policy, albeit tempered by their need to save face by appearing to govern the Europeans at certain key moments. The Dutchman’s intention was to emphasise to Annesley the extreme demand that the convoy system represented and to try to secure solidarity across the European nations to undermine it. He clearly resented the implication that Dutch national policy should be determined by the Mughal state.

To the Dutchman, the convoy represented: ‘a new thing upon the state’ and implied ‘constraints…of great weight’. Using the threat of expulsion from Mughal territories to compel participation in the convoy appeared like being ‘forced to bite of a sour appel’. The Dutchman awaited instructions from home but acknowledged that in the interim his situation was akin to sitting ‘next [to] ye firm’.34 He was, in other words, going to hold off allowing his shipping to support the Mughal scheme. He acknowledged that the promise to convoy the pilgrimage route was an important ‘beginning’ but warned that they risked the Mughal authorities blaming them for piracy if they did agree to the convoys.

Despite the Dutchman’s assessment, the English were disposed to honour the arrangement because of their belief in Khan’s determination to protect them. They were also sceptical of Dutch motivation behind their overtures to them at this point.35 Also, as Every was English, they may have felt that they had fewer options to avoid the ‘sour appel’ of convoys than the Dutch. Nonetheless, Annesley’s formal response to Khan’s convoy plan included some careful negotiation that reflected his appreciation of aspects of the Dutch official’s scepticism. Annesley made it clear that he wished to cooperate to ‘take away the disgrace from us’ that the accusation of piracy has caused and ‘to make the truth appear in the King’s Pallace’ and to help ‘the Port to flourish’. To secure these gains he stated that he was ‘happy to find the thieves’.

Annesley emphasised, however, that ‘[t]he Sea is large and [finding the pirates was] a business that requires time to Effect it’. Annesley proposed to find, seize, and bring the pirates or, if that proved impossible, to find ‘the place of their Rendezvous’. He added that he would provide two convoy ships for the annual pilgrimage but stressed that he offered no security for them since only the ‘Power of God’ could provide that. He also rejected the emperor’s request for a bond to secure his actions by asserting that ‘no one is great enough to be my Security in this Towne’. Instead, he added ‘my warehouse for my Merchandize in this Country is my security’.

Annesley proposed to improve the Company’s status in India by referring to the recent expansion of English interloping in the region. He hoped that the provision of convoy ships would ‘occasion’ a Firman ‘from the King’s Palace that no other Englishmen’ apart from those ‘by my Company…shall drive merchandize in these Dominions’.36 This was in response to the parliamentary attacks on the Company’s charter that had been led from the early 1690s by George White. News of the Company’s weakening position in England meant that careful negotiation with the Mughals during this time of crisis could help restore the credibility of the English Company at home as well as with the Mughal authorities. The domestic reception of the Gunsway incident would prove the power of the East India Company over England’s state apparatus and would—contrary to the Dutch warning—demonstrate the responsiveness of the English state to the importuning of the Mughal authorities.

Rather than the English snatching victory out of the jaws of defeat after the crisis created by Every’s raid, the European convoying of the Mughal Hajj was, as the Dutch official had appreciated, more an act of subordination to Mughal authority that derived from a Mughal blueprint pre-dating the assault on the Gunsway. A commercial opportunity for the English East India Company could not be an exclusive one. It would typically serve the commercial interests of the authority who hosted them, the Mughals. A careful reading of the build-up and response to the crisis produced by the Every raid confirms that the Company’s opportunity was one designed by the Mughal authorities, especially Itimad Khan. As a result of the crisis, the Company pushed for state intercession in the form of convoys in the Red Sea and Persian Gulf. These state interventions undermined the Company’s freedom in the region and would clarify the extent of certain English freedoms at home and around their global trading networks.37

*

News of the Gunsway incident reached England in July of 1696 (nine months after the attack). The news hit London at a time when parliamentary and court deliberations about the future of the East India Company’s charter—instigated by George White and others—had been raging for six years. The position of the Company appeared uncertain as it struggled to negotiate a settlement with parliament that would confirm its charter. George White’s project to establish a new, rival, and more inclusive company was also gathering support.

News of the Gunsway assault appeared at the same time as policy proposals designed to tackle the growing problem of piracy. These emanated from and focussed on British North America. The leader of this agenda was a resident of the colonies, Edward Randolph. In May 1696, Randolph published a report about the escalation of piracy in the British Atlantic colonies. The Gunsway incident pushed Randolph’s report up the policy agenda in London. The urgency of Randolph’s reform programme became still greater as the extent to which North American pirates were active in the Indian Ocean and were jeopardising English interests there became clear.38 The East India Company worked alongside colonial and state interests concerned with the spread of piracy.

Noting that its trade had been effectively ended by the incarceration of its officials in Surat, the East India Company in London acted rapidly to seek state help in apprehending Every. The Company could have repurposed its shipping in Asia to convoy the Hajj. Instead, it opted to press the English state for naval support. Whichever ships were used, Khan’s convoy plan depended on the English mounting a convincing campaign to apprehend Every. Such credibility would derive from access to ships, as well as access to the legal means to intercept and detain Every. Both required state lobbying.

Echoing the tactics it had earlier used to collar Samuel White, the East India Company’s Court of Committees quickly decided that the Company would seek a royal proclamation against Henry Every. The Company then approached the Privy Council who agreed to use the king’s proclamation in this way as long as the Company financed the corresponding £500 reward to be given to whoever brought Every into an English port.39 Quickly realising that those who were in a position to intercept Every would not necessarily value sterling, on 22 July the Company offered an additional 4,000 rupee reward.40 These proclamations contained the legal provisions to ensure that all crown officials could use force to sink and destroy Every’s vessel and, should this prove unsuccessful, would be responsible for seizing Every and punishing him.41 The proclamations also empowered officials to pardon those who informed against Every.42 Within three weeks of the first two proclamations, news of Every and his crew emerged. He had been sighted in Ireland. One of his accomplices was remanded in Rochester.43 One was found in Liverpool.44 Another appeared in Newcastle. A pirate found at Pembroke had £2,000 to £3,000 of foreign gold on his person.45

Not content with just sending out a royal proclamation to target Every, the Company marshalled the judiciary into their campaign. Evidence from India proved critical to this appeal. The chief justices appeared ready to devise another proclamation against Every in August 1696 once they had read a report submitted by Gayer detailing ‘the indignyties offered to the President and Councill at Surrat’ by the Mughal authorities’.46 The Company again revisited its approach, as more details of the circumstances of its officials overseas emerged. These details taught the Company in London more about how the Company’s approach to targeting Every would be viewed by the Mughal authorities in India.

Officials in India had come to realise that aspects of standard due legal process in England would offend the Mughals. Responding to this, on 20 August, the Company addressed the lords justices to challenge the terms of the initial proclamations.47 The Company advised that the opportunity the proclamations provided to pardon informants should be cancelled because it would be viewed unfavourably by the Mughal authorities who did not wish for any signs of leniency to be extended to any suspects under any circumstances. Since there was little precedent for plea bargaining in the English legal system, this approach to apprehending Every and his crew could not refute the Mughal accusation that it involved generous treatment to English subjects. The English courts even frowned upon confessions that meant a full trial was prevented.48 The English Company’s desperate need to placate Mughal ire and regain their preference had led it to challenge planned English legal procedure. The Company made it clear to the lords justices that they should adopt a flexible approach to English law in this case because ‘the Government in India, under whom the Company trade, being no otherwayes to be satisfied, but by the execution of Justice upon the Criminalls’.49 These pleas succeeded in excepting Every from any scheme to pardon pirates who were willing to become witnesses for the state. Pardons, however, remained possible for other informants in his crew.

The Company also requested that any of the booty from the Gunsway raid that the English legal authorities might secure as part of their apprehending members of Every’s crew should be surrendered to the Company so that they could return it to its rightful owners in India. Again, this altered aspects of the English law of piracy that dictated that the intercepted booty of convicted pirates be shared between the agent of interception and the state.50 The Company was determined to ensure that the legal process mounted at home to bring Every to justice should be conducted in ways that honoured Mughal juridical tendencies and expectations. This resolution derived from Mughal insistence, forced on the Company by the imprisonment of their factors and the halting of their trade.

As suspected pirates were brought in for questioning, the Company worried that they might lose control of the judicial processes the pirates were subject to. The Company therefore reached for alternative legal mechanisms, including the use of Admiralty courts. They regarded the Admiralty as a jurisdiction they could more easily control and one that adopted a procedural style more palatable to the Mughal authorities. Since the piracy statute of 1536, the common law courts had assumed more of the Admiralty’s traditional control over piracy cases. Civil law evidentiary requirements were considered too exacting to produce many convictions.51 But the Company hoped to impose these requirements to satisfy their Mughal captors. The expectation that the state would allow Every to be tried before a judge of the Admiralty went against the common law judge’s increased assertiveness and confidence in ruling over disputes overseas. Chief Justice John Holt’s recent decision in Nightingale vs. Bridges was an important example of this.

The Admiralty appeared to suit the expansive field of view that the pursuit of pirates required. As the extent of the pirates’ colonial American connections became clear, the Company proposed the formation of a commission to ‘be sent to the Governor of the West Indies, for the Seizeing of all Ships that shall come into those parts’.52 The geographical scope and civil law codes of the Admiralty looked best suited for this task. The Company also sought the opinion of a leading civil lawyer, Dr William Oldys, a former advocate of the Admiralty court and expert on piracy to help fix on a ‘method to be used in bringing the Pyrates to a legal Tryall’. Whatever methods Oldys advised were then combined with the expert opinion of another lawyer, Mr Doddington, to be presented as a memorial to the lords commissioners of the Admiralty.53

News of the Company’s procedural preferences for the Admiralty began to reach members of Every’s crew. By September 1696, the pirates were beginning to apply to Admiralty judges for pardons linked to their willingness to reveal the identity of other members of Every’s crew (according to the provisos in the earlier royal proclamations).54 The East India Company’s persistent interference in the due process of apprehending the pirates led the Admiralty to clarify that the crimes the pirates had committed were crimes against the Company; they were not state crimes. By constantly referring the English authorities back to the money the Company lost each day Every was at large, the East India Company made sure that it would have to foot the bill of the legal processes they insisted on. For example, the Admiralty ensured that the Company paid any suspect’s expenses, in having to travel from provincial outports to London prisons.55 But the pressure the Company placed on the judiciary also led to less prosaic results. Limiting the charge of piracy to an assault on company interests (as opposed to state interests) would help give the Company free rein to ensure that justice was done in ways that their Mughal hosts would respect. It also narrowed the constitutional implications of the prosecutions in ways that the Company hoped would minimise the effect of Mughal preference on how the English law of piracy should be written and implemented.

These deliberations did not yield, however, a clear approach to extirpating piracy. On 14 October, the Company’s attempts to have the issue resolved within the Admiralty courts came to an end as the Company’s lawyer, Mr Norris, regretfully declared that he objected to the common law alternative and was ‘against the Tryall of the Pyrates’.56 Confirming the perception that the Admiralty style of justice would be viewed as less severe, the suspects were clearly disappointed by the shift in jurisdiction. They continued to press the Admiralty for plea bargains. In the end, the judiciary proposed a mixed court commission to try members of Every’s crew. With senior crown court officials such as Sir John Holt, lord chief justice of the King’s Bench, working alongside Sir Charles Hedges, the lieutenant in the High Court of Admiralty, the commission tribunal combined input from both common and civil law traditions. This hybrid formulation is evidence of the strength of the East India Company’s appeal to influence the style of justice to be meted out. It is also evidence of an improvised rather than concerted response to the piracy problem. The desire to blend the two forms, civil and common law, into a discrete commission also records the shifting place of the two legal forms in the final years of the seventeenth century.

The commission used the City of London’s court, the Old Bailey for the trial. The Old Bailey created greater visibility for the proceedings. As a newspaper eagerly covering the trial put it, English justice was on show to the world and if it should fail ‘barbarous Nations will reproach us as being a Harbour, Receptacle, and a Nest of Pirates, and our Friends will wonder to hear that the Enemies of Merchants and of Mankind, should find a Sanctuary in this ancient Place of Trade’.57 Fearing this ‘barbarous’ reproach, the Court of Committees of the East India Company resolved that they should attend the trial.58 Committee men clearly wished to witness the administering of justice for themselves so as to be able to communicate as much detail as possible back to the Mughal authorities via their overseas servants.

While the English continued to suffer incarceration in Surat, the trial of the pirates commenced on 19 October 1696. Opening the indictment, Dr Henry Newton made clear that the actions of Every’s crew were of special importance to the state’s interests because they had assaulted the ‘great Mogull’, which threatened the nation’s trade because of the ‘natural Inclination of the Indians to Revenge’.59 At the trial, the accused justified their actions in one (or sometimes both) of two ways. First, they dismissed the accusation that they were pirates at all, preferring to define themselves as privateers, those who had seized ships (and their cargoes) of foreign nations using commissions backed by the state. Privateers had proliferated during the Nine Years’ War (1688–97). But privateering had also encouraged piracy, as Samuel White’s career shows. For the political economist (and later promoter of the Royal African Company’s monopoly) Charles Davenant, this war created a ‘loose administration’ which encouraged ‘Piratical attempts on the Mogul’s Subjects…in the Red Sea’.60

Second, the accused argued that they had only targeted shipping owned by Muslims. In doing so, they argued that they were participating in a holy war that the population at large (especially in the North American colonies) supported because of the widespread fear of North African pirates and slave traders.61 Despite their transnational and religiously and ethnically heterodox crews, the accused wished to depict themselves before English courts as the champions of the nation and of Christianity. Recent legal rulings had stressed that the ‘coercive’ force of monopoly companies was required when trading with heathen nations like the Mughals (East India Company vs. Sandys),62 the accused therefore adopted a pro-company argument to justify destroying the company’s trade. They aimed to project pure, nationalist credentials to undermine an organisation that would only survive through subordination to foreign states. Just as Chief Justice Holt would overturn the enforcement power protected in Sandys in the case of Nightingale vs. Brydges, Hedges and Holt used the trial of the pirates to challenge and deny the logic that Muslim ships were legitimate targets because of their faith.63

The first attempt at convicting several members of Every’s crew ended, however, in their acquittal.64 Despite the civil law personnel presiding, because the trial took place in England (rather than within English controlled territory overseas) a jury had to be used. This exposed the trial and conviction to the personal prejudices of the jury at a time when the East India Company was grossly unpopular and when pirates were being applauded for attacking heathen property. To take one example, a juror called Henry Sherbrooke was an interloper in the East India trade. He may have used his jury service to use an acquittal to strike a blow against the Company. Some interpreted this outcome as evidence that English subjects understood the trial to be an intrusion by the Mughal authorities into English justice. The acquittal was an attempt to prevent the cross-cultural alliance brokered by Itimad Khan from exerting too excessive an influence in England. The state’s consequent outrage at the acquittal of Every’s crew reflected its desire to uphold promises made at Mughal insistence, and to eradicate anti-Muslim policies and feeling, used to justify violence overseas. The controversies that emerged from the trial and subsequent acquittal led the Company and state to pressurize the newspapers to refrain from writing about the acquittal.

The authorities then brought new indictments against the crew. In preparing their new arguments, the prosecuting lawyers took note of the justifications the accused had made and any possible reasons jurors had had for acquitting them in the previous trial. In introducing the indictments, Hedges suggested that acquittals be seen as acts of violence against the East India Company’s factors in Surat: for in this outcome ‘there is no relief for injured Forreigners [the Mughals], but by their carrying out, as we may be sure they will, for themselves, such a satisfaction, upon our Merchants as they shall think fit, whenever they shall have the opportunity’.65 As if to deny the extent to which any acquittals might serve the interests of foreigners, Hedges larded with English nationalist rhetoric his hope that the jury would convict; with verbal flourish, he equated the desired convictions with an unstoppable emergence of English commercial superiority that had its roots in the commercial policies of that ‘great Prince’, Henry the Fifth. Furthermore, Dr Littleton, another Admiralty judge made it clear to the jurors that they could both convict the suspects and be ‘lovers of Christianity’.66 These tactics worked. This second trial led to convictions that led the lord chief justice to congratulate the jury.67

Aside from their embarrassment at failing to apprehend Every and despite the convictions, the East India Company worried that their Mughal captors would remain suspicious of the English law courts’ ability to fully punish Every’s crew. Once formal evidence had been gathered in the Old Bailey trial, the Company was determined to use this material as the basis for a larger policy shift. On 14 December, the secretary of the East India Company attended the newly formed Board of Trade to request that: ‘copy’s [sic] of the Informations and proceedings against the Pyrates might be transmitted to their Lordships, to be made use off in order to the discouragement of Pyracy in the Plantations’.68 This request was agreed to by the Board.

In late February 1697, the Company instructed its legal officers, Marshall and Doddington to draw up a petition to the lords commissioners of the Admiralty. Clearly dissatisfied with the Old Bailey proceedings, the Company resorted back to the Admiralty as offering their best hope of reforming anti-piracy policy. The Company also began to seize the initiative by leading the campaign against the pirates with its own ships. The Company now moved to secure state backing for the interception of more pirates, by gathering commissions for Company vessels to target pirate shipping.

They crucially looked to ‘erecting a court of Admiralty to proceed against’ the pirates overseas. This request connected with recent and ongoing court room deliberation about the status of vice (or devolved) Admiralty courts to uphold the privileges of monopoly trading companies. The right of companies to use these Vice-Admiralty courts against interlopers (a charter privilege enjoyed by the Royal African Company since 1672 and by the East India Company since 1683) had been cancelled in Nightingale vs. Bridges (having been publicly railed against by the White brothers).69 In reanimating this controversial privilege, the Company had to steer a very fine line between their desire to draw equivalence between pirates and interlopers to justify the use of a company in Anglo-Asian trade and to dodge the accusations that in pleading for the restoration of these courts they reverted to the tyranny their opponents had accused them of. In this way, Mughal insistence that the East India Company broaden English state means to target pirates set limits on the personal freedoms many English subjects thought the departure of James II had helped them enjoy.

The Company lobbied Sir Charles Hedges, the Admiralty judge, to devise a strategy to confront the piracy issue. This strategy was grounded on the perceived need to have Vice-Admiralty courts to seize the pirates and their booty.70 The King’s Bench decision in Nightingale vs. Bridges insisted that such privileges be established by statute. In late February 1697, the Company petitioned the lords justice and commissioners of the Admiralty. This petition sought the power for its ‘ships and officers to seize and take all pirates infesting those seas within the limits of the company’s charter and likewise to impower them to erect a court of admiralty in those parts to try and condemn such pirates as they shall take’. This petition highlighted the West Indian provenance of many of the pirates and how their intentions would ‘exasperate the Indian nation’. It argued that the activities of these pirates was a ‘violation of the laws of nations’.71

The Company preferred to develop a more decentralised model for enforcement against pirates that evoked aspects of the Admiralty system. The Company knew from intelligence supplied by their officials in India, that the Mughals would rather these men were retrieved back to the scenes of their crimes and tried according to local legal practices than face English juries. The Company sought to reform English piracy law to demonstrate to the Mughal authorities that while they had not been able to apprehend and punish Every, they had succeeded in strengthening the law to prevent repeats of the Every episode. The Company also wished to be able to report back that their pressing of the emperor’s case against Every would have broader policy implications that would successfully stem the overall flow of pirates from the Atlantic.

*

By April 1697, the East India Company’s employees in Surat remained in the custody of the Mughal authorities. They estimated that their exclusion from trade had produced losses of over a million rupees. They concluded that the pirates had robbed the local economy of five million rupees. News of Leadenhall Street’s attempts to punish the pirates and devise an alternative means to extirpate them began to appear in Surat in May. The royal proclamation against piracy that the Company had secured arrived in Surat on 17 May. Company factors there deliberated over whether to publish this proclamation, but, on the advice of local brokers, decided against doing so. This was for fear (actualised by the careers of people like Frederick Skinner and George White) that the pirates would return to England and sue the Company for plundering them. Recent precedent in London courts had shown how interlopers (often akin to pirates in the eyes of the law as well as corporate political economy) would question the legality of Company seizures of their cargoes and crew, and force it to offer them expensive redress at home.

The Company’s leadership at Surat instead preferred to deploy the commissions that the Company had secured from the king and Admiralty earlier that year. Annesley and his colleagues described these as ‘very expedient’ because they prevented the need to remove suspects to England for trial. For

should we apprehend any [pirates] and send them to England to suffer the law or confine them in Bombay till orders came from thence to proceed against them these country people [the local Indian merchants and officials] would p[u]t a sinister interpretation on it and judge that mild treatment of them to proceed from a contrary cause.

Ever watchful of how the local Mughal authorities viewed the Company’s efforts to suppress piracy, Annesley saw how the commissions offered a style of on-the-spot suppression that would impress the local Mughal authorities. Annesley added that the local population would ‘certainly demand justice on offenders they are so much exasperated against’ and would ‘raise disturbance[s] should they be sent from India and be ill satisfied with an imprisonment only’.72 Annesley understood the need for the Company to prosecute pirates in full view of the Indian authorities and population.

A combination of commercial pressures, an appreciation by the Mughal authorities that the English had been attentive to Mughal preferences in the punishment of Every, and the commencement of English convoys in the Hajj facilitated the English release from house arrest on 4 August 1697. Despite this, the English continued to feel isolated and vulnerable in Surat because of the prevalence of pirates in the region. Annesley mourned how their release had ended their protection and exposed them to a ‘populous town of enemies’.73 The English may well have felt safer under house arrest if they had enjoyed the protection of Itimad Khan; and their sense of isolation was doubtless exacerbated by his death in February of that year. The new governor, Emanaut Khan, adopted a markedly different approach to the English Company than that of his predecessor, Itimad Khan. Despite their liberty, the English felt oppressed by the new mustaddi’s repeated requests for money and expressed relief that ‘the Pyrates have done no considerable mischief since his government, for he would certainly have made use thereof at least to extort mony from us for his insatiable avarice’.74 Without a durable solution to the problem of piracy, it was unclear to Annesley which Mughal policy was worse: prolonged incarceration or constant extortion.

*

As more intelligence about the pirates arrived, the Company in London intensified its appeal to the English authorities to stem the flow of pirates from North America, especially New York. In September 1697 the Court of Committees sought permission to brief the outgoing governor of New York about the importance of suppressing the pirates.75 Earlier talk of proclamations and commissions for Company shipping became requests to King William for naval frigates to target the pirates directly and eradicate them.76 These requests were received by the king after the completion of the peace treaty that ended the Nine Years’ War, the Treaty of Ryswick, in September 1697. The king rapidly passed them on to the Board of Trade, which, as an organisation seeking oversight of all the nation’s colonial ambitions, helped to connect the Indian Ocean piracy problem to its North American roots.77

By February 1698, King William had issued official instructions to ‘all seamen and soulders’ and all his subjects in India that they should be ready to serve in convoys to protect the Hajj. The instructions made the basic strategic calculation and transaction at the heart of the policy clear. But William’s depiction of the English presence in India matched George White’s vision for the new East India Company, as a national concern, an emblem of the English nation, rather than a clique of elite merchants. William’s orders placed Mughal insistence at the centre of the policy’s rationale. Because ‘the lives, liberties, and estates of his majesties subjects in the East Indies and the trade of these parts can’t be secured without our compliance with what he [the Mughal Emperor] requires of us’ it fell on all subjects of the king of England to perform their duty in targeting pirates.78

On 4 March 1698, the secretary of the Board of Trade, William Popple, reported that the Board had approved two fourth rate and one sixth rate men of war to the sent to the East Indies: ‘for suppressing of pyrates in those seas and destroying their settlements either by force or by bringing them to submission on terms of pardon and mercy which the Comander of the said Squadron is to be impowred to offer them’. The Company had requested three fourth rate vessels (so they were slightly short changed).79 Popple gave the Company wide discretion over where the frigates would sail and how they could deal with the pirates they intercepted, however.80 The Board of Trade’s and King William’s responsiveness to the Company represented a huge support to their operation. But William’s redeployment of the Royal Navy to Mughal waters did not solve the piracy issue.

The new Mughal governor at Surat, Emanaut Khan, would use the convoy system and his oversight of it to extract more money from the English, which is precisely what his predecessor had not done. In March 1698, the English reported that the governor had forced bonds from the English that they would lose should the convoy fail.81 In July, the situation worsened with another major pirate attack on an English vessel from Bengal, the Quedah Merchant, laden with the goods of Mahmud Bauden. This attack was immediately blamed on the Company. The Mughal court issued an order for 200,000 rupees in compensation.82 The English initially refused, but later relented and paid the charges requested by the governor (which he had reduced to 30,000 rupees) to ensure that the attack on the Quedah Merchant would not lead to a halt in trade.83 More attacks followed. In December, a Hajj ship owned by a Turkish merchant, Hassan Ammudon, broke away from the convoy and was attacked by a pirate from Daman. The pirates committed atrocities against passengers and seized treasure (including goods and horses) valued at 185,000 rupees. The governor ordered that the English not be permitted to pass any gate in the town of Surat, and ‘hauled up our Boats to the Custom house’ and starved them of provisions’.84 What policy changes the Company had secured from London began to look shallow. This impotence in the face of pirates and extractive local governors alike began to frustrate the English officials in Gujarat. As the Surat general noted in August, without ‘some effectual expedient against pirates’ from the English state, the East India Company was left with no other option but to ‘humor ye arbitrary demands of a covetous unreasonable Governor’ because the alternative was to ‘incur greater incnveniences’.85

The Company’s ability to translate its commercial discomforts in India into legislative reform at home was not undermined, however. Promoting the need to improve piracy law became a lifeline for the Company at home and in India. In late 1698, the Company used the testimony of a naval official in the region, Captain Thomas South of the frigate Chamber, to prove that its convoys had been deployed convincingly in order to deflect accusations made by Emanaut Khan that the English had been neglectful.86 The Company presented South’s testimony to parliament as part of its petition to seek parliamentary support for its campaign to suppress piracy. South’s evidence proved the Company’s willingness to cooperate with Mughal demands for convoys. It also demonstrated that the Company was unable to pursue an effective campaign against the pirates due to the indiscipline of the local captains.87

South’s testimony and the broader parliamentary deliberation about the piracy issue showed that the Company had done everything to comply with the Mughal’s wishes, but these actions had been insufficient to confront the problem. More concerted, state-backed measures were therefore required. By March 1699, the Company was able to report that both the French and the Dutch had also acceded to Mughal demands for convoy ships, claiming that, unlike the Company, both these nations had provided a ‘security paper’ promising to provide this service.88 Here the Company used the pan-European vision of Itimad Khan’s convoy plan to pressurise London. There was no more effective strategy to illicit state support at home than that which mentioned how the failure to provide such support would allow European rivals to gain the upper hand in Asia.

The Company also used details of the raids themselves to demonstrate their commitment to robust legal enforcement against pirates at home. It later became apparent that the Quedah Merchant had been seized by Captain William Kidd. Kidd had been employed to suppress piracy in the region but had instead turned from gamekeeper to poacher.89 The Company sought to use Kidd’s notoriety as a test case of the various judicial means so far created with the English state’s help. The results of this test would be used both to impress upon the Mughal authorities the seriousness with which the Company and the English crown took the Mughal state’s request to suppress piracy in ways that reflected Mughal preferences and to plead with the English state for broader powers.

The Company appealed to the lords justices first, on 1 September 1699, pleading that the £100,000 that the governor of New York, the earl of Bellamont, had seized from Kidd at York Fort should be recovered and given to the Company as compensation for ‘several great Sums of Money having been extorted from this Company, by the Moors Governours of Surrat towards their Satisfaction’.90 On 21 September 1699, the Company requested ‘some publick as well as further private satisfaction’ for ‘the Great Mogull’ and proposed that Kidd ‘be brought to some very Publick…Punishment the better to remove the Reproach that lyes upon the English nation’.91 Accordingly, Kidd’s trial and execution in London was watched by a Mughal observer hosted by East India Company.

The success of the Kidd trial hardened parliamentary resolve to legislate measures to suppress piracy. Having watched the failure of the naval intervention that King William and the Board of Trade had made in early 1698, the Company reverted to seeking Vice-Admiralty enforcement powers. On 5 December 1699, the Company petitioned the lords commissioners to execute the office of lord high admiral of England, pleading that ‘unless some Stop be put to these villainous Practices [the situation] will so far exasperate the Indian Nations that they will utterly destroy the Factors and Effects of’ the Company and will ‘totally forbid all Commerce between them and the English Nation’. The petition continued by asking the lords commissioners ‘to impower’ company ships and officials ‘to seize and take all Pirates infesting those Seas, within the Limits of the Company’s Charter; and likewise to impower them to erect a Court of Admiralty in those Parts, to try and condemn such Pirates as they shall take’.92

Noting the sensitivities of these powers after the Nightingale vs. Bridges decision, the Admiralty judge, Sir Charles Hedges, led moves to secure statutory backing for them. From March 1696, Hedges had recommended the appointment of a vice-admiral of Bombay to seize and send back pirates. He remained cautious about whether these suspects should be tried for their lives and preferred to defer to a common law expert on this point. He nonetheless led the legislation process in parliament, presenting the Bill for the More Effectual Suppression of Piracies on 20 January 1700. The Bill was passed in the Commons on 12 February and in the Lords on 28 March.93

Having secured royal assent, the Company’s persistent pleas for appropriate state means to suppress piracy bore fruit. The provisions in this Act for the more Effectual Suppression of Piracy (11 & 12 Wm III, c. 7) reflected what the East India Company had learnt regarding how the Mughals wished for piracy suppression to be managed. The Act instituted Admiralty Courts that would allow pirates to be tried close to the scene of their offence, relocating the process to take palce closer to their non-European victims. In fact, this feature of the legislation had as much to do with the need to target the communities who supported the pirates in America as to allow for the possibility to execute convicted pirates in front of the Mughal authorities in India.

The legislation also followed the preferences of East India Company lobbyists in allowing for a wider variety of individuals to take part in Vice-Admiralty court trials, extending this power from those learned in the civil law courts to ‘such as are knowne Merchants Factors or Planters or such as are Captains Lieutenants or Warrant Officers in any of His Majesties Shipps of Warr or Captains Masters or Mates of some English Shipp’. Previously, only commissioned officers of the Royal Navy could undertake this judicial duty, which had made it difficult to staff the courts.94 The statute helped resolve the slippage between treason and piracy by preventing English subjects from using the defence that they were protected from the charge of piracy by the commissions provided by foreign states. Were he still alive, this aspect of the statute would have led to further problems for Samuel White.

The first trial of a pirate under the terms of the new legislation was that of Captain John Quelch. This trial took place in Boston in 1704. Aware that he was charting new legal ground, Paul Dudley, attorney general of the Colony, and her majesty’s advocate for the Court of Admiralty began his preamble by explaining the changing legal basis of the trial from the terms of the 1536 statute to the legislation of 1700. Dudley made it clear that the notion of condemning an English subject to death without a trial by jury was controversial and ‘a pretty sever thing’, but: ‘the Wisdom and Justice of our Nation, for very sufficient and Excellent reasons, have so ordered in the Case of Piracy’.95 What Dudley did not mention was the extent to which the wisdom and justice of the nation had been steered by Mughal preference.

This trial confirmed that the piracy legislation was not a perfect expression of the Company’s wishes since the presiding judges allowed defendants to plea bargain. Some of the defendants pleaded guilty and were then entered as witnesses and received leniency.96 The broader need for pirates to be convicted and punished may have pushed to one side the issue of precisely how this was to be done. After the 1700 Act’s passage, accused pirates tried in England still faced jury trials under the 1536 Act, but in the colonies the new law meant that the jury was replaced with a set of at least seven commissioners. This was just one of several ways in which the 1700 Act altered piracy trial procedure, stripping most defendants of ancient rights and protections.97 The removal of the jury was done in part because of the difficulty of presenting often complex piracy cases to them. There was also marked nervousness, with colonial jurors reluctant to convict local pirates—particulary in colonies that were commercially dependent on pirates.98 Quelch’s case would become a much-discussed example of the excesses of royal government in the North American colonies.99 Such was the need to confront the piracy issue and to placate the Mughals, however, that the resulting legislation undermined cherished English constitutional styles and processes.100 Although many would have applauded the statutory basis for these new admiralty powers, many more would have worried about the erosion of English liberties earlier deemed to be portable by preventing innocent English merchants suspected of piracy from having access to jury trials.

*

Mughal initiative and control led them to exploit the Every raid to force the English into altering the law of piracy suppression. The suppression of piracy was a policy born of a cross-cultural alliance between the East India Company and the Mughal state, brokered by Itimad Khan. It was not a perfectly balanced alliance, but both sides stood to benefit from the plan’s success. When the Mughal authorities pushed for the convoying plan, they did so as a clever compromise that appeared to discipline the Europeans publicly without pushing them away commercially. Khan’s compromise worked because it satisfied multiple interests: the Mughal court, local Gujarati and expatriate Asian merchants in Surat, as well as the communities of European merchants who imagined the plan benefitting them because it sustained their trade and elevated their status within the Mughal polity.

Rather than reflecting the sovereignty and volition of European companies or nations, the suppression of piracy was a policy the Mughals forced the Europeans to take responsibility for. What the English regarded as Itimad Khan’s surprising generosity provided a means for him to tether English shipping to Mughal interests. Khan’s cultivation of English affection was designed to help him convince the English East India Company to use all its navigational power in the service of the Mughal state. Every’s raid provided the pretext to implement this plan. Itimad Khan’s plan offers an illustration of how the East India Company could be used by a foreign power to reshape English law—and English freedoms—(partly) for Mughal purposes. The plans, the convoys, and the resulting alterations in piracy legislation were at the initiative of the Mughal authorities, with the English East India Company presenting less as a slippery commercial and constitutional opportunist, and more as a subordinate functionary of both the Mughal and English states. Furthermore, the Mughal’s insistence that the Company appeal to the English state to expand and actualise its anti-piracy policy necessitated the Company surrendering aspects of its autonomy to the English state by requesting commissions and naval protection that denied its corporate sovereignty.

*

The cross-cultural alliance fostered by the mustaddi of Surat, Itamid Khan, and Samuel Annesley of the East India Company was born of some of the same concerns that generated the cross-cultural alliances detailed in other chapters of this book. Like Skinner and the sultan of Banten, like Petley Wybourne and Prince Bibe, and like George White and Constance Phaulkon, Annesley and Khan worked to further their mutual commercial interests. What is most remarkable about the Surat piracy example explored in this chapter is the extent to which Annesley held corporate belonging together in the face of violence, incarceration, and extortion. As with the Levant Company in Smyrna, the corporate unit endured. The Mughal’s policy regarding piracy sought to dissolve the barriers between the different categories of English subjects, to make the Company appear as it had always depicted itself, as the body responsible for all English people in the Mughal emperor’s territory. Despite the temptations of piracy and an expansion of interloping, the Mughal reaction to Every helped the East India Company realise its corporate vision. In this way, the piracy issue helped to exorcise the demons of Samuel White. White had demonstrated, in a context much more reliant on foreigners, how shifting national identity could be dangerous to company interests. In the much more restrictive context of Surat in the 1690s, Annesley accepted the expectations of the Mughals and merged the concept of the English nation with that of the Company. The distinction between legitimate and illegitimate free trade was to be drawn through these cross-cultural alliances. In doing so, the Mughals placed limits on the freedoms of English subjects within and beyond their domains.

This unity greatly helped the second remarkable feature of the cross-cultural alliance formed in response to the piracy crisis. The alliance broadened from the balanced, personal relationship between Khan and Annesley to a relationship between two states: Mughal and English. As with the relationship between the Royal African Company and the king of Hueda, the balance of this alliance was against English interests. Because it was an international alliance, its consequences would be on a similarly large scale. In England these consequences would be amplified beyond simple alterations to corporate policy, leading to a full-fledged campaign to develop a transnational law to suppress piracy to be implemented in the Atlantic and Indian Oceans. While cross-cultural alliances between the king of Hueda and Petley Wybourne and between the king of Siam and George White had forced the English state to remove Admiralty court powers from the African and East India Companies, the Mughal state ensured that these same powers would be repurposed against English pirates.

The other point of comparison across the cases in this book is the decline of jurisdictional promiscuity for plaintiffs. With emerging constitutional clarity over how to manage international commercial disputes, the days of interloping merchants like Thomas Skinner having recourse to multiple means of legal assault against the Company through appeal to multiple jurisdictions had gone. While the parliament of the time could not solve Skinner’s claim, the statute to suppress piracy underscored how, by the early years of the eighteenth century, parliament became the undisputed arbiter of international commercial problems. As we have seen in the African and Siamese examples, making parliament the venue to deal with the domestic reverberations of the cross-cultural alliances at the centre of this book allowed the agency born of these alliances to deepen, diffuse, refract, and amplify according to the course taken in parliamentary deliberation. Parliament was the protector, the generator, the definer, and the delimited of English freedoms par excellence. Even when, as explored in these cases, it received its impetus from foreign powers.

*

The 1700 Act for the More Effectual Suppression of Piracy was more remarkable because of the role a foreign power played in instigating it than it was for any success it had in quickly eradicating piracy in Mughal waters. Petitions from the Company to the king continued, requesting further commissions for their convoy ships to intercept pirates still very active in the region during the early years of the eighteenth century.101 Neither did the legislation provide guidance on every aspect of targeting the pirates. Other petitions sought clarity about what the captains commissioned to intercept pirates could do with suspects once they had imprisoned them and where the latter could be safely imprisoned.102 There were no successful piracy trials under the terms of the statute in India. Although the East India Company petitioned to have the same powers as colonial governors in America, they were not able to offer the Mughal authorities the close observation of justice for the English pirates that the Mughals wished for.

In Surat, the English faced continued uncertainty. In January 1702, their officials remained imprisoned at the insistence of the local merchant, Hassan Ammudon.103 The repeated halting of trade by the local officials clearly brought commercial pressures that worried the Mughal court, just as the Dutch official had prophesied. Governors who presided over the halting of trade were often replaced by court officials. The legal means provided for the English to target the pirates also failed to convince the English. Company officials complained that the commissions King William had provided were disputed by locals and English alike because the king was now dead. The English also argued that the controversial aspects of the legislation that permitted English officials to mimic local legal practices by conducting swift, summary trials and executions would—if conducted in private—serve only to convince the locals that the pirates were English because the process looked suspiciously quick and clandestine.104 The Mughals, however, achieved their most important goal of securing the pilgrimage routes to Mecca via the Red Sea as well as associated trade with Mocha, Jeddah, and the Persian Gulf. By applying pressure on the Company, as well as the Dutch and French, the Mughals were able to avoid the expense and difficulty of forming their own naval forces to control their maritime hinterland, instead using European trade interests as leverage to secure that protection.

The statute to suppress piracy lapsed in the 1720s. By this time the issue of piracy had lessened in importance in the Atlantic and Indian Oceans. Naval enforcement grew, and more legitimate commercial opportunities abounded. The discomfort the English experienced in Surat continued to enhance their determination to shift their operations to Bombay. With English shipping established as a legitimate presence in the region by Khan’s convoy idea, the English began to shake off their subordination to Mughal rule. As the Mughal state slowly imploded from the middle of the eighteenth century, the British would use their navigational superiority in the Persian Gulf to consolidate their territorial hold over the region. The Emperor Aurungzeb and those who followed him subsequently sought to limit British encroachment on his territory, but the prolonged issue of having to wage wars against the Marathas had prevented the Mughal emperors from doing so. Once the Marathas had been subdued, the English began to assume a more commanding presence in the region. English power in the region was ultimately enhanced by the willingness of the Mughals to permit English shipping a formal role in their domain. Some of the most fertile seeds of this enhancement had been sown by Itimad Khan.
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Conclusion

Free to Dominate


On 19 June 1746, members of the East India Company’s Court of Committees received and read a letter from the sultan of Banjar, Tamjeed Alha.1 Banjar was a pepper-producing region of Java formerly under the control of Sultan Agen of Banten who had protected the Skinner brothers ninety years earlier. Like his seventeenth-century predecessors, Sultan Tamjeed wrote regularly to the officials of the English East India Company requesting various things. Unlike those predecessors, Sultan Tamjeed wrote directly to the Company in London. Bearing in mind the long history of corporate responsiveness to foreign pressure that this book has focussed on, the sultan of Banjar’s appeal was neither presumptive nor entitled. Sometimes his requests were modest. In 1745, Sultan Tamjeed had asked that the Company to send him a mare, a beetle box, a clock, and a Turkish vest.2 At other times, however, the sultan’s requests were more substantial, though not without precedent in the history of cross-cultural alliances structured by the Company. For instance, like the Mughal authorities in Surat half a century previously, the sultan asked that the Company loan him a ship to help him defend his home waters from local robbers.

The Company wrote back to confirm that they had sent the objects requested. They also agreed to supply a ship to help the sultan. But the Company clarified to the sultan that they did so as a gesture of good will and from a position of free will. They also stressed to Sultan Tamjeed that their loan of the ship would not interfere with the vessel’s loading of pepper. The Company stressed that the trade in pepper was the only means to pay for the sultan’s protection and could be recalled by them at any time. Letters from the toomoongong of Banjar, the sultan’s minister responsible for commercial matters, typically accompanied those of his royal master. In keeping with his brief, these letters usually requested that the Company pay more duties to the sultan. The Company was more direct with this official: further duties would render the trade unworkable, and they would be forced to abandon and withdraw from the region, taking their shipping with them. The Company also admonished the toomoongong for failing to ensure that previous supplies of pepper had been properly filtered and cleaned for the Chinese market.3 In requesting that the Company to pay more taxes to the sultan of Banjar, the toomoongong had failed to appreciate that Banjar was little more than a single node in a pan-Asian commercial network connecting Bombay to China and controlled by the East India Company.

The East India Company’s attitude to the sultan of Banjar and his officials was not dismissive, but it was qualified, reserved, and peremptory. The Company’s exchange with Banjar provides a snapshot of how the Company’s attitudes to cross-cultural alliances had altered by the middle of the eighteenth century. Having learnt the importance of forming, nurturing, and participating in cross-cultural alliances during the seventeenth century, the Company did not dismantle these; instead, it pursued them, by the middle years of the eighteenth century, on its own terms. The seventeenth-century precursors of these alliances had not been not entered into by the Company to be charitable. The Company had stood to benefit from them. But the alliances had sometimes been forced, compelled, insisted upon by non-European interests like the king of Ouidah or the sultan of Banten. There was probably little that the sultan of Banjar could insist that the East India Company should do.

The sultan of Banjar was never likely to wield the same authority over the East India Company as did the Mughal Emperor Aurungzeb. Despite his sultanate, Tamjeed could not expect to have the same sway as the seventeenth-century provincial officials of the Mughal Empire, like the mustaddi of Surat, Itimad Khan, who had compelled the Company to lobby for the enhancement of the English state’s enforcement powers against pirates. The sultan of Banjar had a stature similar to that of the king of Jambi or the sultan of Banten who had tested and thwarted the East India Company’s resolve by supporting the commercial activities of its wayward employee (Frederick Skinner) and interloping merchant (Thomas Skinner) in ways that had prompted a constitutional crisis in England. But Sultan Tanjeed made no such overtures to tempt officials away from the corporate fold. The sultan of Banjar was not in the same position as the mustaddi of Surat to force the English to convoy Hajj ships through threat of incarceration. Nor was he able to openly ignore the Company’s commercial desideratum, as the sultan of Banten had. The sultan of Banjar could ask for help from the East India Company, but he could not extract or insist upon it through commercial control or legal intervention. The Company’s polite, tentative, but limited acceding to the sultan of Banjar’s request suggests a body less concerned about the initiative, power, and insistence of its non-European hosts than the organisation it had been a century earlier.

On 16 March 1747, Alexander Drummond, the Levant Company’s representative in the Ottoman controlled port city of Alexandria on the Southern Mediterranean, received a party of merchants from Payas, an Ottoman port to the northeast.4 These merchants made a passionate request to Drummond. The War of Austrian Succession had encouraged British privateers to target French shipping in the Mediterranean. Because French commerce with the Ottomans had expanded throughout the 1740s, privateering proved to be a lucrative business for the British.5 Their privateering in the Eastern Mediterranean in the 1740s created diplomatic problems, however, as correspondence between Drummond and the British ambassador to the Ottoman port, Sir James Porter, confirms.6

The Payas merchants pleaded desperately to have returned the goods they had shipped the previous winter on a French vessel loading at the nearby port of Damietta. English privateers had intercepted these goods and moved them to Leghorn. The Payas merchants first threatened to seize Levant Company goods as collateral for what had been taken from them. Drummond ‘artfully diverted the execution of their threat’ and talked them down to a moderated approach that saw the merchants request Drummond relay their demands straight to Ambassador Porter. But Drummond refused the request he had engineered. Drummond had only recently arrived to take up his post and wished to demonstrate to his superiors in Istanbul that he had the diplomatic skills to deal with problems like the one posed by the Payas merchants without bothering the ambassador. Instead, Drummond agreed to request that the ambassador would write to the consul at Leghorn. Drummond acknowledged that having local communities of merchants (like those from Payas) trusting his word was crucial for the commercial interests of the British nation.7 The course of action he proposed was designed to placate the Payas merchants because it involved an appeal to the central authorities (as they wished), but would allow the ambassador to make a request from another provincial official rather than embroiling himself with the Payas in a protracted legal battle in Ottoman courts.

Ambassador Porter, however, did not respond to Drummond’s request. In April 1748, with the Payas merchants persisting against Drummond, Drummond began to fear that the central authorities in Istanbul would fail to intervene and would leave him isolated and his authority potentially hampered by local merchant influence. Drummond was not concerned about the Levant Company having to surrender the goods to the merchants of Payas, but he was concerned about his own conciliatory strategy being undermined by the ambassador and therefore compromising his reputation in Alexandria. Drummond presumed the blame for the delay was due to the central Ottoman authorities (rather than his superior, Porter). He asked: ‘Is this treatment from the port to be tamely suffer’d? Are we silently to see their Impudent partiality to our enemies…shut our eyes to what is done openly in their favours[?]’8

As time elapsed and the Payas merchants’ frustration grew, Drummond’s attitude towards them changed and he began to bemoan the tensions that had forced him to become ‘involved with savages’.9 By February 1752, more than four years after the Payas merchants’ goods had been seized, Drummond had become the consul at Aleppo. With no confirmation from the ambassador on whether he would intervene to help the Payas merchants, Drummond was forced to brief the Payas merchants that they should either accept a token contribution from the Company (to be set by him) as compensation for their losses or take the huge risk of pursuing a claim against the British state in Istanbul. Reflecting on this choice to Sir James Porter, Drummond surmised that ‘their application to Court cou’d not injure us, but might ruin them’.10 In June 1752, Ambassador Porter finally granted approval for this latest solution from Drummond, and by January 1753, the Levant Company had agreed to the token payment to be offered to placate the Payas merchants.11

Drummond, like his seventeenth-century Levant Company forbears, understood the importance of responding to his local commercial contacts, in this case the Payas merchant lobby. He wished, however, to impress his superiors by placating and stalling these interests, rather than prioritising their commercial concerns (as a means of promoting the Levant Company’s own interests). Instead of bowing to local commercial pressure or prioritising the commercial interests close at hand, as Levant Company factors had often done in the past, by the 1740s, the British representative for the Levant Company (and British interests more broadly) would ignore the Payas merchants safe in the knowledge that they could do little to undermine British privateering through central, diplomatic channels.

The strangers’ consulage dispute of the 1630s and 1640s demonstrated the power of corporate, cross-cultural collusion in the provinces to circumvent formal state diplomatic channels. Porter’s and Drummond’s attitude to the Payas merchants confirms both the British and the Ottoman state’s ability in the middle of the eighteenth century to disregard the interests of a provincial merchant community. While the White brothers had colluded with the Siamese state to privateer in the Bay of Bengal and targeted both English and local commercial concerns, Drummond and Porter relied on Ottoman state apparatus to defend British privateering and trample on the commercial interests of provincial Ottoman merchants. The responsiveness of peripheral merchants on the ground to each other and the formation of alliances designed to thwart formal, state channels had been replaced in the eighteenth century by a fully implemented system of state oversight, in which national affiliations became determinative of commercial outcomes. In short, by the middle of the eighteenth century, the Levant Company was less interested in structuring cross-cultural alliances to circumvent state regulations and more concerned with exploiting and upholding those regulations.

On 10 February 1749, a group of Fetu leaders based near to the Royal African Company’s Cape Coast Castle headquarters on the west coast of Africa, petitioned the House of Lords in London. These ‘principle Cabosseers and Inhabitants of the Town of Cape Coast in Africa as also those of the Kingdom of Fetua’ appealed to parliament to ‘request, desire, and beg leave in this manner, to testify our hearty concern at the removal of Richard Stockwell esq. from the Government of Cape Coast Castle’. Stockwell, in their eyes had ‘ever since he had the Government of the said Castle, behaved to us with all the Humanity, Tenderness, and the strictest Justice, that was in Power of Man to do’. Because of this, the petitioners ‘most earnestly’ begged ‘of those in whom Power it is, that they will be pleased for the Good of us…to restore the abovementioned Richard Stockwell esq to the Government of Cape Coast Castle, which will lay us under our Eternal Obligation’.12

The Fetu petition entered the final stages of a long parliamentary deliberation about the future of the Royal African Company. As part of this debate, the House of Lords had intervened to test the veracity of claims the Company had made about the military utility of its network of forts during recent conflicts with France. The debates had unsettled the Company’s management and forced Stockwell out of office. These parliamentary deliberations caught the attention of the Fetu leaders. Mourning Stockwell’s ejection, the Fetu leaders made an appeal to London via the Company. This appeal might also have helped the Company promote its effectiveness in Africa to a parliamentary audience. The Company cleverly thought to buttress its political appeal by advertising the strength of its relations with local African leaders. The Company agreed to present the Fetu petition. The Fetu petition proved that the Company had a loyal following there.13 This loyalty is evidence that the Fetu leaders found Stockwell to be politically advantageous to them and willing to operate in accordance with their political and commercial preferences. However, despite the protestations of the Fetu leaders, Richard Stockwell was not restored to his post.14 Parliament resolved to dissolve the African Company by purchasing the interests of its proprietors and transferring its assets to a regulated company, the Company of Merchants Trading to Africa, to manage the forts.15 Parliament would not countenance appointing a specific African Company official just because the Fetu leaders supported him.

Such direct pleas from a foreign lobby to the British parliament were rare in the first half of the eighteenth century. Seventy years earlier, the leaders of Ouidah had pressurised the Royal African Company in strikingly different ways: through imprisonment of the latter’s officials and encouragement of their interloping opponents. Instead of making pleas to the British parliament to restore an ejected official of the African Company, the leaders of Offra and Ouidah had imprisoned officials they had not approve of to shut down African Company trade. These actions had led to the eradication of the Royal African Company’s monopoly. The Ouidan techniques of persuasion had given the African Company no option but to adjust the mechanics of its trade. The African Company’s cross-cultural remit would be eclipsed by a cross-cultural commercial alliance formed by the Ouidan leaders and interloping English slave traders.

Differences in the style of implementation do not explain the very different outcomes of what were two similar ambitions: the pooling of cross-cultural initiative to alter the practice of trade in Africa by changing English regulations and the personnel who implemented them. The Fetu leaders’ appeal to the House of Lords to return an African Company official in his post were in part orchestrated by the African Company itself who wished to exhibit the depth of its relations with local rulers. The African Company had less say over who could participate in the king of Ouidah’s free port and ultimately proved unable to prevent the free trade in enslaved Africans that derived from it. What differed across the two cases was the power of the English authorities to resist either Fetu or Ouidan preference. By the 1740s, the British state could view the Company’s forts as the Company had long wished for them to be viewed: as branches of the British state. The mid-eighteenth-century English state had the resources to dissolve and commute the African Company’s joint stock and replace it with another entity. With regular Royal Navy patrols in the area the British government would not be moved by an obsolete company’s plea to stay alive based on their cross-cultural networks. In the 1680s, the English state had relied on the African Company to assert the state’s interests. In the face of the Ouidan leadership, the African Company was powerless to honour this reliance. By the 1740s, this reliance had gone.

*

In each of these three snapshots, non-European interests (Banjar, Payas, and Fetu) had sought to do what their forbears had done with much success: use English trading corporations to intervene in British policy to bend that policy in favour of their own interests. In each case they failed. The Banjar convoy request was granted, casually, on terms entirely dictated by the British East India Company. The merchants of Payas lost most of their goods to English privateers, and the Fetu petitioners lost both their preferred leader, Richard Stockwell, and his (and their) employer, the Royal African Company.

Through these examples, it is possible to point, in an approximate and unsystematic way, to the lessening significance of non-European preference, initiative, and agency to the British outlook. What the English had learned to prioritise across the seventeenth century became, in the eighteenth century, less important. Heeding non-European preference and power was not a formal state imperative for the English in the seventeenth century. It was a reality imposed on Anglo-global relations by cross-cultural alliances formed between English merchants, foreign intermediaries, officials and merchants like Mordecai Zevi, the sultan of Banten, Prince Nrai, Prince Bibe, and Itamid Khan, and English politicians, lawyers, and writers. These interests remained in the eighteenth century, but expansion of state authority overseas—and the erosion (in some regions of the world) of English corporate power—prevented English politicians and officials from having to listen to the foreign merchants in quite the same way.

As with the precise workings of England’s responsiveness to outside prompting, the causes and significance of British obduracy differed in each of the regions of the world. Much depended on the mediation of European rivals. In the eighteenth century, the Portuguese and Dutch had given way to the French. Commercial and then martial conflict with France saw the British presence around the world become militarised. In the seventeenth century, the English had no choice but to use their precious shipping to convoy Mughal trade routes. Once they began to use the same methods to protect their own trade, however, it became easier to ignore the local non-European merchants and their interests.

The slow decline of English responsiveness to foreign interests was accelerated by alterations in the prestige and power of the trading corporations. As this book has shown, these entities were structurally predisposed to enfranchising the interests of their customers and suppliers overseas. As the cross-cultural alliances in this book reformed the companies’ structures (as in the East India Company) or diluted their commercial potency by repeated assaults on their trading rights (as in the Royal African Company), their chance to shape English debate diminished. With the infrastructure for durable commercial ties laid by corporate investors and officials in the seventeenth century, the eighteenth century would see direct state intervention—often in the form of the Royal Navy—to support the interests of unregulated British capital, gathered and spent by independent entrepreneurs. Bearing in mind the mercantilist propaganda that defined the trading company as a structure to intimidate the non-European, it is ironic that it was the demise of the Companies rather than their emergence that proved more contingent to the development of the British Empire.

By the eighteenth century, individual English merchants and companies operated in concert with state policy. Free individual merchants could operate with more latitude once the companies had been dispensed with, but without a full and explicit appreciation of the role the companies had played in translating non-European power into English freedom. Their joint imperial venture marginalised the foreign interests who had once allied themselves with them to interpolate themselves into formulating England’s domestic and international policies and, in the ways outlined in this book, the ingredients and limits of English freedom itself. In the broader shift that is traceable across decades, the British grew to define their strength in aggressive, nationalist terms. The seventeenth-century rhetoric of the trading companies finally looked credible as their careers for the most part entered their twilight period.

The peoples and polities that the British sustained (or commenced) relations with in the eighteenth century continued to reject British norms and resist British incursions. Subjected populations who had been transported continued to revolt against their British masters from Jamaica to South Carolina. As independent British merchants came to receive more support and protection from the Royal Navy, it became clear that they regarded many of the peoples they engaged with beyond Europe in increasingly racialised terms and moved them outside the category of the civilised intermediary. Britain’s recourse to military solutions became more common, and their responsiveness to local prompting less frequent and less consequential than the seventeenth century examples explored in this book. While violence, domination, and greed are the hallmarks of British imperial technique and motivation, the absence of such responsiveness, when prefaced by the examples in this book, offers another, and hitherto underappreciated precipitator of the British Empire. Historians seeking to pinpoint the start of the empire may wish to seek an end point for these alliances.

Freedom provided a bugle call for those Britons leading the expansion of the British Empire across the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. British freedom—with its constitutional and commercial hallmarks—was protected and advanced by the spread of the empire in the eighteenth century. The conjoined liberties of common law rights and access to free markets became the dubious benefits for populations forced into subjection to the empire in the nineteenth century. Across this seventeenth, eighteenth, and nineteenth centuries, these freedoms were rigidly defined as homegrown and indigenous to England. As this book has shown, early, durable influence of the constitutional and commercial bases of English freedom derived their impetus from far away contexts that the English always wished to control through monopolistic trading corporations. In the seventeenth century, the foreign hosts for these organisations rejected their control and gave life to the freedoms of English actors who could then promote these ideas and policies at home. If English freedom’s temperate stem and leaves first grew in England’s fertile soil, its seeds were Anatolian, Javanese, Huedan, Siamese, and Gujarati, and a grounding root was the structure of the early modern English trading company.
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